Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associated with the use of intravascular catheters

Part 1: peripheral catheters



Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associated with the use of intravascular catheters

Part 1: peripheral catheters



Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associated with the use of intravascular catheters. Part I: peripheralcatheters

ISBN 978-92-4-009382-9 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-009383-6 (print version)

#### © World Health Organization 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo</u>).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (<u>http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/</u>).

**Suggested citation.** Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associated with the use of intravascular catheters. Part I: peripheral catheters. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024. Licence: <u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO</u>.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at https://iris.who.int/.

**Sales, rights and licensing.** To purchase WHO publications, see <u>https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders</u>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <u>https://www.who.int/copyright</u>.

**Third-party materials.** If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Design and layout by Maraltro.

Cover illustration by Maraltro. Patient's hand with a peripheral catheter.

# Contents

6 Monitoring and evaluating the impact of the guideline	91
5 Research needs	85
<b>4.3</b> WHO recommendations on MMIS	82
catheters (PIVCs) and peripherally-inserted central catheters (PICCs)	78
<b>4.2</b> Evidence on care bundles and MMIS for peripheral intravenous	
4.1 Introduction	78
multimodal improvement strategy (MMIS)	77
4 Implementation through care bundles and the WHO	
	. 2
<b>3.6</b> Catheter selection	72
3.5 Removal	66
3.4 Arress	62
3.2 Maintenance	50
3.1 General statements	14
3 Recommendations and good practice statements	13
<b>2.2.</b> Good practice statements	10
2.1 WHO guideline development process	8
2 Methods for guideline development	7
1.5 Desired impact	4
<b>1.4</b> Scope	4
1.3 Intended audience	4
1.2 Purpose	3
1.1 Background	2
1 Introduction	1
Recommendations and good practice statements	xvii
Guideline development methodology	xvii
Purpose, scope and target audience	xvi
Executive summary	xv
Glossary	ix
Abbreviations and acronyms	vii
Acknowledgements	V

7 Updating and dissemination of the guidelines	95
7.1 Derivative products	96
7.2 Essential Medicines List	97
7.3 Adaptation	97
7.4 Implementation	97
8 References	99
9 Annexes	125
Annex 1: Guideline development group contributors	
and participants, with their declarations of interest	126
Annex 2: PICO questions	129
Annex 3: Methods	132
A3.1 Study eligibility criteria	132
A3.2 Outcomes ranking	136
A3.3 Bundle/multimodal studies	137
A3.4 Systematic literature search	137
A3.5 Study selection	137
A3.6 Data extraction	137
A3.7 Classification of study designs and assessment of the risk of bias	138
A3.8 Synthesis of the evidence	138
A3.9 Bayesian meta-analysis	138
A3.10 Certainty of evidence assessment	139
References	140
Web annex: Summary of evidence findings and evidence-to-decision	

tables by population, intervention, comparison, outcome (PICO) question, available through web link: <u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/376714</u>

L	ist of tables	
	<b>Table 4.2.1.</b> Summary of the 25 key PIVC bundle studies where the aseptic "no-touch" technique for insertion, access or maintenance was clearly specified or highly likely	80
	<b>Table 4.2.2.</b> Summary of PICC bundle studies that includeda sterile insertion technique as a key intervention element,together with a range of other elements	81
	<b>Table 4.3.1.</b> WHO evidence-based recommendations on MMISfor IPC interventions	82
	<b>Table 4.3.2</b> . Minimum requirements for IPC programmesat the national and facility level related to the implementationof multimodal improvement strategies	83
	<b>Table 5.1.</b> Summary of research gaps on the prevention of BSIsand other infections associated with peripheral catheters	86

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The development of these guidelines was coordinated by the Department of Integrated Health Services, Universal Health Coverage and Life Course (UHL) Division of the World Health Organization (WHO) headquarters. Benedetta Allegranzi and João Paulo Toledo (Department of Integrated Health Services) coordinated the overall development process and contributed to the writing of the guidelines. Lindsay Grayson (infection prevention and control consultant; Austin Health, Heidelberg, Australia) provided senior expert technical input and led the writing of the guidelines draft.

The following WHO staff members were part of the Guideline Steering Committee and contributed to the guideline development process: Gertrude Avortri (WHO Country Office, Zimbabwe); Silvia Bertagnolio (Department of Surveillance, Prevention and Control, Antimicrobial Resistance Division, WHO headquarters); Mercedes Bonet (Department of Maternal and Perinatal Health, UHL Division, WHO headquarters); Emilie Calvello Hynes (Department of Integrated Health Services, WHO headquarters); Ana Paula Coutinho Rehse (WHO Regional Office for Europe); Sergey Eremin (Department of Surveillance, Prevention and Control, WHO headquarters); Lisa Hedman (Division of Access to Medicines and Health Products, WHO headquarters); Iman Heweidy (WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean); Amelia Latu Afuhaamango Tuipulotu (Chief Nursing Office, WHO headquarters); Zhao Li (WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific); Pilar Ramon-Pardo (WHO Regional Office for the Americas); Aparna Singh Shah (WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia); Elizabeth Tayler (WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean); Adriana Velasquez Berumen (Department of Medical Devices and In Vitro Diagnostics; Division of Access to Medicines and Health Products, WHO headquarters); Victoria Willet (Department of Country Readiness Strengthening, WHO Emergencies Programme, headquarters).

WHO gratefully acknowledges the members of the WHO Guideline Development Group (GDG): Ghada Abdelwahed Ismail (Supreme High Council of University Hospitals, Cairo, Egypt); Muna Abu Sin (Robert Koch Institute, Berlin, Germany); Alex Adusei (Women's Hope Foundation and Patient for Patient Safety Network, Ghana); Faisal Alsheddi (Ministry of Health of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia); Paul Anantharajah Tambyah (Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore); Hiba Azrag (Federal Ministry of Health, Khartoum, Sudan); Denise Brandão de Assis (Center of Disease Control, São Paulo State Health Department, São Paulo, Brazil); Niccolò Buetti (Geneva University Hospitals and Faculty of Medicine, WHO Collaborating Centre, Geneva, Switzerland); André Bulabula (Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia); Abigail Carlson (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, United States of America [USA]); Marilyn Cruickshank (Faculty of Health, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, Australia); Aleksander Deptula (Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Bydgoszcz, Poland); Anita Desai (National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences, Bangalore, India); Bin Gao (Tianjin 4th Central Hospital, Tianjin Medical University, Tianjin, China); Susan Hopkins (United Kingdom Health Security Agency, London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland); Shevin Jacob (Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, Kampala, Uganda); Kushlani Jayatilleke (Sri Jayewardenepura General Hospital, Nugegoda, Sri Lanka); Kalisvar Marimuthu (National Centre for Infectious Diseases and Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore); Leonard Mermel (Brown University, USA); Sally Roberts (Health New Zealand, Te Whatu Ora, Te Toka Tumai Auckland, New Zealand); Jean-François Timsit (Bichat Hospital and Université Paris Cité, Paris, France); Walter Zingg (Zurich University Hospital, Switzerland).

WHO sincerely thanks Walter Zingg and Kushlani Jayatilleke who served as the chair and co-chair for the GDG meetings. WHO acknowledges Elie Akl (American University of Beirut, Lebanon) who acted as the independent guideline methodologist.

WHO thanks the authors of the systematic reviews: Andreea Dobrescu; Gerald Gartlehner; and Barbara Nußbaumer-Streit (Department of Evidence-based Medicine and Evaluation, University of Krems, Krems an der Donau, Austria); Elie Akl and Hisham Jaber-Chehayeb (American University of Beirut, Lebanon).

WHO also thanks the following external reviewers: Emine Alp (Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Ankara, Türkiye); Angela Dramowski (Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, South Africa); Sonja Hansen (Institute of Hygiene and Environmental Medicine, Charité –Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany); David Hooper (Harvard Medical School, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, USA); Fabian Jaimes (Universidad de Antioquia, Medellín, Colombia); Pamela Lee Yew Fong (Sarawak General Hospital, Sarawak, and Sunway University, Selangor, Malaysia).

WHO acknowledges the attendance of Madonna Mattar (Notre Dame des Secours University Hospital (CHUNDS), Byblos, Lebanon) in the GDG meetings as an observer.

Finally, WHO thanks Sam Thorburn (Infectious Diseases Department, Austin Health, Heidelberg, Australia) and Jonathan Waddell (independent consultant, Canada) for their role as rapporteurs in the GDG meetings, and Rosemary Sudan for editing.

WHO acknowledges the financial support of the Saudi Arabia.

# **ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS**

aHR	adjusted hazard ratio
AMR	antimicrobial resistance
BSI	bloodstream infection
CABSI	catheter-associated bloodstream infection
COVID-19	coronavirus disease 2019
CRBSI	catheter-related bloodstream infection
CI	confidence interval
COE	certainty of evidence
CVC	central venous catheter
EML	Essential Medicines List
GDG	Guideline Development Group
HAI	health care-associated infection
нсพ	health and care workers
HR	hazard ratio
IPC	infection prevention and control
IRR	incidence rate ratio
ITS	interrupted time-series
IV	intravenous
LMIC	low- and middle-income countries
MESH	Medical Subject Headings
MMIS	multimodal improvement strategy
MVC	midline vascular catheter
NA	not applicable
NCBA	non-controlled before-after (study)
NRSI	non-randomized studies of interventions
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associa sted with the use of intravascular catheters

OR	odds ratio
PAC	peripheral arterial catheter
PICC	peripherally-inserted central catheter
PICO	population (P), intervention (I), comparison (C), outcome (O)
PIVC	peripheral intravenous catheter
PQ	PICO question
RCT	randomized controlled trial
RR	risk ratio
SAB	Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
versus	versus
USA	United States of America
WASH	water, sanitation and hygiene
wно	World Health Organization

# **GLOSSARY**

**Age groups** were defined as follows: adults: ≥18 years of age; neonates: ≤1 month of age; children and adolescents: all other participants not framed in the above groups.

Alcohol-based hand rub is an alcohol-containing preparation (liquid, gel or foam) designed for application to the hands to inactivate microorganisms and/or temporarily suppress their growth. Such preparations may contain one or more types of alcohol, other active ingredients with excipients, and humectants.

**The Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE)** score is the most widely used intensive care unit mortality prediction score. The APACHE II score is made up of 12 physiological and two disease-related variables collected within the first 24 hours of intensive care unit admission. Updated APACHE scoring systems have been developed, but APACHE II remains the most used.

### Aseptic "no-touch" technique for peripheral intravenous catheter (PIVC) insertion

This procedure and terminology was validated by the Guideline Development Group (GDG) members and comprises the following series of steps that must be performed by clinicians during the insertion of a PIVC.

- 1. Prior to commencement of the procedure, clean the workspace where you intend to place the pack and materials for PIVC insertion and wipe with an appropriate disinfectant; then gather all appropriate materials.
- 2. Perform appropriate hand hygiene before touching the patient (Moment 1)(1).
- 3. Position the patient for PIVC access to allow optimal visualization of the PIVC access site and ensure that the patient is comfortable. Inspect the PIVC access site to locate the vein.
- 4. Perform appropriate hand hygiene (Moment 4 and Moment 2)(1).
- 5. Open the sterile pack(s) containing the required components for PIVC insertion in such a way that all contents are readily accessible, but taking care not to touch the internal sterile surfaces of the insertion pack. Pour the skin disinfectant solution (for example, 2% chlorhexidine gluconate plus 70% alcohol [ethanol or isopropyl]) into the sterile container in the pack. If using a pre-soaked swab, open the swab packet and drop it onto the sterile insertion pack zone without touching the swab.
- 6. Open the PIVC packet and without touching the PIVC, drop it onto the sterile surface of the PIVC insertion pack zone.
- 7. Apply the tourniquet\*.
- 8. Perform hand hygiene before performing the aseptic technique/procedure (Moment 2)(1).
- 9. If using gloves, then put on non-sterile gloves, being careful to not touch potentially contaminated surfaces such as the outside of the glove box or nearby surfaces.
- 10. Thoroughly clean the intended insertion site with a skin disinfectant and allow to dry.
- 11. Insert the PIVC without touching the insertion site with your fingers. If the insertion site is touched, it should be considered potentially contaminated and it will need to be disinfected

<sup>\*</sup> The tourniquet should ideally be disinfected before use, but this might be impractical; alternatively, a single-use tourniquet could be used, if available.

again. If PIVC cannulation cannot be performed without touching the insertion site, then sterile gloves should be used to ensure that touching the site will not contaminate the insertion field.

- 12. Release the tourniquet.
- 13. Connect the PIVC to any required devices (for example, luer lock, injection "bung" or IV tubing/ giving set) without touching any sterile components.
- 14. Place a suitable sterile dressing over the PIVC to anchor it appropriately and ensure that the insertion site is correctly covered. Ideally, an occlusive, semipermeable, transparent PIVC dressing should be used as this will allow a ready daily visualization of the insertion site without removing the PIVC dressing.
- 15. Dispose of the PIVC insertion pack waste according to local policy, place the PIVC insertion needle in a suitable sharps container (waste and sharps containers should ideally be within arm's reach of performing the procedure) and clean the insertion trolley surface with an appropriate disinfectant.
- 16. Remove gloves.
- 17. Perform hand hygiene after the aseptic procedure and after touching the patient (Moment 3 and Moment 4)(1).

### Aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC access

This procedure and terminology was validated by the GDG members and comprises the following series of steps that must be performed by clinicians during access to a PIVC.

- 1. Prior to commencement of the procedure, clean the workspace where you intend to place the pack and materials for PIVC access and wipe with an appropriate disinfectant; then gather all appropriate materials.
- 2. Perform appropriate hand hygiene before touching the patient (Moment 1)(1).
- 3. Position the patient for PIVC access to allow optimal visualization of the PIVC access site and ensure that the patient is comfortable. Inspect the PIVC access site.
- 4. Perform appropriate hand hygiene (Moment 4 and Moment 2)(1).
- 5. Open the sterile pack(s) containing the required materials for PIVC access in such a way that all contents are readily accessible, but taking care not to touch the internal sterile surfaces of the access pack. Pour the disinfectant solution (for example, 2% chlorhexidine gluconate + 70% alcohol [ethanol or isopropyl]) into the sterile container in the pack. If using a pre-soaked swab, open the swab packet and drop it onto the sterile access pack zone without touching the swab.
- 6. Perform hand hygiene before performing the aseptic technique/procedure (Moment 2)(1).
- 7. If using gloves, then put on single-use gloves, being careful to not touch potentially contaminated surfaces such as the outside of the glove box or nearby surfaces.
- 8. Thoroughly clean the intended PIVC access site with hub disinfectant solution and allow to dry.
- 9. Carefully draw up the IV product intended for administration into a sterile access syringe (plus a second syringe with sterile saline, if flushing is required) and place on the open sterile access pack away from other items.
- 10. If using an open PIVC hub access system:
  - a. remove the PIVC access cap, placing it on the open sterile access pack away from other items;
  - b. promptly pick up the loaded syringe and quickly connect to the open PIVC hub device avoiding any air from entering the hub device and paying attention to not touch the PIVC hub and the tip of the syringe with the fingers;

- c. slightly aspirate the syringe to withdraw any accessed air and observe that blood can be drawn back to confirm that the PIVC is patent;
- d. administer the required IV product;
- e. if required, flush the PIVC with a compatible sterile fluid (saline or other);
- f. remove the syringe and promptly replace the PIVC access cap without touching any other items.
- 11. If using a closed PIVC hub access system:
  - a. thoroughly clean the intended PIVC access hub with a hub disinfectant solution and allow to dry;
  - b. attach the needle-less administration device to the loaded syringe and insert into the closed access hub device, according to the manufacturer's instructions;
  - c. slightly aspirate the syringe to observe that blood can be drawn back to confirm that the PIVC is patent;
  - d. administer the required IV product;
  - e. if required, flush the PIVC with a compatible sterile fluid (saline or other);
  - f. remove the syringe and needle-less device, then wipe the PIVC access hub with a hub disinfectant solution and allow to dry.
- 12. Dispose of all syringes, needles and other material used in an appropriate waste disposal system, including a suitable sharps container if "sharps" were used (waste and sharps containers should ideally be within arm's reach of performing the procedure).
- 13. Wipe the working table and any tray used with an appropriate disinfectant.
- 14. Remove gloves.
- 15. Perform hand hygiene after the aseptic procedure and after touching the patient (Moment 3 and Moment 4)(1).

#### Aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC maintenance and dressing change

This procedure and terminology was validated by the GDG members and comprises the following series of steps that must be performed by clinicians during PIVC maintenance dressing change.

- Prior to commencement of the procedure, clean the workspace where you intend to place the materials for dressing change and wipe with an appropriate disinfectant; then gather all appropriate materials.
- 2. Perform appropriate hand hygiene<sup>\*\*</sup> before touching the patient (Moment 1)(1).
- 3. Position the patient to allow optimal visualization of the PIVC and ensure the patient is comfortable.
- 4. Perform appropriate hand hygiene (Moment 4 and Moment 2)(1).
- 5. Open the sterile pack(s) containing the required components for PIVC maintenance and dressing change in such a way that all contents are readily accessible, but taking care not to touch the internal sterile surfaces of the pack. Pour the disinfectant solution (for example, 2% chlorhexidine gluconate + 70% alcohol [ethanol or isopropyl]) into the sterile container in the pack. If using a presoaked swab, open the swab packet and drop it onto the sterile access pack zone without touching the swab.

- 6. Perform hand hygiene before performing the aseptic technique/procedure (Moment 2)(1).
- 7. If using gloves, then put on single-use gloves, being careful to not touch potentially contaminated surfaces such as the outside of the glove box or nearby surfaces.
- 8. Carefully remove the old PIVC dressing and dispose of it immediately into an appropriate waste container/bin, which should be within arm's reach of the procedure. If gloves have become contaminated with blood or body fluid during the dressing removal, they should be changed for a new pair of gloves before proceeding to handle the new dressing.
- 9. Thoroughly clean the skin around the PIVC insertion site/dressing area and disinfect with a disinfectant solution. Allow to dry.
- 10. Carefully place the new PIVC dressing over the PIVC insertion site and PIVC base, being careful to only touch the outer edges of the dressing to avoid contamination of the PIVC site or nearby surrounding area that is under the dressing. Make sure that the dressing is well secured to the skin without any traction.
- 11. Dispose of all used PIVC dressing change material used in an appropriate waste disposal system (waste containers should ideally be within arm's reach of performing the procedure).
- 12. Wipe the workspace with an appropriate disinfectant.
- 13. Remove gloves.
- 14. Perform hand hygiene (Moment 3 and Moment 4)(1).

**Care bundles** are a set of evidence-based, patient-focused practices or interventions (generally three to five) that aim to improve patient outcomes when done collectively and reliably. They can also be a tool to guide the delivery of a specific aspect of a patient's care where the aim is to improve the care process and patient outcome in a structured manner or sequence, with the expectation that the impact will be greater than single interventions alone (2).

Clinicians are defined as medical, nursing and allied health staff.

**Conditional recommendations** are made when a WHO GDG is less certain about the balance between the benefits and harms or disadvantages of implementing a recommendation. Conditional recommendations generally include a description of the conditions under which the end-user should or should not implement the recommendation (*3*).

**Formal training programme** is a structured programme that provides both theoretical and practical education, including demonstrable competency in clinical skills and adherence to appropriate clinical guidelines. Formal training programmes should include adequate specified time to undergo such training.

**Good practice statement** refers to a practice that is commonly accepted and unequivocally demonstrates a net benefit of the recommended action (4).

**Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE)** is an approach used to assess the quality of a body of evidence and to develop and report recommendations.

**Hand hygiene** is a general term referring to any action of hand cleansing. Antiseptic hand rubbing refers to applying an antiseptic hand rub to reduce or inhibit the growth of microorganisms without the need for an exogenous source of water and requiring no rinsing or drying with towels or other devices. Hand washing refers to washing hands with plain or antimicrobial soap and water (1).

**Health and care worker** is an individual who works in a community or health care facility setting and is mainly engaged in actions with the primary intent of enhancing health. This includes health

service providers, such as doctors, nursing and midwifery professionals, public health professionals, technicians (laboratory, health, medical and non-medical), personal care workers, healers and practitioners of traditional medicine. It also includes health management and support workers, such as cleaners, drivers, hospital administrators, district health managers, social workers, and other occupational groups in health-related activities. This group includes those who work in acute care facilities and long-term care, public health, community-based care and other occupations in the health and social care sectors. Health and care workers may provide direct personal care services in the home, in health care and residential settings, while assisting with the routine tasks of daily life and also performing a variety of other tasks of a simple and routine nature (5).

**Health care-associated infection** is an infection occurring in a patient during the process of care in a hospital or other health care facility, which was not present or incubating at the time of admission. Health care-associated infections can also appear after discharge. They represent the most frequent adverse event associated with patient care.

Low- and middle-income countries: WHO Member States are grouped into income groups (low, lowermiddle, upper-middle, and high) based on the World Bank list of analytical income classification of economies, calculated using the World Bank Atlas method. For the current 2024 fiscal year, low-income economies are defined as those with a gross national income per capita of US\$ 1135 or less in 2022; lower middle-income economies as those with a gross national income per capita between US\$ 1136 and US\$ 4465; upper-middle-income economies are those with a gross national income per capita between US\$ 4466 and US\$ 13 845; high income economies are those with gross national income per capita of US\$ 13 846 or more (6).

**Maximal sterile barrier precautions** are defined as sterile barrier precautions that include the use of a cap, mask, sterile gown, sterile gloves, and a sterile full body drape (7).

**Multimodal improvement strategies (MMIS)** are a means of improving the implementation of interventions to achieve the required change of system, climate and behaviour for measurable outcome improvement from the intervention(s). MMIS generally include tools, such as bundles and checklists, developed by multidisciplinary teams that consider local conditions. Multimodal thinking means that practitioners do not focus only on single strategies to change practices (for example, training and education), but consider a range of strategies that target different influencers of human behaviour. MMIS typically contain five key components: system change ("*Build it*"), training and education ("*Teach it*"), monitoring and feedback ("*Check it*"), reminders and communication ("*Sell it*") and culture change ("*Live it*"). All five elements are considered important and should be based on the local health context and situation, informed by periodic assessments (*8, 9*).

**Sterile technique** is defined as a set of specific practices and procedures performed to make equipment and areas free from all microorganisms and to maintain that sterility *(10)*. See the guideline content regarding the definition of "sterile technique" for the insertion of peripheral arterial catheters (PACs) and peripherally-inserted central catheters (PICCs).

**The strength of a recommendation** expresses the degree to which a WHO GDG is confident in the balance between the desirable and undesirable consequences of implementing the recommendation. When a GDG is very certain about this balance (that is, the desirable consequences clearly outweigh the undesirable consequences), it issues a **strong recommendation** in favour of an intervention. When it is uncertain about this balance, however, it issues a conditional (or "weak") recommendation (*3*).

### References

- WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (https:// iris.who.int/handle/10665/44102, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- Resar R, Pronovost P, Haraden C, Simmonds T, Rainey T, Nolan T. Using a bundle approach to improve ventilator care processes and reduce ventilator-associated pneumonia. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf. 2005;31:243-8. doi: 10.1016/s1553-7250(05)31031-2.
- WHO handbook for guideline development. 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/145714</u>, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- Dewidar O, Lotfi T, Langendam MW, Parmelli E, Parkinson ZS, Solo K, et al. Good or best practice statements: proposal for the operationalisation and implementation of GRADE guidance. BMJ Evid Based Med 2023;28:189-96. doi: 10.1136/bmjebm-2022-111962.
- The world health report: 2006: working together for health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/43432</u>, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- World Bank country and lending groups. The World Bank Group. 2024 (<u>https://datahelpdesk.</u> worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-country-and-lending-groups, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- O'Grady NP, Alexander M, Burns LA, Dellinger EP, Garland J, Heard SO, et al. Summary of recommendations: Guidelines for the Prevention of Intravascular Catheter-related Infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;52:1087-99. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir138.
- A guide to the implementation of the WHO multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/70030</u>, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- WHO multimodal improvement strategy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (<u>https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/who-multimodal-improvement-strategy</u>, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- Sterility testing. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 (<u>https://www.who.int/teams/health-product-policy-and-standards/standards-and-specifications/sterility-testing</u>, accessed 2nd May 2024).

# **Executive summary**

# **Executive summary**

Numerous reports from the World Health Organization (WHO) and other organizations have identified the increasing endemic burden of health care-associated infections (HAIs) and antimicrobial-resistant infections, which harm patients every day across health care systems in all countries, regardless of income status. Key among the most preventable of these are bloodstream infections (BSIs) and other infections associated with the use of intravascular catheters.

Intravascular catheter-associated BSIs and related infections are particularly notable as they are mostly preventable if appropriate precautions and practices for safe insertion, maintenance, access and removal are followed accurately, irrespective of a country's income level.

Intravascular catheters fall broadly into two categories: those that are inserted into peripheral blood vessels (veins and arteries), and those that are inserted into central vessels.

Peripherally-inserted catheters are used far more commonly than other intravascular catheters and therefore, require special attention. In particular, peripheral intravenous catheters (PIVCs) are one of the most common invasive devices used in health care facilities, with up to 70% of all inpatients requiring a PIVC at some time during their in-hospital stay. Thus, the global burden of BSIs and other related infections associated with PIVCs is potentially huge. Peripherally-inserted central catheters (PICCs) are also notable. Although used less frequently than PIVCs, the fact that the tip of the catheter is routinely located in a large central vein means that any infection of the PICC is highly likely to quickly result in a serious systemic BSI. Peripheral arterial catheters (PACs) are primarily used in the intensive care unit setting to provide continuous blood pressure monitoring and to readily obtain arterial blood for assessment of oxygenation levels so as to guide appropriate patient ventilation management.

### Purpose, scope and target audience

In the context of the prevention of infections associated with IV catheters, these guidelines (Part 1) provide guidance on best practices for the prevention of BSIs and other infections associated with peripherally-inserted IV catheters, while a subsequent WHO guideline (Part 2) to be developed in 2024 will cover centrally-inserted intravascular catheters. In particular, Part 1 of the Guidelines outlines an evidence-informed approach to the management (namely, insertion, maintenance, access and removal) of peripherally-inserted intravascular catheters, including PIVCs, PICCs and PACs, in three patient populations (adults, adolescents-children and neonates) during the provision of health care in any health care settings, including acute and long-term health care facilities and primary care settings.

The intended audience for these guidelines is clinicians (that is, doctors, nurses, IPC professionals, etc.) involved in the management of patients who require intravascular catheters. However, to ensure an appropriate, practical, clinical adherence to the guidelines, hospital administrators and other professionals involved in health care need to understand their importance and the focus of the recommendations to ensure appropriate support for clinicians. Patients are also part of the audience of these guidelines as they need to be generally informed about practices performed for their care and, in some cases, understand the choice of the intervention(s).

## **Guideline development methodology**

The development of these recommendations was guided by standardized operating procedures in accordance with the process described in the WHO Handbook for guideline development. The recommendations were developed and updated using the following steps:

- 1. establishment of a WHO Guideline Steering Group and a Guideline Development Group (GDG);
- 2. identification of the primary critical outcomes and priority topics and formulation of a series of questions structured in a PICO (Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes) format by the technical team leading the guideline development supported by the methodologist, the WHO Guideline Steering Group, and the GDG;
- 3. the conduct of an inventory of existing guidelines on this topic;
- 4. the conduct of systematic reviews for the retrieval of the evidence using a standardized methodology;
- 5. assessment and synthesis of the evidence;
- 6. development of recommendations by the GDG using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) approach;
- 7. writing of the guideline content and a process of peer review by external experts;
- 8. planning for its dissemination and associated implementation strategies.

These guidelines are based on a systematic review of the published, scientific, quantitative evidence related to effectiveness of preventive measures to be adopted during the insertion, maintenance, access and removal of peripherally-inserted catheters, with the aim to provide a practical template for the safe use of these devices and minimize the risk of BSI and other infections. Another scoping review was also conducted on contextual factors relevant to the priority questions addressed in these guidelines. Contextual factors included stakeholders' perceived resource implications, acceptability and feasibility of interventions employed to prevent BSIs and other infections associated with the use of PIVCs and PICCs. They also included stakeholders' valuation of outcomes relevant to these interventions. The GRADE evidence-to-decision framework that considers desirable and undesirable effects, certainty of evidence, values, balance of effects, resources required, cost effectiveness, equity, acceptability and feasibility, was used to develop these guidelines under the guidance by an independent methodologist.

The guidelines are structured under six key sections related to the management of peripherally-inserted intravascular catheters:

- 1. general recommendations regarding education and hand hygiene;
- 2. insertion;
- 3. maintenance;
- 4. access;
- 5. removal;
- 6. catheter choice.

## **Recommendations and good practice statements**

The GDG developed a total of 14 good practice statements and 23 recommendations. It also provided guidance regarding the value of using clinical care "bundles" and the importance of using

a multimodal approach to all interventions. For all "conditional" recommendations" (based on the GRADE methodology), the GDG identified the conditions under which the recommendation would be considered as essential to adopt and implement for preventing peripheral intravascular catheter-associated BSIs and other infections.

A summary of the good practice statements and recommendations is provided below in Table 1.

# Table 1. Good practice statements and recommendations for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associated with the use of peripheral intravascular catheters

Recommendations and good practice statements	Type of catheter	Population	Type of statement	Certainty of evidence	
General statements					
Education and training					
WHO recommends that all clinicians should be appropriately educated in the indications for intravascular catheter (PIVC, PICC, PAC) use, the proper procedures for their use, and the appropriate infection control measures to prevent catheter-related infections in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO recommends that clinicians should be regularly assessed for their knowledge and adherence to guidelines related to appropriately managing intravascular catheters in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
Hand hygiene and aseptic no-touch technique					
WHO recommends that all clinicians should be appropriately trained in hand hygiene procedures in the context of the WHO multimodal improvement strategy for hand hygiene to prevent catheter-related infections in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO recommends that hand hygiene should be performed at any time indicated according to the "Five moments" during catheter insertion, maintenance, access and removal practices, preferably using the WHO hand rub technique with alcohol-based hand rub products (allow hands to dry) or by hand washing with soap and water and using single-use or clean towels to dry hands.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO recommends that all clinicians should be appropriately trained in the <i>aseptic no-touch</i> technique to prevent catheter-related infections in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
Instertion					
Sterile and aseptic no-touch insertion technique					
WHO recommends using a sterile technique for the insertion of a PICC and PAC in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO suggests using either a chlorhexidine-containing or a non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfectant before PIVC and PICC insertion in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	

Recommendations and good practice statements	Type of catheter	Population	Type of statement	Certainty of evidence	
Skin disinfection preparations					
WHO recommends that adequate skin disinfection should always be used prior to the insertion of a PIVC, PICC and PAC in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO suggests using either a chlorhexidine-containing or a non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfectant before PIVC and PICC insertion in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
Formal training on catheter insertion					
WHO suggests that clinicians who insert intravascular catheters (PIVCs, PICCs, PACs) in adults, adolescents, children and neonates should undergo a formal training programme on catheter insertion.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
Catheter insertion by a clinician wearing single-use glo	oves				
WHO recommends that clinicians inserting a PIVC or PICC in adults, adolescents or children, wear single-use gloves at the time of catheter insertion.	PIVC, PICC	Adults, adolescents, children	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO suggests that clinicians who insert a PIVC or PICC in neonates either use single-use gloves or no gloves at the time of catheter insertion.	PIVC, PICC	Neonates	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
Catheter insertion by a clinician wearing single-use ste	erile gloves				
WHO recommends that clinicians inserting a PICC or PAC use single-use sterile gloves compared to non-sterile gloves in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO suggests not using sterile gloves when inserting a PIVC in adults, adolescents, children and neonates, provided that the steps of the <i>aseptic no-touch</i> technique are carefully adhered to.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
Catheter insertion using a standardized insertion pack	/kit				
WHO recommends that clinicians use a standardized insertion pack/kit when inserting a PICC or PAC in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO suggests that clinicians who insert a PIVC use a standardized insertion pack/kit for catheter insertion in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
Catheter insertion using ultrasound-guided assistance					
WHO suggests the use of ultrasound-guided assistance when inserting a PICC in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PICC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
WHO suggests not routinely using ultrasound-guided assistance when inserting a PIVC in adults, children, adolescents or neonates.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	

xix

### Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associa sted with the use of intravascular catheters

Recommendations and good practice statements	Type of catheter	Population	Type of statement	Certainty of evidence	
Catheter insertion in the distal section of the upper limb (below the cubital fossa) compared to insertion in the proximal section of the upper limb (cubital fossa or above)					
WHO suggests the use of the distal arm veins over the proximal section of the upper limb (cubital fossa or above) for PIVC insertion in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
Catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to inser	rtion in the l	ower limb			
WHO suggests use of the upper limb over the lower limb for PIVC insertion in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
WHO suggests use of the upper limb over the lower limb for PICC insertion in neonates.	PICC	Neonates	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
Use of occlusive catheter dressings					
WHO suggests the use of either an occlusive dressing or a non-occlusive dressing for PIVCs in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty evidence	
WHO suggests the use of an occlusive dressing for PICCs in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PICC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
PIVC insertion by an insertion team					
WHO suggests that PIVC insertion in adults, adolescents, children and neonates is performed by a clinician who is appropriately trained in PIVC insertion, but may not necessarily be part of a formal insertion team, compared to insertion by a formal insertion team.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty evidence	
Use of local anaesthetic for insertion of a PIVC and PIC	с				
WHO suggests either using or not using local anaesthetic when inserting a PIVC or PICC in adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC	Adolescents children and neonates	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty evidence	
PIVC insertion in the scalp compared to catheter insert	tion in other	sites in neonates			
WHO suggests that sites other than the scalp veins should generally be prioritized over scalp veins for insertion of a PIVC and PICC in neonates.	PIVC, PICC	Neonates	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty evidence	
Maintenance					
Catheter maintenance using formal sterile dressing protocols					
WHO recommends that for all PIVCs, PICCs and PACS the insertion site should be maintained using a formal sterile dressing protocol in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
Catheter management with continuous intravenous (IV) fluid infusion					
WHO suggests that catheter management of PICCs and PIVCs be with either a schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion or no schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion (intermittent or no infusion) in adults, adolescents, children, and neonates	PICC, PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty of evidence	

Recommendations and good practice statements	Type of catheter	Population	Type of statement	Certainty of evidence	
Systematic sterile flushing after product administration					
WHO recommends that after product administration via a PIVC or PICC, the catheter should be flushed with a compatible sterile fluid (saline or other) in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
Saline compared to anticoagulant solutions in "lock-of	ff" flushing o	of PIVCs and PICCs			
WHO suggests "lock-off" flushing using sterile saline over "lock-off" flushing using heparinized saline for PIVCs and PICCs in adults, adolescents, children, and neonates.	PIVC, PICC	All	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence	
Catheter management with a schedule of regular chan	ging of the a	dministration (tubi	ng/giving) set		
WHO suggests having a regular schedule of changing of administration (tubing/giving) sets for PIVC and PICC maintenance in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PICC, PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty of evidence	
Access					
Catheter access using a formal sterile or aseptic protoc	ol				
WHO recommends using a formal sterile or aseptic protocol to access PIVCs, PICCs and PACs in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC, PAC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
Catheter access using a closed-access hub system					
WHO suggests using either a closed-access hub system (for example, luer lock) or an open-access hub system to access PIVCs and PICCs in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC, PICC	All	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty of evidence	
Removal					
Catheter removal based on defined schedules					
WHO recommends inspecting PIVCs in adults, adolescents, children and neonates at least daily to assess for signs of inflammation and infection at the insertion site and vein to guide whether the catheter should be removed.	PIVC	All	Good practice statement	NA	
WHO suggests either scheduled removal or clinically indicated removal of PIVCs in adults, adolescents, children, and neonates.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Moderate certainty evidence	
Catheter removal/replacement within 24 hours if inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions					
WHO suggests the removal/replacement of PIVCs inserted in uncontrolled/emergency conditions as soon as possible in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PIVC	All	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty evidence	
Catheter selection					
Use of single lumen PICCS compared to multi-lumen PICCS					
WHO suggests using single-lumen PICCs over using multi-lumen PICCs (unless there is a specific reason that requires multiple lumens) in adults, adolescents, children and neonates.	PICC	All	Conditional recommendation	Low certainty of evidence	

#### Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associa sted with the use of intravascular catheters

Recommendations and good practice statements	Type of catheter	Population	Type of statement	Certainty of evidence
PICC versus midline vascular catheters				
WHO suggests the use of either a PICC or MVC in adults, adolescents and children requiring longer term intravenous access.	PICC, MVC	Adults, adolescents, children	Conditional recommendation	Very low certainty evidence

**Abbreviations:** PIVC, peripheral intravenous catheter; PICC, peripherally-inserted central catheter; PAC, peripheral arterial catheter; MVC, midline vascular catheter; NA, not applicable.

**Note:** Many Good practice statements and recommendations related to PICCs are likely to be equally applicable to MVCs. However, only where MVCs were specifically discussed by the GDG are they listed here.

The GDG noted that the vast majority of studies identified by the systematic review assessed "bundles" of various interventions to improve the management of PIVCs (30 studies) and PICCs (20 studies) and demonstrated superior outcomes in terms of BSI and related infections compared to when only single interventions were implemented. In addition, the use of multimodal strategies similar to the one already strongly recommended by WHO for the implementation of all infection prevention and control interventions was identified by the GDG as a critical approach to be used.

Trecia Simone Stewart, 41, has been a nurse for 12 years and has worked as an emergency nurse for the last 7 years at Spanish Town Hospital [Jamaica]. © WHO / Jayme Gershen

# Introduction

# **1. Introduction**

## 1.1 Background

Numerous reports from the World Health Organization (WHO) and other organizations have identified the increasing endemic burden of health care-associated infections (HAIs) and antimicrobial-resistant infections, which harm patients every day across health care systems in all countries, regardless of income status (1). Key among the most preventable of these are bloodstream infections (BSI) and other infections associated with the use of intravascular catheters (2, 3).

A recent WHO report on infection prevention and control (IPC) highlighted the burden of HAIs and antimicrobial resistance (AMR) and the related harm to both patients and health and care workers (HCWs) in health care settings (1). It presented a global situational analysis of the implementation of IPC programmes, as well as an overview of the strategies and resources available to improve the situation within countries. Data provided from several sources within this report indicate that substantial gaps in the implementation of IPC practices and a lack of programmes and infrastructures to support IPC still exist. Some gaps and important areas for improvement were also identified in high-income countries, as demonstrated by the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic and documented in a recent Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)-WHO Briefing Paper on IPC, which addressed the burden of HAIs and AMR associated with health care in G7 countries (4). These reports well highlight how much more could and should be done across all WHO regions to ensure the reliable implementation of effective IPC strategies and to realize the potential cost and life-saving benefits that this could bring (1).

BSIs associated with intravenous (IV) catheters are particularly notable for the following reasons.

- a. They are mostly preventable if appropriate insertion, maintenance, access and removal protocols are followed for IV catheters. Analyses pooling together the results of systematic reviews calculated that implementing IPC interventions can achieve a significant reduction of HAI rates, in particular catheter-associated BSI (CABSI), irrespective of a country's income level (1).
- b. They can be caused by antimicrobial-resistant pathogens and thus difficult to treat. BSIs due to a range of resistant pathogens, mostly associated with health care, were found to be the second most frequent cause of the global burden attributable to and associated with AMR in 2019, causing almost 1.3 million deaths around the world (5).
- c. They have a major health impact for affected patients. In Europe, health care-associated BSIs are the second most common cause of disability and premature deaths due to HAIs (6). The crude excess mortality due to catheter-related BSIs (CRBSI) in adult patients was 23.6% in a study conducted in 25 countries worldwide (7).
- d. They can evolve to serious, deep-seated infectious complications to major organs such as the brain and kidneys, including bacterial endocarditis, lung abscesses and infectious embolic events (8). These complications are often associated with clinical sepsis and septic shock. WHO estimated that mortality among patients affected by health care-associated sepsis was 24.4%, increasing to 52.3% among patients treated in an intensive care unit (9).
- e. Peripheral IV catheters (PIVCs) are one of the most common invasive devices used in health care facilities, with up to 70% of all inpatients requiring a PIVC at some time during their in-hospital stay (10). Thus, the global burden of BSIs and other related infections associated with PIVCs is potentially huge. However, health care-associated BSIs have also become increasingly associated

with the use of peripherally-inserted central venous catheters (PICCs), for which many of the important IPC measures for PIVCs are also important (11).

f. Health care-associated BSI associated with central venous catheters (CVCs) are also a key concern. Many of these patients have complex, high-risk medical conditions that require a CVC and they are often managed in health care settings such as intensive care units where local care protocols are generally common and many confounding factors are often present (2, 8, 11, 12).

Several public health agencies and medical societies have produced local guidelines regarding the prevention of BSI, in particular those associated with CVCs. Conversely, the number of guidelines for the prevention of infections associated with PIVCs is very limited. In addition, available guidelines are rarely based on a rigorous process of evidence appraisal and they often vary in their applicability and relevance to different local health systems, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

Thus, WHO decided to develop evidence-based guidelines with a global scope and based upon a rigorous process in accordance with the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) methodology. These guidelines also aim to cover both BSI and other infections associated with IV catheters. Notably, this project has been undertaken with the objective of implementing World Health Assembly resolutions on sepsis (13) and IPC (14), which include the request to develop new technical IPC guidelines and implementation resources to support Member States in their improvement efforts, including for the prevention of health care-associated sepsis.

The current Part 1 of the guidelines focuses specifically on all types of peripherally-inserted intravascular catheters, including PIVCs, PICCs and peripheral arterial catheters (PACs), given that the required IPC interventions to reduce the infection risk are similar between these three catheter types; midline vascular catheters (MVCs) are also addressed in specific circumstances. The guidelines are based on a systematic review of the published scientific evidence related to preventive measures to be adopted during the insertion, maintenance, access and removal of PIVCs in order to provide a practical template for the safe use of these devices and minimize the risk of health care-associated BSI and other infections. A subsequent WHO guideline (Part 2) to be developed in 2024 will cover centrally-inserted intravascular catheters.

### **1.2 Purpose**

The recommendations in these guidelines aim to outline an evidence-informed approach to the management (namely, insertion, maintenance, access and removal) of PIVCs in order to prevent infections associated with their use. These catheters include the following devices: PACs; PICCs; (MVCs); and PIVCs. The desired impact of these recommendations is a reduction in the rate of these infections, including those due to antimicrobial-resistant pathogens.

The need for these guidelines is emphasized by the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) targets 3.d. "strengthen the capacity of all countries, in particular developing countries, for early warning, risk reduction and management of national and global health risks", and 3.d.2., reduction of the "percentage of bloodstream infections due to selected antimicrobial-resistant organisms" (15, 16).

Furthermore, both the World Health Assembly resolution on sepsis (13) and the global patient safety action plan (17) identified the reduction in morbidity and mortality associated with health careassociated sepsis as a core indicator to be targeted by countries. The proposed guidelines aim to support Member States to achieve these targets through improved practices. Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associa sted with the use of intravascular catheters

## **1.3 Intended audience**

The intended audience for these guidelines is clinicians (that is, doctors, nurses, IPC professionals, etc.) involved in the management of patients who require PIVCs to minimize the risk of catheterassociated infections, including BSIs. However, to ensure appropriate practical clinical adherence to these guidelines, hospital administrators and other professionals involved in health care need to understand their importance and the focus of the recommendations to ensure appropriate support for clinicians. This includes helping to provide the best possible clinical health care culture and context (including adequate staffing) and availability of the various required products to allow adherence to the guidelines. Patients are also part of the audience of these guidelines because they need to be generally informed about practices performed for their care. Furthermore, they may need to be informed about the choice of the intervention regarding some recommendations. Patients may also be able to participate in ensuring safe practices (for example, hand hygiene or monitoring the status of the catheter dressing).

## 1.4 Scope

Part 1 of these guidelines will focus on the prevention of BSI and other infections associated with the use of peripherally-inserted intravascular catheters in three patient populations (adults, adolescents-children and neonates) during the provision of health care in any type of care setting, including acute and long-term health care facilities and primary care settings.

The priority research questions that guided the development of the recommendations are presented in Annex 2. These questions were structured in PICO format (Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes) and guided the evidence review and synthesis.

## **1.5 Desired impact**

The primary outcomes considered for developing the recommendations of these guidelines were the occurrence of all-cause BSI and other infections associated or related to PIVCs, including those due to antimicrobial-resistant pathogens and the related crude and attributable mortality.

The desired impact of these guidelines is the improvement of practices targeted by the recommendations and good practice statements and the reduction of the occurrence of the abovementioned primary outcomes.

Close-up of a patient's arm with an IV [Ukraine].  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{O}}$  WHO

# Methods for guideline development

# 2. Methods for guideline development

## 2.1 WHO guideline development process

The guidelines were developed in accordance with the approach established by the WHO Guidelines Review Committee (*18*) and a planning proposal approved by the Committee (GRC-23-01-1054). In summary, the development process included eight main stages:

- 1. establishment of a WHO Guideline Steering Group and a Guideline Development Group (GDG);
- 2. identification of the of the primary critical outcomes and priority topics and formulation of PICO questions by the technical team leading the guideline development, supported by the methodologist, the WHO Guideline Steering Group and the GDG;
- 3. the conduct of an inventory of existing guidelines on this topic;
- 4. the conduct of a systematic review for the retrieval of the evidence using a standardized methodology;
- 5. assessment and synthesis of the evidence;
- 6. development of recommendations by the GDG using the GRADE approach;
- 7. writing of the guidelines and a process of peer review by external experts;
- 8. planning for the dissemination and implementation strategies.

The development process included the participation of four main groups\* that guided and contributed to the overall process: WHO Guideline Steering Group; GDG; Systematic Reviews Expert Group; and the External Review Group.

Members of the GDG, observers, and the External Review Group who participated in the discussions completed a declaration of interest form and any potential conflict of interest was discussed with the Steering Committee Group and the Ethics Office (Annex 1). Similarly, in accordance with the WHO declaration of interests' policy for experts, biographies of all GDG members were published on the WHO website for a period of two weeks prior to the guideline meeting.

The roles and functions of these groups are described below.

### **WHO Guideline Steering Group**

The WHO Guideline Steering Group was chaired by the IPC unit head and technical lead for the IPC Taskforce and the Global IPC Network (Integrated Health Services, Universal Health Coverage/Life Course). Participating members were from the Antimicrobial Resistance Division, the Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) Unit, the Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research Department, the Access to Medicines, Vaccines and Pharmaceuticals Division, the Country Readiness Strengthening Department, and IPC focal points at the six WHO regional offices.

The Group contributed to the initial planning document for the development of the guidelines, identified the primary critical outcomes and topics, and formulated the research questions. It also identified the systematic review team, the guideline methodologist, the members of the GDG and the external peer reviewers. The GDG chair and the IPC Global Unit coordinator supervised the evidence

retrieval, syntheses and analysis, organized the GDG meetings, prepared or reviewed the final guideline document, managed the external peer reviewers' comments, and the guideline publication and dissemination. Members of the WHO Steering Group are presented in the Acknowledgements section.

### **WHO Guideline Development Group**

The WHO Guideline Steering Group identified 21 external experts, country delegates and stakeholders from the six WHO regions to constitute the GDG (also referred to as "the panel"). This was a diverse group representing various professional and stakeholder groups, such as IPC experts, clinical microbiologists, epidemiologists, public health and infectious disease specialists and researchers, as well as affected communities, through the inclusion of a patient representative. Geographical representation and gender balance were also considerations when selecting GDG members. Members of this group appraised the evidence that was used to inform the recommendations, advised on the interpretation of the evidence, formulated the final recommendations while taking into consideration the 2016 WHO guidelines on core components of IPC programmes at the national and acute health care facility level (*19*), and reviewed and approved the final guideline document. GDG members are presented in the Acknowledgements section.

### **The Systematic Reviews Expert Group**

A Systematic Reviews Expert Group was selected by the WHO IPC Unit team in consultation with the methodologist and GDG chair through a bidding process that considered availability to conduct the systematic reviews in due time and value for money. This Group reviewed the published evidence related to effectiveness of preventive measures to be adopted during the insertion, maintenance, access and removal of peripherally-inserted catheters and assessed its quality and features according to the GRADE criteria specified by the WHO Guidelines Review Committee.

Another team of systematic reviewers led by the methodologist conducted a scoping review on contextual factors relevant to the priority questions addressed in these guidelines. Contextual factors included stakeholders' perceived resource implications, acceptability and feasibility of interventions employed to prevent BSIs and other infections associated with the use of PIVCs and PICCs. They also included stakeholders' evaluation of outcomes relevant to these interventions. This review of contextual factors included primary studies, using either quantitative methods (e.g., surveys) or qualitative methods (e.g., interviews and focus groups), as well as secondary studies such as cost-effectiveness analyses. The search strategy combined terms related to the interventions of interest and the contextual factors of interest. The findings were synthesized using both narrative and tabular formats and presented to the GDG along with the findings of the systematic review on the health effects of the interventions.

### **External Peer Review Group**

The Group was composed of seven technical experts with high-level knowledge and experience in IPC, AMR, patient safety and health management, including field implementation, and a patient representative. The Group was geographically balanced to ensure views from both high- and LMICs; no member declared a conflict of interest. The primary focus was to review the final guideline document, identify any inaccuracies or errors and comment on technical content and evidence, clarity of language, contextual issues and implications for implementation. The Group ensured that the guideline decision-making processes incorporated the values and preferences of end-users, including health

care professionals and policy-makers. Of note, it was not within the remit of this Group to change the recommendations formulated by the GDG. All reviewers agreed with each recommendation and some suggested selected editing changes. Members of the WHO External Peer Review Group are presented in the Acknowledgements section.

These guidelines are based on the GRADE evidence-to-decision framework that considers desirable and undesirable effects, certainty of evidence, values, balance of effects, resources required, cost effectiveness, equity, acceptability and feasibility.

Based on the GRADE methodology, the GDG formulated "conditional" recommendations. The implications of "conditional" recommendations are that the majority of people to whom the recommendation applies would benefit from the suggested option and in the majority of contexts, the suggested option can be implemented as a policy (20). For all "conditional" recommendations, the GDG aimed to provide the conditions under which the management strategy would be considered as essential to adopt and implement for preventing peripheral intravascular catheter-associated BSIs and related infections.

The systematic reviews on the topic of prevention of BSI and other infections associated with the use of PIVCs and its related subtopics (that is, "insertion", "maintenance", "access" and "removal") followed specific research questions in PICO format (Annex 2). More details on the systematic review methodology can be found in Annex 3.

The summary of the systematic review findings and additional evidence considered is included in each chapter of the guidelines. The systematic review findings are also summarized within the <u>Web Annex</u> in tables related to each PICO question and in the evidence-to-decision tables for each recommendation. All documents were shared in advance with the GDG members and the systematic review team presented the main findings. An independent methodologist facilitated the discussions and the completion of the evidence-to-decision tables.

## 2.2 Good practice statements

In addition to recommendations, these guidelines also include "good practice statements" (also known as "best practice statements"). The term "good (or best) practice statements" refers to a practice that is commonly accepted and unequivocally demonstrates a net benefit of the recommended action. Good practice statements are recommendations that guideline panels consider to be important but are not appropriate for formal ratings of quality of evidence in the judgment of the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) working group (21). The decision and appropriateness of developing good practice statements was discussed for each topic with the methodologist and agreed upon by the GDG.

The use of PIVCs is now such a common component of good quality, clinical health care worldwide that many of routine IPC good practices are equally applicable to these guidelines. Furthermore, the management of PIVCs is also associated with specific risks that are similar to the use of other invasive devices and procedures where good practice statements are clearly relevant. These key general good practice statements are included within this guideline in section 3.1 under "general statements", as well as in the following chapters where appropriate, based on advice from the GDG.
A local nurse prepares an IV drip for a patient at a local government funded hospital in the town of Menglong [China]. © WHO / Simon Lim

Recommendations and good practice statements

# 3. Recommendations and good practice statements

# **3.1 General statements**

# 3.1.1 Education and training

 WHO recommends that all clinicians should be appropriately educated (19) in the indications for intravascular catheter (PIVC, PICC, PAC) use, the proper procedures for their use, and the appropriate infection control measures to prevent catheter-related infections in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Good practice statement)

WHO recommends that clinicians should be regularly assessed for their knowledge and adherence to guidelines related to appropriately managing intravascular catheters in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Good practice statement)

# 3.1.2 Hand hygiene and aseptic "no-touch" technique

 WHO recommends that all clinicians should be appropriately trained in hand hygiene procedures to prevent catheter-related infections in adults, adolescents-children and neonates.

(Good practice statement)

WHO recommends that hand hygiene should be performed at any time indicated according to the "Five moments" during catheter insertion, maintenance, access and removal practices, and preferably using the WHO hand rubbing technique with alcohol-based hand rub products (allow hands to dry) or by hand washing with soap and water and using single-use or clean towels to dry hands. (Good practice statement)

 WHO recommends that all clinicians should be appropriately trained in an aseptic "no-touch" technique to prevent catheter-related infections in adults, adolescentschildren and neonates. (Good practice statement)

# 3.2 Insertion

# 3.2.1 Sterile and aseptic "no-touch" insertion technique

 WHO recommends using a sterile technique for the insertion of PICCs and PACs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Good practice statement)

# Remarks

- GDG members considered that a *sterile technique* should be used for the insertion of longerterm catheters, such as PICCs, as the tip of the catheter is located in a major central vein. Hence, any infection would likely be associated with bacteraemia. A similar consideration was made for PACs as these catheters are used almost solely in intensive care unit settings where patients are severely ill and the potential risk of health care-associated catheter-related infection is high.
- A sterile technique consists of sterile barrier precautions. The GDG decided that for the insertion of PICCs and PACs, the sterile technique should include the use of a medical mask, sterile gown, sterile gloves and a sterile drape that adequately covers the area around the insertion site to prevent contamination of the catheter. The GDG noted that this is different from *maximal sterile barrier precautions (22)* in which a cap is included and the drape is a full body sterile drape (similar to the sterile drapes used in the operating room).

# WHO suggests using an aseptic "no-touch" technique for the insertion of PIVCs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

• An aseptic "no-touch" technique (refer to Glossary) is considered adequate for PIVC insertion provided that there is strict clinical adherence to all the necessary steps in the aseptic "no-touch" technique procedure.

# **Rationale for the recommendation**

Despite the lack of identified studies for PIVCs, the GDG judged the desirable effects to be moderate for the use of the aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC insertion and undesirable effects to be only trivial, and that there was no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes. In addition, the GDG judged equity to be probably increased and that the aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVCs was probably acceptable and feasible.

# Summary of the evidence

The systematic literature review did not identify any eligible study comparing a sterile insertion

technique to routine practice (technique without the specific requirement for sterility) in adults, adolescents-children or neonates requiring a PIVC, PICC or PAC. No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The panel considered that use of a *sterile technique* for catheter insertion was widely accepted and practised, especially for the insertion of PICCs and PACs. The use of *sterile barrier precautions* can be associated with moderate resource costs, which are justifiable for infrequently used catheters such as PICCs and PAC. These costs may be more impactful in low-resource settings where health budgets may be limited.

For the insertion of PIVCs, the panel recognized that a *sterile technique* was often practised in many settings. However, the use of an aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC insertion was appropriate, provided that there was strict adherence to the steps required for an aseptic "no-touch" technique. The resources required for an aseptic "no-touch" technique were considered to be moderate, but cost-effectiveness and the balance of effects were considered to favour its use for PIVC insertion.

#### **Implementation considerations**

- The procedure for the aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC insertion is detailed in the Glossary.
- Ensure adequate training, understanding and demonstrable competency in the application of both a sterile technique and an aseptic "no-touch" technique when inserting PICCs, PACs and PIVCs.
- In situations where PIVC insertion is likely to be difficult and strict adherence to an aseptic "no-touch" technique is unlikely\*\*, a *sterile technique* should be followed as the use of sterile gloves (with maintenance of sterility) means that the insertion site can be re-touched just prior to insertion without contaminating the insertion site.

# **Research needs**

- Research on lower cost alternatives to using *sterile barrier precautions* for PICC and PAC insertion in LMICs could be helpful.
- Research on the adherence to an aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC insertion in various clinical settings would be worthwhile as it could identify situations in which the risk of PIVC infection may be greater and require special considerations when inserting a PIVC under these circumstances.
- Research to better define the size of the drape needed and whether clinicians need to wear a mask during PIVC insertion would be useful.
- Research on the use of an aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC insertion, including both desirable and undesirable effects.

\*\* Patients with insertion veins that are small or poorly filling; patients with chronic diseases who have required many PIVCs previously; patients receiving chemotherapy that may have caused substantial venous sclerosis; patients in septic shock; or patients who have previously used illicit IV drugs that have caused venous sclerosis or infection.

# 3.2.2 Chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection preparations

 WHO recommends that adequate skin disinfection should always be used prior to the insertion of PIVCs, PICCs and PACs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Good practice statement)

# Remarks

• It is frequently observed that in the event of insertion difficulty, there is a need to re-touch the insertion site – in such situations skin disinfection should be repeated to avoid potential contamination of the insertion site.

 WHO suggests using either a chlorhexidine-containing or a non-chlorhexidinecontaining skin disinfectant before PIVC and PICC insertion in adults, adolescentschildren and neonates.

(Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

- Consider the possibility of chlorhexidine allergy when choosing the disinfection product.
- If selecting a chlorhexidine-containing disinfection preparation, assess the concentration of chlorhexidine as efficacy studies suggest that a concentration greater than 0.5% is required.
- Avoid using chlorhexidine-containing preparations greater than 2% in neonates (particularly those with a gestational age less than 36 weeks) due to the increased risk of chemical dermatitis.
- Consider local availability, context and the cost of suitable alternative skin disinfection preparations.
- All skin disinfectants should be allowed to dry for at least 30 seconds for a maximal effect.

# **Rationale for the recommendation**

Low certainty evidence suggested beneficial effects of chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection preparations compared to non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products on local infection and phlebitis prevention in adults, adolescents-children and neonates, but no difference in CRBSI. GDG members therefore considered that for chlorhexidine-containing products there may be some small desirable effects, potentially moderate undesirable effects, but no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes. Therefore, the GDG concluded that the balance of effects favoured either chlorhexidine-containing or other comparable non-chlorhexidine-containing products.

Based on these considerations, the GDG determined that either chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection or non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products should be used before catheter insertion in adults, adolescents-children and neonates who require insertion of a PIVC or PICC, and that there was insufficient evidence to recommend chlorhexidine-containing disinfection products over other approved non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products for use in such situations. However, it was noted by some GDG members that the use of alcohol-chlorhexidine (especially 2% chlorhexidine) is generally considered superior to either chlorhexidine alone or alcohol alone and that it may be associated with a lower risk of PIVC colonization with potential pathogens than alcohol-povidone-iodine preparations.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified nine studies (seven randomized controlled trials [RCTs] and two nonrandomized studies of interventions [NRSIs]) comparing chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products to non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products in adults, adolescents-children and neonates (23-31). Seven studies focused on PIVC (23-25, 27, 29-31) and two on PICC (26-28). Overall, the studies provided data on 4491 patients from Canada, France, Iran, Japan, Thailand and the United States of America (USA). Two RCTs were rated as having a high risk of bias (23, 24), four with some concerns (26, 27, 29, 30), and one with a low risk of bias (31). All NRSIs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (25, 28).

#### **PIVC: adults**

The evidence indicated that chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection used before catheter insertion may result in little to no difference in local infections compared to non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection (four RCTs, 1533 patients; 2.3% versus 4.5%, respectively; risk ratio [RR; 95% confidence interval (CI)]: 0.51 [0.21-1.21]; low certainty of evidence (COE) (24, 27, 29, 31)), and phlebitis/ thrombophlebitis (four RCTs, 1389 patients; 6.4% versus 8.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.74 [0.42-1.49]; low COE (23, 24, 27, 31)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection used before catheter insertion compared to non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection on CABSI/CRBSI (one RCT, 989 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (27)), sepsis (one RCT, 150 patients; 2.0% versus 0%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 5.94 [0.25-143.28]; very low COE (24)), and all-cause mortality (one RCT, 150 patients; 16.1% versus 23.0%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.70 [0.34-1.44]; very low COE (24)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence indicated that chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection used before catheter insertion may result in little to no difference in local infections (one RCT, 150 patients; 2.3% versus 4.5%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 5.00 [1.01-24.87]; very low COE (24)) compared to non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection. The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection used before catheter insertion compared to non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection on CABSI/CRBSI (one cohort study, 254 patients; 11.8% versus 11.9%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.99 [0.50-1.94]; very low COE (25)), sepsis (one RCT, 150 patients; 2.0% versus 0%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 5.94 [0.25 -143.28] (24)), all-cause mortality (one RCT, 150 patients; 16.1% versus 23.0%, respectively, RR [95% CI]: 0.70 [0.34.1.44]; very low COE (24)), and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 150 patients; 2.0% versus 3.0%, respectively.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The evidence indicated that chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection used before catheter insertion may slightly reduce phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 106 patients; visual infusion phlebitis mean score [standard deviation]: chlorhexidine 0.14 [0.07]; povidone-iodine 0.68 [0.19]; p=0.003; very low COE (*30*)) compared to non-chlorhexidine disinfection. No data were available for other critical outcomes. No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PICC: adults**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in adults requiring a PICC.

# **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

# **PICC:** neonates

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection used before catheter insertion compared to non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection on CABSI/CRBSI (one RCT (26)). Another cohort study reported an increased risk of CABSI when using chlorhexidinecontaining skin disinfection (less than 1% chlorhexidine) compared to 10% povidone-iodine (28). When using more than 1% chlorhexidine compared to 10% povidone-iodine, the difference was not statistically significant (28). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

One limited study of contextual factors/issues suggested that chlorhexidine-containing products may be cheaper than povidone iodine-alcohol skin disinfection solutions in some settings, while other studies suggested equivalence in terms of patient acceptability (*32*).

# **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The availability of various suitable skin disinfection preparations will depend on local disinfection practices, local conditions and context. The resources required for chlorhexidine-containing products are therefore considered to vary according to local context, resulting in variable cost-effectiveness such that patient equity may be potentially reduced in some settings. Patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility of using chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products is considered to be good if a suitable product is available at a reasonable price.

# **Implementation considerations**

- The concentration of chlorhexidine should be greater than 0.5% in chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection preparations to ensure adequate disinfection efficacy. Commonly, 2% chlorhexidine-containing preparations are used.
- Patients should be asked about previous chlorhexidine skin allergy before use.
- For LMICs, development of a standard list of suitable skin disinfection products (including chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products) for PIVC and PICC insertion may be of benefit.

# **Research needs**

• Since a number of the studies of chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products had different non-chlorhexidine-containing comparator skin disinfection products, the actual benefit (or not) of chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products was difficult to assess accurately. Therefore, standardization of the comparator disinfection product in future research on chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection product be worthwhile.

# 3.2.3 Formal training on catheter insertion

# WHO suggests that clinicians who insert intravascular catheters (PIVCs, PICCs and PACs) in adults, adolescents-children and neonates should undergo a formal training programme on catheter insertion. (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

In many settings, routine practice on the insertion of peripheral catheters typically includes some informal training. However, it is considered important that all HCWs who are inserting catheters should undergo formal insertion training. In particular:

- formal training is essential for PICCs and PACs, but also important for PIVCs in adults, adolescents and children;
- formal training is essential for inserting all catheter types (PIVCs, PICCs and PACs) in neonates where any form of catheter insertion can be difficult.

# **Rationale for the recommendation**

GDG members judged that despite the low COE, the desirable effects were considerable and undesirable effects trivial, with no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, with the balance of effects being in favour of a formal training programme on catheter insertion.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified nine NRSIs assessing the impact of catheter insertion by an individual with formal insertion training/certification compared to catheter insertion by an individual with no requirement for formal training/certification in adults and neonates (33-41). Two studies did not report the age group (37, 38). No studies were identified focusing on children and adolescents. Two studies focused on PIVC (37, 39), five on PICC (35, 36, 38, 40, 41), and two reported on both types of catheters (33, 34). Overall, the studies reported findings on 12 812 patients from China, India, Spain, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, and the USA. Two NRSIs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (37, 41) and seven with a high risk of bias (33-36, 38-40).

# **PIVC: adults**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion by an individual with formal insertion training/certification compared to catheter insertion by an individual with no requirement for formal training/certification on CABSI/CRBSI (one before–after study, 876 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (*37*)), sepsis (one before–after study, 876 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (*37*)), and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (two before–after studies, 6995 patients; proportion of phlebitis ranged from 3% to 21% with training and from 5% to 34% without training; very low COE (*33*, *37*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, local infections, all-cause mortality and complications related to insertion.

# **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PIVC.

# **PIVC:** neonates

The evidence indicated that catheter insertion by an individual with formal insertion training/ certification may reduce the risk of CABSI/CRBSI in neonates compared to no formal training (one before–after study, 1631 patients; CABSI/CRBSI/1000 peripheral line days: with training:  $2.37 \pm 3.3$ ; without training:  $10.8 \pm 8.43$ ; p=0.03; very low COE (*34*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality, phlebitis/thrombophlebitis and complications related to insertion.

# **PICC: adults**

The evidence indicated that formal catheter insertion training may reduce the risk of CABSI/CRBSI compared to no formal training (one cohort study, 610 patients; 0.2% versus 2.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.06 [0.00-0.98]; very low COE (*41*)). Two additional before–after studies reported similar results (226 patients, 2% versus 5%, respectively; 1276 patients, 0% versus 0.5%, respectively (*35, 40*)). Based on the findings from one cohort study, the risk of phlebitis/thrombophlebitis was reduced with formal training compared to no formal training (610 patients; 1.6% versus 6.7%, respectively; RR: 0.24 [95% CI: 0.09-0.64]; very low COE (*41*)). The results from a before–after study indicated lower proportions of phlebitis with training (3890 patients; 3% versus 5%, respectively (*33*)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion by an individual with formal insertion training/certification compared to IVC insertion (three before–after studies, 681 patients; the proportion of complications related to insertion ranged from 5% to 15% with formal training, and from 14% to 36% without formal training; very low COE (*35, 36, 38*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

# **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

# **PICC: neonates**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion by an individual with formal insertion training/certification compared to catheter insertion by an individual with no requirement for formal training/certification on CABSI/CRBSI (one before–after study, 1631 patients; CABSI/CRBSI/1000 central line days: before training:  $9.11 \pm 8.9$ ; after training:  $18.34 \pm 27.31$ ; p= 0.412; very low COE (40)) No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/ thrombophlebitis.

A review of contextual factors/issues suggested that acceptability of training among HCWs was high as long as appropriate training time was allocated. Among patients, such training was considered to be important since it was likely to minimize the number of catheter insertion attempts (42-44).

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The panel considered that the evidence suggested that formal training in insertion should always be provided for PICC and PAC insertion given the potential risks associated with these catheters, and that it should ideally also be provided for PIVC insertion.

The resources required to provide a formal training programme for catheter insertion were considered to be potentially moderate in terms of training time and need for an education programme, but cost-effectiveness, equity and acceptability factors all favoured formal training, with feasibility considered likely in all health care settings.

#### **Implementation considerations**

- A formal catheter insertion training programme should include both education and demonstrable practical competence in catheter insertion (including an understanding of the appropriate indications for a PIVC and documentation of insertion) and that this competency is demonstrably maintained.
- Establishment of a formal catheter insertion teaching programme requires the employment of qualified teaching staff and the need for hospitals to schedule appropriate training time when staff are not busy with clinical duties. In some settings, simulation tools are used, although these may be less available in some LMICs due to cost constraints.
- Ensure that catheter insertion training does not lead to a diversion of health resources.
- All stakeholders, including HCWs, hospital administrators, education staff and patients, should be engaged in catheter insertion (and maintenance) training programmes that are sustainable.
- In settings where catheter insertion may be ultrasound-assisted, appropriate skills training in ultrasound use should be provided.
- Development of a common context-appropriate (and language-flexible) educational training module from which countries and facilities can adapt training to their local conditions and needs could be useful.

#### **Research needs**

- Research into the optimal, most time-efficient method of catheter insertion training (including skill retention), particularly for low-resource settings where HCW numbers may be limited.
- Further research on the most effective methods to maintain catheter insertion competency would be useful.

# 3.2.4 Catheter insertion by a clinician wearing single-use gloves

 WHO recommends that clinicians inserting a PIVC or PICC in adults, adolescents or children wear single-use gloves at the time of catheter insertion. (Good practice statement)

 WHO suggests that clinicians who insert PIVCs or PICCs in neonates use either singleuse gloves or no gloves at the time of catheter insertion. (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

In neonates, where catheter insertion is often more difficult than in older patients, the reduction in tactile agility sometimes associated with single-use glove use may make catheter insertion more challenging.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

GDG members considered that despite the low COE in neonates, the desirable effects of wearing singleuse gloves were likely to be moderate and undesirable effects small, with no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and the balance of effects being probably in favour. Thus, clinicians who insert PIVCs and PICCs in neonates should have the option to either use single-use gloves or no gloves at the time of catheter insertion, depending on the clinical circumstances.

The reduction in tactile agility sometimes associated with single-use glove use can be important when inserting catheters in neonates, such that clinicians should have the option not to wear gloves under these circumstances, provided that appropriate hand hygiene is performed prior to catheter insertion.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified two studies (one RCT and one NRSI) assessing the impact of catheter insertion by an individual wearing gloves (either sterile or non-sterile) compared to insertion by an individual not specifically required to wear gloves in adults and neonates (*45, 46*). We did not identify any study focused on children and adolescents. One study focused on PIVC (*45*) and the other on PICC (*46*). Overall, we report findings on 1256 patients from Austria and the USA. We rated the RCT as having a low risk of bias (*46*) and the NRSI as having some risk of bias concerns (*45*).

# **PIVC: adults**

The evidence indicated that wearing gloves (either sterile or non-sterile) reduced the risk of insertion complications by 48% compared to no measures (one cohort study, 1132 patients; adjusted RR [aRR; 95% CI]: 0.52 [0.33-0.85]; low COE (*45*)) and by 45% compared to hand washing (one cohort study, 1132 patients; RR [95% CI]: 0.55 [0.36-0.84]; low COE (*45*)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of wearing gloves compared to hand disinfection on the risk of insertion complications (one cohort study,

1132 patients; RR [95% CI]: 0.86 [0.62-1.22]; very low COE (45)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PIVC.

### **PIVC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PIVC.

#### **PICC: adults**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in adults requiring a PICC.

# **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion by an individual wearing sterile or non-sterile gloves compared to insertion by an individual not specifically required to wear gloves on CABSI/CRBSI (one RCT, 120 patients; 6.7% versus 6.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.00 [0.26-3.81]; very low COE (*46*)) and all-cause mortality (one RCT, 120 patients; 10.0% versus 3.3%, respectively RR [95% CI]: 3.00 [0.63-14.27]; very low COE (*46*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, phlebitis/thrombophlebitis and complications related to IVC insertion.

A review of contextual factors/issues found that in one study of preterm neonates there was a small increased cost associated with glove use when inserting intravascular catheters, but it did not consider any potential reduction in catheter-associated infections or HCW needle-stick injuries linked to glove use (46).

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

GDG members recognized that resources required for single-use glove use were potentially moderate and cost-effectiveness may favour not wearing gloves such that equity may be reduced in some circumstances and health care settings. Single-use gloves may be in short supply in some health settings, potentially posing an equity issue for patients and HCWs. However, acceptability and feasibility factors for both patients and HCWs favour wearing gloves in most health care settings.

The GDG also considered that the use of single-use gloves is likely to be associated with a substantial occupational health and safety benefit for HCWs inserting an IV catheter.

Depending on the skill and training of the HCWs inserting the catheter and the patient's clinical situation, the use of gloves may be associated with an increase in the number of IV insertion attempts.

# **Implementation considerations**

- Appropriate hand hygiene should be performed before and after glove use.
- Single-use gloves should be changed/discarded after each patient contact to avoid crosscontamination between patients and the increased risk of HAIs.
- Clinicians who are allergic to latex should avoid using single-use gloves made of latex. For this reason, health care facilities should have non-latex gloves readily available for use.
- Ensure that the resources required and the practical issues of procurement of single-use gloves are in place so that there is consistency across all health settings, including in LMICs.

#### **Research needs**

- Research on the optimal cost-effective material from which to make single-use gloves to maximize tactile agility and reduce potential allergy risk for HCWs would be beneficial.
- Research on the impact of glove-wearing on the number of catheter insertion attempts and any subsequent impact on both infection risk and potential patient suffering should be undertaken in various types of health care settings.

3.2.5 Catheter insertion by a clinician wearing single-use sterile gloves

- WHO recommends that clinicians inserting a PICC or PAC use single-use sterile gloves compared to non-sterile gloves in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Good practice statement)
- WHO suggests not using sterile gloves when inserting a PIVC in adults, adolescentschildren and neonates, provided that the steps of the aseptic "no-touch" technique are carefully adhered to.

(Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

- Clinician competency and adherence to the steps involved in the aseptic "no-touch" technique is necessary to ensure that the vein is not touched immediately after skin disinfection prior to PIVC insertion.
- If the aseptic "no-touch" technique is difficult to ensure, then single-use sterile gloves should be used.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

GDG members noted that the published evidence in favour of sterile glove use for PIVC insertion was of very low certainty, that both the desirable and undesirable effects were small and there was no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and that the balance of effects did not favour sterile glove use over non-sterile glove use.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified no studies on PIVCs and PICCs in any age group regarding the use of sterile gloves and risk of infection associated with catheter insertion. The literature review did not identify any eligible study comparing catheter insertion by clinicians wearing sterile gloves to insertion by clinicians wearing non-sterile gloves in adults, adolescents-children or neonates requiring a PIVC, PICC or PAC.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

GDG members noted that the resources required to use sterile gloves are potentially moderate (especially in LMICs), such that cost-effectiveness considerations are likely to not support their use compared to non-sterile gloves; therefore, equity may be potentially reduced. It is noted that there may be a limited supply of sterile gloves in some LMICs, such that the use of sterile gloves may have negative equity impacts, especially in facilities where patients need to pay the additional cost of sterile gloves.

Patients and HCWs' acceptability is likely to vary depending on the region and health care context. Among HCWs, the acceptability of sterile gloves may be reduced in some settings due to feasibility and logistic concerns. However, among patients, the use of sterile gloves may be more acceptable due to their perceived sense of improved sterility, but some patients could be concerned about their additional cost.

Feasibility is likely to vary by region and setting, with the use of sterile gloves not being easy to implement in LMICs due to challenges related to availability and supply, and in some health facilities it might take additional time to locate sterile gloves.

# **Implementation considerations**

- Ensure that single-use sterile and non-sterile gloves are changed and correctly discarded after each patient contact to avoid cross-contamination between patients and thereby reduce the risk of HAIs.
- Perform hand hygiene according to the WHO "Five moments" immediately before touching the box containing single-used non-sterile gloves to avoid cross-contamination.
- Store non-sterile gloves in a manner whereby they are not likely to become contaminated with multidrug- resistant organisms.
- Use single-use sterile gloves for PIVC insertion if an aseptic "no-touch" technique cannot be ensured.
- Single-use sterile gloves are often preferred for PIVC insertion in some patient groups (for example, burns, intensive care unit, immunocompromised patients) due to the potential added risk of infection in these patient groups and the frequent difficulties associated with PIVC insertion.
- In some regions, sterile gloves are used if employing an ultrasound machine to assist with PIVC insertion as the insertion site is often touched immediately before insertion.

# **Research needs**

- Research aiming to increase the development and availability of affordable single-use sterile gloves with good tactile agility features would be of major benefit as many of the cost concerns of currently available sterile gloves could be lessened such that equity, acceptability and feasibility concerns would be alleviated, especially in LMICs.
- Research regarding the frequency of accurate adherence to an aseptic "no-touch" technique or PIVC insertion in various clinical settings would be worthwhile as it could identify situations in which the risk of PIVC infection using single-used non-sterile gloves may be greater and the use of sterile gloves prioritized.

3.2.6 Catheter insertion using a standardized insertion pack/kit

- WHO recommends that clinicians use a standardized insertion pack/kit when inserting a PICC or PAC in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Good practice statement)
- WHO suggests that clinicians who insert PIVCs use a standardized insertion pack/kit for catheter insertion in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

• The packaging of most PICCs and PACs typically includes a standardized, sterile, single-use insertion pack/kit.

Conversely, it is less common to have PIVCs in standardized packs.

• The GDG noted that it would be desirable to have the standardized pack (even locally prepared) for PIVCs because it would facilitate standardization of the procedure.

# **Rationale for the recommendation**

GDG members noted that the evidence for the use of a standardized, sterile, single-use insertion pack/kit for PIVC insertion was of very low certainty, but that the desirable effects were likely to be moderate and the undesirable effects trivial, with no important uncertainty or variability in the values associated with the outcome of interest. Therefore, the GDG considered that the balance of effects was probably in favour of using a standardized insertion pack/kit for PIVC insertion.

The use of a standardized insertion pack/kit for the insertion of PIVCs, PICCs and PACs is likely to be associated with increased compliance with appropriate insertion technique and documentation.

#### Summary of the evidence

The systematic literature review identified one NRSI assessing the impact of catheter insertion by an individual using a standardized insertion pack/kit compared to insertion by an individual not using a standardized insertion pack/kit in 1345 patients requiring a PIVC; the age group was not reported (47). The study was conducted in the USA and rated as having a high risk of bias.

# **PIVC: adults**

The evidence indicated that a standardized insertion pack/kit may reduce phlebitis/ thrombophlebitis in patients compared to no standardized insertion pack/kit (one before–after study, 1345 patients; 0.8% versus 3.3%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.25 [0.10-0.60]; very low COE (47)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and allcause mortality.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PIVC.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PIVC.

# **PICC: adults**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in adults requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PICC.

A review of contextual factors/issues suggested that the use of standardized PIVC insertion packs/kits is associated with some cost savings compared to purchasing all the required components separately and that the packs/kits are considered extremely functional, time-saving and enjoyable to use among nurses (47).

# **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

GDG members noted that the use of a standardized insertion pack/kit for PIVC insertion may be associated with a potential reduction in insertion time for HCWs and may increase compliance with the aseptic "no-touch" technique as all the necessary components to achieve adherence are likely to be readily available in the standardized pack/kit.

In some settings, standardized insertion pack/kits may be prepared at the institutional level, thereby allowing the pack content to be customized according to the local context and needs. However, although such locally produced standardized insertion pack/kits may be associated with a saving in insertion time, the resources needed to prepare the pack/kit need to be recognized, including potential variabilities in resource availability in different settings.

Undesirable effects of using a standardized PIVC insertion pack/kit include the possibility of an increase in material wastage, especially if the clinician needs to use more than one pack for each catheter insertion. If some standardized insertion pack/kits vary in their content, then this may potentially create confusion among some clinicians.

Patient equity is likely to be improved with the use of a standardized PIVC insertion pack/kit if the time to PIVC insertion and the number of insertion attempts are reduced. However, this may be

potentially offset in some settings if patients need to pay an additional cost for the insertion packs/ kits. Nevertheless, overall, the standardization achieved with the use of PIVC insertion packs/kits will generally improve equity for both patients and HCWs, including the potential freeing-up of nursing time for more patient care. Insertion packs/kits are therefore likely to be associated with HCW and patient acceptability due to their convenience and perceived safety.

Overall, feasibility is likely to vary by country and setting – recognizing that in some health care settings there may be complexities associated with the introduction of standardized insertion pack/kits due to local cost and logistic issues.

# Implementation considerations

- Ensure that standardized PIVC insertion packs/kits, contain all the necessary components required to insert a PIVC safely and with adherence to the principles of the aseptic "no-touch" technique.
- Provide appropriate training to HCWs in the correct use of standardized insertion packs/kits.
- In some regions, the cost of standardized PIVC insertion packs/kits, whether produced locally or purchased from a manufacturer, may be considered prohibitive, but the potential benefits of their use should be included in any cost considerations.
- The use of standardized PIVC insertion packs/kits is likely to result in savings in HCWs' insertion time.
- Consideration should be given to potential environmental impacts linked to additional waste if not all material included in the kit is used and requires disposal.

# **Research needs**

• Research on the optimal standardized PIVC insertion pack/kit that is suitable for use by clinicians in a wide variety of health settings could have major benefits in streamlining mass production and, therefore, improving availability and cost-effectiveness in many health settings, especially in LMICs.

# 3.2.7 Catheter insertion using ultrasound-guided assistance

 WHO suggests the use of ultrasound-guided assistance when inserting PICCs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

• The use of ultrasound guidance for PICC insertion is recognized as being routine in most health care settings as it helps to ensure that the catheter tip is directed into the appropriate central vein and the number of insertion attempts are reduced.

 WHO suggests not to routinely use ultrasound-guided assistance when inserting PIVCs in adults, adolescents- children or neonates. (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

- GDG members noted that the use of ultrasound guidance for both PICC and PIVC insertion may be associated with a reduction in the number of insertion attempts and, therefore, reduced patient suffering and insertion-related consumable costs.
- Despite the recommendation not to routinely use ultrasound for PIVC insertion, the GDG noted that the use of ultrasound for PIVC insertion may be helpful in specific patient subgroups where intravascular cannulation may be difficult (for example, intravenous drug users, patients with burns, patients who are oedematous, patients receiving chemotherapy).

# **Rationale for the recommendation**

For PICC insertion, the GDG members considered that both the desirable and undesirable effects of ultrasound guidance are moderate, that there is no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and that the balance of effects probably favours the use of ultrasound guidance.

For PIVC insertion, the GDG members considered both the desirable and undesirable effects of ultrasound guidance to be small, that there is no important uncertainty or variability in the values associated with the outcome of interest, and that the balance of effects probably favours the non-use of ultrasound guidance in most routine clinical circumstances.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified 21 studies (12 RCTs and nine NRSIs) assessing the impact of catheter insertion with ultrasound-guided assistance compared to insertion without ultrasound-guided assistance in adults, adolescents-children and neonates (48-68). One study evaluated a mixed-age group (children, adolescents, adults) (54); two studies did not report the age group (50, 64). Nine focused on PIVC (48, 49, 51, 52, 54, 56, 58, 60, 61) and the remaining 12 on PICC. Overall, the studies reported findings

on 6825 patients from Brazil, Canada, China, France, Spain, and other countries and areas. Six RCTs were rated as having a high risk of bias (49, 58-60, 63, 68) and six as having some risk of bias concerns (52, 56, 57, 61, 65, 66).

# **PIVC: adults**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion with ultrasound-guided assistance compared to insertion without ultrasound-guided assistance on BSI (one cohort study, 804 patients; 5.2 per 1000 versus 7.8 per 1000, respectively; p=0.68; very low COE (*48*)) and phlebitis/ thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 60 patients; 0% versus 0% (*61*)). In addition, a cohort study focused on a mixed population reported a similar risk of phlebitis (523 patients; 5% versus 7%, respectively; very low COE) (*54*). Another RCT reported no local inflammation (proxy for phlebitis) in both groups (n=104) (*52*). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion with ultrasound-guided assistance compared to insertion without ultrasound-guided assistance on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (two RCTs, 339 patients; 1.3% versus 3.9%, respectively; very low COE (49, 56)). In addition, a cohort study focused on a mixed population reported a similar risk for phlebitis (523 patients; 5% versus 7%, respectively) (54). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PIVC.

#### **PICC: adults**

The evidence indicated that catheter insertion with ultrasound-guided assistance may reduce local infections (one RCT, 319 patients; 1.3% versus 7.4%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.17 [0.04-0.73]; very low COE *(63)*) compared to catheter insertion without ultrasound-guided assistance. Based on a Bayesian meta-analysis of five studies, ultrasound-guided assistance may reduce phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (five RCTs, 1744 patients; 1.1% versus 5.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.17 [0.08-0.50]; low COE *(57, 59, 63, 65, 68)*) compared to catheter insertion without ultrasound-guided assistance (Web Annex). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion with ultrasound-guided assistance compared to insertion without ultrasound-guided assistance on CABSI/CRBSI (one RCT, 98 patients; 0% versus 2.1%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.32 [0.01-7.67]; very low COE *(57)*) and all-cause mortality (one RCT, 98 patients; 0% versus 2.1%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.32 [0.01-7.67]; very low COE *(57)*). In addition, one cohort study reported little to no difference in bacteraemia in adults (43 patients; 22% versus 14%, respectively *(53)*). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis and all-cause mortality.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion with ultrasound-guided assistance compared to insertion without ultrasound-guided assistance on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 94 patients; 0.9% versus 4.3%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.20 [0.01-4.05]; very low COE (66)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

A review of contextual factors/issues suggested that the use of ultrasound for PIVC insertion may be associated with a higher success rate for first insertion attempts, as well as high patient satisfaction scores and strong support among HCWs. Feasibility is considered an issue among HCWs in some settings, including the need for appropriate training in ultrasound use (*51, 66, 69-71*).

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that moderate resources were needed for PICC insertion using ultrasound, both for the purchase and maintenance of the machine and for HCWs' training. However, cost-effectiveness was considered to favour ultrasound use although equity may be reduced in settings with limited ultrasound access. Nevertheless, patient and clinician acceptability probably favours ultrasound use, even though feasibility is likely to vary depending on the health care setting. Overall, the panel considered that ultrasound guidance should be used to assist with PICC insertion.

Resources for PIVC insertion are likely to be large given the high number of PIVC insertions and, therefore, cost-effectiveness favours not routinely using ultrasound guidance for PIVC insertion. Overall, equity was likely to be reduced even though patient and clinician acceptability probably favour ultrasound use unless there is an increased cost to patients. However, feasibility is likely to be generally reduced, depending on the health care setting. Additionally, it is noted that the frequency of ultrasound use may be too high to maintain cleaning quality for PIVC insertion, such that there may be an increased risk of ultrasound probe contamination and an increase in the risk of patient infections. Furthermore, many HCWs are likely to require education and training in the appropriate and accurate use of ultrasound – although this cost could be offset by a reduction in the number of IV insertion attempts and their associated costs. Overall, the panel considered that ultrasound guidance should not be routinely recommended for PIVC insertion.

The GDG noted that ultrasound use may be associated with an increased risk of infection for both PICC and PIVC insertion if the ultrasound probe is not cleaned/decontaminated appropriately or if the probe or gel used is contaminated.

In some settings, ultrasound availability might be limited and this may potentially lead to delays in catheter insertion and therefore possible delays in the administration of required therapeutics if there is no other IV access in place.

There may also be competing needs for ultrasound devices, such that their use for catheter insertion may restrict their use for other important diagnostic activities. In some resource-poor settings where ultrasound availability is extremely limited or non-existent, then this is likely to have a negative health impact on patients.

#### **Implementation considerations**

• Clinicians' education and training in the appropriate and accurate use of ultrasound is required for both PICC and PIVC insertion.

- The ease of ultrasound use may depend on device design, including the simplicity of cleaning.
- Ultrasound probes must be cleaned appropriately before and after each use.
- Potential contamination of the ultrasound gel should be considered and prevented. Only noncontaminated ultrasound gel should be used.
- Ultrasound use is likely to depend on the availability of this resource (both the device and trained staff) at the facility level.

#### **Research needs**

• Research on optimal teaching methods for ultrasound use (including standardized cleaning methods) would be useful.

3.2.8 Catheter insertion in the distal section of the upper limb (below the cubital fossa) compared to insertion in the proximal section of the upper limb (cubital fossa or above)

 WHO suggests the use of the distal arm veins over the proximal section of the upper limb (cubital fossa or above) for PIVC insertion in adults, adolescents-children and neonates.

(Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

- When choosing the site of insertion consider that: 1. starting insertions distally retains the option of subsequently using more proximal veins should the initial PIVC attempt fail; and 2. cubital fossa veins are commonly required for phlebotomy to obtain blood tests, so these veins should be avoided for this reason.
- Use of the cubital fossa for PIVC insertion may be associated with an increased risk of potential infection and hence this site should be avoided.
- Flexor areas/surfaces should generally be avoided for PIVC insertion due to the excess risk of catheter movement and need for increased PIVC stabilization.
- The GDG noted that the administration of vasopressors (for example, as part of sepsis management) usually requires a PIVC inserted in the upper arm where blood flow may be greater. Furthermore, any extravasation of vasopressors in the distal arm, although uncommon, can be associated with significant soft tissue necrosis.
- Use of the cubital fossa for PIVC insertion may be appropriate in certain conditions, such as in emergency situations where IV access needs to be rapidly established.

# **Rationale for the recommendation**

Regarding infectious outcomes, the GDG members considered both the desirable and undesirable effects of PIVC insertion in the distal arm veins to be small and that there was no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes. However, the GDG considered that the balance of effects probably favours the use of distal arm veins for PIVC insertion in most routine clinical circumstances. Therefore, the GDG concluded that PIVC insertion in the distal arm veins should be suggested compared to using the proximal section of the upper limb including the cubital fossa, based on both the infection-related and non-infection-related benefits.

# Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified nine studies (one RCT and eight NRSIs) assessing the impact of insertion in the distal section of the upper limb (below the cubital fossa) compared to the proximal section of the upper limb (cubital fossa or above) in adults (72-80). Two studies assessed a mixed population (74, 77). The literature review did not identify any study focused on children and adolescents or on neonates. All studies except one (79) focused on PIVC. Overall, the studies reported findings on 9160 patients and/ or catheters from Australia, Brazil, Japan and the USA. The RCT was rated as having some risk of bias concerns (80). Six NRSIs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (72, 73, 75-77, 79) and two with a high risk of bias (74, 78).

#### **PIVC: adults**

The evidence indicated that catheter insertion in the distal section of the upper limb probably results in little to no difference in phlebitis/thrombophlebitis compared to the proximal section of the upper limb (one RCT, 5907 patients; incidence RR [IRR; 95% CI] upper arm versus lower arm: 1.34 [0.86-2.01]; IRR [95% CI] antecubital fossa versus lower arm: 1.05 [0.70-1.55]; moderate COE (80)). Four additional observational studies afforded no conclusions about whether upper or lower arm insertion is associated with an increased or reduced risk for phlebitis/thrombophlebitis in adults (72, 73, 75, 76). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the distal section of the upper limb compared to the proximal section of the upper limb on local infections (one cohort study, 67 patients; 11.1% versus 0%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.17 [0.08-17.07]; very low COE (75)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis and all-cause mortality.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PIVC. However, it identified one cohort study focused on a mixed population (children, adolescents and neonates) (77). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the distal section of the upper limb compared to the proximal section of the upper limb on CABSI/CRBSI (433 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE) and local infections (433 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE) (77).

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PIVC.

#### **PICC: adults**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the distal section of the upper limb compared to the proximal section of the upper limb on CABSI/CRBSI (one case-control study, 647 patients; odds ratio [OR; 95% CI]: 0.77 [0.47-1.20]; very low COE (79)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PICC.

A review of contextual factors/issues suggested that patients reported a greater restriction of arm movement if the PIVC is located in the cubital fossa (81, 82).

# **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

GDG members considered that the resources for PIVC insertion in the distal arm were likely to be negligible with cost-effectiveness favouring neither the distal nor the proximal veins for PIVC insertion. They noted that there should probably be no impact on equity, with patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility likely to be in favour of distal vein use. Regarding patient acceptability, GDG members strongly advocated on the importance of engaging patients in these decisions, while informing them about the risks and advantages and disadvantages of the different insertion sites. Overall, the GDG considered that PIVC insertion in the distal arm veins should be recommended compared to using cubital fossa veins or those more proximal.

# **Implementation considerations**

- Use of the proximal arm (and cubital fossa) for PIVC insertion can result in decreased patient mobility, including difficulty feeding and bathing.
- Insertion of PIVCs in the distal arm, especially the hand, may be more painful for some patients and may require more insertion attempts in some cases.
- PIVC placement in the cubital fossa may reduce the patient's ability to perform routine daily tasks and therefore require greater nursing support and time. Furthermore, patients should be informed about this potential risk.
- In some circumstances, the use of distal arm veins may require more insertion attempts, but this may be countered by the fact that the use of an initial proximal arm site may result in an increased risk of subsequently having no further arm insertion site options and therefore require the patient to have a CVC inserted – a more high-risk and costly insertion procedure than a PIVC.

#### **Research needs**

• Research on the optimal distal arm site for PIVC insertion considering key patient factors would be useful, such as the insertion risk (for example, insertion under emergency conditions) and pain, mobility and ease of self-care, need for PIVC stabilization and drug-related phlebitis risk.

# 3.2.9 Catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb

# • WHO suggests use of the upper limb over the lower limb for PIVC insertion in adults, adolescents-children and neonates.

(Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

- PIVC insertion in the lower limb may be prioritized in some emergency situations where IV access must be established rapidly and in occasional intensive care unit patients with very poor upper limb venous access.
- WHO suggests use of the upper limb over the lower limb for PICC insertion in neonates. (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

- PICC insertion in adults, adolescents and children is almost universally in the upper limb.
- PICC insertion in the lower limb may be required in some very preterm neonates where upper limb venous access is difficult.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

For PIVC insertion in all age groups, GDG members considered the desirable effects of upper limb PIVC insertion to be moderate and undesirable effects trivial. They also considered that there was no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and that the balance of effects probably favoured the use of the upper limb veins over the lower limb in most clinical circumstances.

For PICC insertion in neonates, the desirable and undesirable effects of upper limb PICC insertion were considered to be small. The GDG considered that there was no important uncertainty or variability in the values associated with the outcome of interest and that the balance of effects probably favoured the use of the upper limb veins over the lower limb in most clinical circumstances.

# Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified 25 NRSIs assessing the impact of insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb in adults and neonates (28, 74, 76, 77, 83-102). Three of the studies assessed a mixed population (74, 77, 87, 103). No studies were identified in children and adolescents. Eight studies focused on PIVC (74, 76, 77, 85, 88, 99, 102, 103) and 17 on PICCs (28, 83, 84, 86, 87, 89-98, 100, 101). Overall, the studies reported findings on 16 665 patients and/or catheters from Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, India, and other countries and areas. Seventeen NRSIs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (28, 76, 77, 83, 84, 86, 87, 89-91, 93, 94, 96-98, 100, 102) and eight as having a high risk of bias (74, 85, 88, 92, 95, 99, 101, 103).

# **PIVC: adults**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (three cohort studies, 1671 patients; very low COE (*76, 85, 99*)). In two studies, phlebitis/thrombophlebitis ranged from 6%–42% in the upper limb and from 9%–72% in the lower limb (*85, 99*). The largest study (1251 patients) was stratified by the Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) II score; the results indicated little to no difference between groups (*76*). The evidence was also very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb on local infections (one cohort study, 3165 patients; 2.7% versus 2.3%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.13 [0.43-3.14] (*103*)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, all-cause mortality and complications related to catheter insertion.

# **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb on CABSI/CRBSI (one cohort study, 455 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (77)), local infections (one cohort study, 455 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (77)), and complications related to catheter insertion (one cohort study, 455 patients; the proportion of complications ranged from 21% to 30% in the upper limb and from 29% to 100% in the lower limb; very low COE (77)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

# **PIVC: neonates**

The evidence indicated that catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb probably results in little to no difference in complications related to insertion (two cohort studies, 643 patients; the proportion of complications ranged from 65% to 83% in the upper limb group and from 65% to 79% in the lower limb group; very low COE (*88, 102*)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb on CABSI/CRBSI (one cohort study, 455 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (*77*)) and local infections (one cohort study, 455 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (*77*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

# **PICC: adults**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one cohort study, 124 patients; 20.3% versus 14.3%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.42 [0.57-3.52]; very low COE (96)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and complications related to insertion.

# **PICC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb on all-cause mortality (one cohort study, 620 patients; 9.5% versus 12.1%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.79 [0.47-1.32]; very low COE (*87*)), phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one cohort study, 620 patients; 0.9 versus 0.7, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.27 [0.14-11.23]; very low COE (*87*)), and complications related to catheter insertion (one cohort study, 620 patients; 12.6% versus 8.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.44 [0.81-2.54]; very low COE (*87*)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis and local infections.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb on CABSI/CRBSI (five cohort studies, 1355 patients; proportion ranged from 5% to 10% in the upper limb group and from 0% to 25% in the lower limb group; very low COE (*28, 84, 90, 92, 97*)), sepsis (four cohort studies, 2417 patients; proportion ranged from 5% to 12% in the upper limb group and from 2% to 23% in the lower limb group; very low COE (*89, 94, 100, 101*)), local infections (three cohort studies, 1388 patients; proportion ranged from 0% to 5% in the upper limb group and from 0% to 43% in the lower limb group; very low COE (*83, 95, 98*)), all-cause mortality (three cohort studies, 1172 patients; proportion ranged from 5% to 6% in the upper limb group and from 1% to 6% in the lower limb group; very low COE (*89, 100, 101*)), phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (11 cohort studies, 5837 patients; proportion ranged from 0% to 10% in the upper limb group and from 0% to 21% in the lower limb group; very low COE (*84, 89-91, 93, 95, 97, 98, 100, 101*)), and complications related to catheter insertion (five cohort studies, 2325 patients; proportion ranged from 3% to 40% in the upper limb group and from 20% to 30% in the lower limb group; very low COE (*83, 84, 86, 95, 98*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that resources needed for PIVC insertion in the upper limb were likely to be negligible, but cost-effectiveness probably favoured the upper limb over the lower limb veins for PIVC insertion due to ease of insertion. The GDG also noted that there was probably no impact on equity, with patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility in favour of upper limb vein use. Lower limb PIVC insertion was considered to be associated with an increased risk of phlebitis and a greater restriction of patient mobility compared to PIVC insertion in the upper limb, thereby affecting both patient and HCW acceptability.

The GDG considered that resources needed for PICC insertion in the upper limb in neonates were likely to be negligible, but cost-effectiveness probably favoured the upper limb over the lower limb veins for PICC insertion. There is probably no impact on equity, with patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility probably in favour of upper limb vein use, even though upper limb PICC insertion can be associated with a limitation of movement by the neonate.

#### **Implementation considerations**

• If the lower limb veins are used for PIVC insertion (for example, in an emergency), the PIVC should be removed and replaced with an upper limb catheter as soon as is practicable to avoid the risk of infection.

#### **Research needs**

• Research on the clinical situations in which lower limb PIVC insertion is more commonly required may help inform the development of new venous access devices that avoid the need for lower limb use.

# 3.2.10 Use of occlusive catheter dressings

 WHO suggests the use of either an occlusive dressing or non-occlusive dressing for PIVCs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Conditional recommendation; low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

- The use of occlusive dressings is preferred when suitable occlusive dressings are available.
- Regardless of the dressing type, it is important to ensure that the dressing allows a direct daily inspection of the PIVC insertion site for signs of possible infection.
- WHO suggests the use of an occlusive dressing for PICCs in adults, adolescentschildren and neonates.
   (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

- To avoid the risk of local bacterial proliferation, occlusive semi-permeable dressings should be used with caution in patients with large amounts of serous or bloody exudate at the PICC insertion site due to the consequent need for frequent dressing changes. The use of occlusive dressings for PICCs, while suggested, is conditional on the availability of suitable occlusive dressings and the feasibility of implementation based on the local context and appropriate specific usage protocols.
- Occlusive, semi-permeable dressings have the benefits of increased ease and possibility of inspection of the insertion site, patient comfort and reduced nursing workload (due to the longevity of the dressing and ease of inspection).
- In some settings where patients can be managed at home with a PICC, occlusive dressings are a requirement for home-based IV therapy.

# **Rationale for the recommendation**

For the use of occlusive dressings for PIVCs, GDG members considered the desirable effects to be small and undesirable effects trivial. They also considered that there was no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and that the balance of effects did not favour occlusive over non-occlusive dressings. Instead, the availability of occlusive dressings is considered a key parameter.

For the use of occlusive dressings for PICCs, GDG members considered the desirable effects to be small and undesirable effects trivial. They also considered that there was no important uncertainty or variability in these values and that the balance of effects favoured occlusive over non-occlusive dressings given their location, usual required longevity, and the seriousness of any potential infection.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified 17 studies (13 RCTs and four NRSIs) assessing the impact of a catheter secured with an occlusive dressing compared to one secured with a non-occlusive dressing in adults, children-adolescents and neonates (104-120). One NRSI focused on a mixed population (neonates and children) (105) and two did not report the age group (110, 120). Most studies focused on PIVC; one reported on both PIVC and PICC (106). Overall, the studies reported findings on 4822 patients from Australia, Brazil, South Africa, Spain, Switzerland, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the USA. Six RCTs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (104, 106, 112, 117-119) and seven with a high risk of bias (107-109, 111, 113-115). Two NRSIs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (105, 110) and two with a high risk of bias (116, 120).

# **PIVC: adults**

The evidence indicated that an occlusive dressing may result in little to no difference in local infection compared to a non-occlusive dressing (one RCT, 2088 patients; 5.6% versus 4.7%,, respectively: RR [95% CI]: 1.20 [0.83-1.74]; low COE (*114*)). Based on a Bayesian meta-analysis of eight studies (Web Annex), an occlusive dressing may result in little to no difference in phlebitis/thrombophlebitis compared to a non-occlusive dressing (3507 patients; 35.2% versus 33.6%m respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.05 [0.78-1.46]; low COE) (*106, 108, 109, 111, 114, 115, 118, 119*). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of a catheter secured with an occlusive dressing compared to one secured with a non-occlusive dressing on CABSI/CRBSI (two RCTs, 2088 patients; 0% versus 0%; low COE (*107, 114*)). Another RCT reported a similar risk of bacteraemia between groups (*107*). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis and all-cause mortality.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of a catheter secured with an occlusive dressing compared to one secured with a non-occlusive dressing on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 150 patients; 2.0% versus 6.0%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.33 [0.04-2.69]; very low COE (*112*)). One cohort study with a focus on a mixed population of neonates and children (407 patients) showed similar proportions of phlebitis between groups at different time points (*105*). No study reported on CABSI/ CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of a catheter secured with an occlusive dressing compared to one secured with a non-occlusive dressing on sepsis (one RCT, 52 patients; 5.4% versus 3.6%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.50 [0.15-15.28]; very low COE (*104*)) and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 52 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (*104*)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PICC: adults**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of a catheter secured with an occlusive dressing compared to one secured with a non-occlusive dressing on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 25 patients; 16.7% versus 6.7%, respectively, RR [95% CI]: 2.17 [0.22-20.94]; very low COE (*106*)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

# **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

# **PICC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PICC.

A review of contextual factors/issues suggested that the use of non-occlusive dressings (usually gauze) for PIVCs was cheaper than using occlusive semi-permeable dressings. No studies of relevance were identified for PICCs (106, 111, 121, 122).

# **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG members considered resources required for using occlusive dressings for PIVCs to be moderate but, in their opinion, cost-effectiveness probably favours their use over non-occlusive dressings. Equity was considered to vary according to the local health care setting and context, but both patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility probably favour the use of occlusive semipermeable dressings for PIVCs. Although the use of occlusive dressings has not been shown to affect health outcomes, the ease of PIVC site inspection is considered important, as long as their use does not result in a significant diversion of health resources.

The GDG judged that the resources required for using occlusive dressings for PICCs were moderate, but cost-effectiveness favoured their use over non-occlusive dressings. In fact, in some settings, occlusive semi-permeable dressings are included as part of the PICC insertion pack/kit – hence, in this case, no additional resources are required. Equity was considered to vary according to the local health care setting and context, but patient and HCW acceptability favoured the use of occlusive semi-permeable dressings for PICCs, even though feasibility will vary according to the product used and the local context.

# **Implementation considerations**

- Ensure that the occlusive dressing allows direct inspection of the PICC insertion site given their expected longevity.
- Dressing changes need to be done with care to avoid dislodgement or migration of the PICC.
- In some situations where the catheter insertion site is associated with excessive "ooze"/
  haemoserous fluid (for example, coagulopathic patients), a non-occlusive dressing (for
  example, sterile gauze) may be preferred. Non-occlusive dressings require more frequent
  dressing changes (for example, every 1-2 days) than occlusive semipermeable dressings, such
  that this may affect their acceptability by patients and HCWs.
- Due to their adhesive nature, the removal of occlusive dressings may (depending on the product) be associated with more pain and possible skin irritation than non-occlusive dressings.
- Heat and humidity can affect the longevity and usability of some occlusive dressings.

# **Research needs**

- Research on the optimal occlusive semi-permeable dressing for use in all climates would be beneficial, especially for LMICs.
- Research into a standard occlusive semi-permeable dressing product that can be mass produced at low cost would likely provide greater equity, especially for LMICs.
- Research into whether a sterile dressing for PIVCs is routinely required, especially in LMICs.
- Research on the benefits and harms on the use of chlorhexidine-containing dressings for both PICCs and PIVCs.

# 3.2.11 PIVC insertion by an insertion team

WHO suggests that PIVC insertion in adults, adolescents-children and neonates is performed by a clinician who is appropriately trained in PIVC insertion, but may not necessarily be part of a formal insertion team compared to insertion by a formal insertion team.

(Conditional recommendation; low certainty evidence)

# Remarks

- A formal PIVC insertion team is defined as consisting of individuals specifically trained and competent in PIVC insertion who are dedicated to perform insertion, but not necessarily maintenance or removal of PIVCs.
- A formal PIVC insertion team may be of benefit for patients with difficult IV access or those who have already undergone several unsuccessful PIVC insertion attempts.

# **Rationale for the recommendation**

GDG members considered the use of a formal PIVC insertion team to be associated with moderate desirable effects and only trivial undesirable effects, but they acknowledged that this was based on very low COE. They also considered that there is no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes. However, the GDG judged that the crucial factor was the adequate training of the clinician inserting the PIVC, rather than having a dedicated team itself. For this reason, the GDG considered that the balance of effects did not favour a formal PIVC insertion team over insertion by a clinician who is not part of a formal insertion team, provided that the clinician has undergone appropriate training and demonstrated competency in PIVC insertion.

A significant concern regarding the use of formal PIVC insertion teams expressed by the GDG was the potential loss of knowledge and skills in PIVC insertion among non-team staff (doctors and nurses), such that their insertion competency declines. This may be especially impactful in emergency situations where they are required to urgently insert a PIVC without the assistance of a formal PIVC insertion team.

Potential unintended effects of using a formal PIVC insertion team may include lack of accountability of non-team staff to maintain PIVC insertion competency and "ownership", such that this could affect patient outcomes and lead to a reduced focus on the overall quality of PIVC maintenance and access skills.

# Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified 12 studies (three RCTs and nine NRSIs) assessing the impact of catheter insertion by an insertion team compared to insertion by an individual not part of a specific insertion team in adults, adolescents, children and neonates (43, 80, 123-132). Two studies did not report the age group (124, 128). Nine focused on PIVC (43, 80, 123, 124, 126, 128-131) and the remaining three on PICC (125, 127, 132). Overall, the studies reported findings on 11 691 patients from Australia, Brazil, China, Italy and the USA. Two RCTs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (43, 80) and one RCT with a high risk of bias (129). Four NRSIs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (123, 124, 126, 131) and five with a high risk of bias (125, 127, 128, 130, 132).

#### **PIVC: adults**

The evidence indicated that catheter insertion by insertion teams may reduce CABSI/CRBSI compared to no insertion teams (two RCTs, 875 patients; 0.1% versus 2.2%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.03 [0.00-1.52]; very low COE (*43, 129*)). A before–after study also indicated a benefit of insertion teams (BSI per 1000 patient days: 0.7/1000 with an insertion team, and 1.1/1000 with no insertion team; p <0.01 (*126*)). Also, catheter insertion by insertion teams resulted in little to no difference in phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (moderate COE) (*43, 80, 129*). Based on a larger study by Wallis et al., the rate of phlebitis was 15.1 per 1000 days with an insertion team and 16.1 per 1000 days without an insertion team (no insertion versus insertion: IRR [95% CI]: 1.06 [0.803-1.37]) (*80*). According to findings from one RCT (875 patients), catheter insertion by insertion teams may reduce the risk of complications related to catheter insertion (7.8 versus 21.7, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.36 [0.24-0.54]; very low COE (*129*)); one before–after study also reported consistent results (*130*). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion by insertion teams compared to no insertion teams on sepsis (one before–after study (*130*) 445 patients, age group not reported; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (*130*)) and local infections (one before–after study, 445 patients, age group not reported; 0% versus 0.2%, respectively; very low COE (*130*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality and all-cause mortality.

# **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion by insertion teams compared to no insertion teams on sepsis (one before–after study, 445 patients, age group not reported; 0% versus 0%; very low COE and local infections (one before–after study, 445 patients, age group not reported; 0% versus 0.2%; very low COE) *(130)*. No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, all-cause mortality, phlebitis/thrombophlebitis and complications related to insertion.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PICC.

# **PICC: adults**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in adults requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The evidence indicated that catheter insertion by insertion teams may reduce the risk of CABSI/CRBSI compared to no insertion team (one before–after study, 669 patients; 2.0/1000 catheter line days versus 9.12/1000 catheter line days; very low COE (*127*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality, phlebitis/thrombophlebitis and complications related to catheter insertion.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence indicated that catheter insertion by insertion teams may reduce the risk for phlebitis/ thrombophlebitis (two before–after studies; 6% versus 17%, respectively; very low COE (*125, 132*)) and

complications related to catheter insertion (one before–after study, 731 patients; RR [95% CI]: 0.43 [0.29-0.65]; very low COE (*125*)) compared to no insertion team. The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion by insertion teams compared to no insertion team on CABSI/CRBSI (one before–after study, 731 patients; RR [95% CI]: 0.43 [0.08-2.34]; very low COE (*125*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

A review of contextual factors/issues suggested that the use of a formal PIVC insertion team was likely to be associated with substantial additional costs, but such teams had high rates of acceptability among patients and some HCWs, depending on resource availability (42, 126, 133, 134).

# **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered the resources required for a formal PIVC insertion team to be large (even in highincome countries) and that cost-effectiveness probably favoured insertion by a clinician who is not necessarily part of a formal insertion team. In some settings, the resources spent on a formal PIVC insertion team could be offset by possible savings in time by other HCWs involved in patient care.

The GDG considered that equity was probably reduced with a formal PIVC insertion team although both patient and HCWs' acceptability was probably in favour, but feasibility issues probably did not favour a formal PIVC insertion team in most settings.

# Implementation considerations

- All individuals inserting PIVCs should be appropriately trained in PIVC insertion, regardless of whether they are a member of a formal PIVC insertion team.
- Insertion and management of PIVCs is primarily the responsibility of the clinicians managing the patient rather than a specific PIVC insertion team.

# **Research needs**

• Further research regarding the potential cost-benefit of using a formal PIVC insertion team would be worthwhile since outcome data such as complication rates (including infection), number of PIVC insertion attempts and patient suffering associated with multiple PIVC insertion attempts are lacking.
# 3.2.12 Use of local anaesthetic for insertion of PIVCS and PICCS

# WHO suggests either using or not using local anaesthetic when inserting a PIVC or PICC in adolescents-children and neonates.

(Conditional recommendation; low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

- "Local anaesthetic" includes topical and injectable products. Although the use of anaesthetics
  has no benefit to prevent the risk of infection, GDG members suggested its use (especially
  topical local anaesthetic) to reduce pain and improve patient comfort, especially for children,
  adolescents and neonates, more so than adults.
- Consider the use of local anaesthetic use, particularly in adolescents, children, and neonates with chronic diseases who require frequent catheter insertions.
- Care should be exercised in some preterm neonates due to potential reactions associated with their fragile immature skin. Therefore, the use of topical local anaesthetic may need to be avoided in this patient population.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered the use of local anaesthetic for PIVC and PICC insertion to be associated with small desirable and undesirable effects. The GDG judged that there is no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and that the balance of effects does not favour use of local anaesthetic over non-use in terms of infection risk. However, based on their clinical experience, the GDG members favoured the use of local anaesthetic to reduce pain and improve patient comfort and, potentially, to reduce the number of catheter insertion attempts required.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified eight studies (six RCTs and two NRSIs) assessing the impact of catheter insertion using local anaesthetic compared to not using local anaesthetic at the insertion site in children, adolescents and neonates (*135-142*). One NRSI evaluated a mixed population (*142*). Six studies focused on PIVCs (*136, 138-142*) and the remaining two on PICC (*135, 137*). Overall, the studies reported findings on 2436 patients from Australia, Canada, Italy, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the USA. Three RCTs were rated as having a low risk of bias (*135, 137, 141*) and three with some risk of bias concerns (*136, 139, 140*). All NRSIs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (*138, 142*).

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

Based on a Bayesian meta-analysis of four studies (Web Annex), local anaesthesia results in little to no difference in the number of first successful attempts at catheter insertion compared to no local anaesthesia (920 patients; 88.6% versus 87.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.01 [0.81-1.29]; high COE (136, 139-141)). One cohort study (1019 patients, mixed population) reported consistent results (142). By contrast, another cohort study (388 patients) reported a higher number of first successful attempts with local anaesthesia (138). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PIVC

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence indicated that local anaesthesia may result in little to no difference in the number of successful insertions compared to no local anaesthesia (one RCT, 53 participants; 72.9% versus 92.3%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.79 [0.61-1.03]; low COE (*137*)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

A review of contextual factors/issues suggested that the use of topical local anaesthetic may be associated with a higher rate of success for PIVC insertion in adolescents and children-and that HCWs report greater job satisfaction if local anaesthetic is available for use, but products with a slow onset of action can be associated with treatment delays and risk of vasoconstriction (44, 143).

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG members considered that the resources required for local anaesthetic use varied from negligible to moderate according to the clinical setting (country income level; public versus private healthcare setting), with cost-effectiveness considerations not favouring its use over non-use, such that there is probably no impact on equity. Patient and HCWs' acceptability considerations favoured local anaesthetic use, while feasibility issues in most health care settings probably also favour its use.

Although there is no evidence regarding any impact on infection rates, the GDG considered that the use of local anaesthetic is often associated with significant positive impacts in terms of reduced patient suffering and improved patient acceptability and preferences, while its impact on reducing the number of insertion attempts is uncertain.

#### Implementation considerations

- The catheter insertion site should be adequately cleaned after the application of local anaesthetic and prior to catheter insertion to avoid contamination of the insertion site.
- Consider the time required for the local anaesthetic to take effect as this may potentially delay catheter insertion.
- Health care facilities should consider the feasibility and resources needed for local anaesthetic use and are therefore encouraged to evaluate which subgroups should be prioritized for the use of local anaesthetic in catheter insertions.

#### **Research needs**

- Further research to identify the optimal topical local anaesthetics in terms of absorption and drying time would be important to facilitate greater usage feasibility in emergency situations.
- Research regarding patient-related issues (for example, discomfort, pain) related to the use of local anaesthetic would be useful.

# **3.2.13 Catheter insertion in the scalp compared to a catheter insertion in other sites in neonates**

## WHO suggests that sites other than the scalp veins should generally be prioritized over scalp veins for the insertion of PIVCs and PICCs in neonates. (Conditional recommendation; low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

- The recommendation applies when the options of using either a scalp vein or non-scalp vein site for PIVC or PICC insertion are similar.
- The choice of using a scalp vein should take account of local clinical experience in catheter insertion in this site because specific skills are needed.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that the use of scalp veins for the insertion of PIVCs and PICCs in neonates is associated with trivial desirable and small undesirable effects, there is no important uncertainty or variability in the values associated with the outcome of interest, and that the balance of effects probably favours the use of non-scalp vein sites for catheter insertion.

The GDG considered that PIVCs inserted into scalp veins were often harder to insert, generally required changing earlier due to instability in the vein, and were at a potentially higher risk of extravasation. Furthermore, the risk of thrombosis for scalp vein PIVCs was considered to be higher, and the consequences of this in a preterm neonate could be important. For PICCs, scalp vein insertion was also often more difficult than using non-scalp vein sites and correct placement of the PICC tip could be difficult due to a higher risk of the catheter entering non-central veins and becoming twisted.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature search identified six NRSIs assessing the impact of catheter insertion in the scalp veins compared to catheter insertion anywhere other than the scalp in neonates (83, 87, 93, 94, 97, 144). Most studies evaluated PIVC and one evaluated PICC (144). Overall, the studies reported findings on 2522 patients from Canada, India, Spain and the USA. The majority of studies were rated as having some risk of bias concerns; only one study was rated with a high risk of bias (144).

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on critical outcomes in neonates requiring a PIVC. However, we identified one cohort study (200 patients) reporting on non-critical outcomes (144). Evidence indicated a higher incidence of oedema (55% versus 36%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.53 [1.11-2.10]), and a lower incidence of occlusion/obstruction (9% versus 26%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.35 [0.17-0.70]) with catheter insertion in the scalp compared to catheter insertion anywhere other than the scalp. Catheter insertion in the scalp resulted in little to no difference in fluid/blood leakage (12% versus 20%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.60 [0.31-1.16]) and accidental wrenching/removal (13% versus 10% respectively RR [95% CI]: 1.30 [0.60-2.83]) compared to catheters inserted anywhere other than the scalp (144).

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence indicated that catheter insertion in the scalp may reduce the risk of sepsis compared to catheter insertion anywhere other than the scalp (one cohort study, 123 patients; 2.4% versus 48.8%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.05 [0.01-0.35]; very low COE (97). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter insertion in the scalp compared to catheter insertion anywhere other than the scalp on CABSI/CRBSI (one cohort study, 140 patients; 0% versus 6.6%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.38 [0.02-6.32]; very low COE (97)), local infection (one cohort study, 44 patients; 10.6% versus 16%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.66 [0.13-3.22]; very low COE, (83)), all-cause mortality (one cohort study, 689 patients; 13.0% versus 10.2%, RR [95% CI] 1.28 [0.67 to 2.47]; very low COE (87)), and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (four cohort studies, 2460 patients; incidence ranged from 0-16.1% for catheters inserted in the scalp and from 0.3-9.4% for catheters inserted anywhere other than the scalp; very low COE (87, 93, 94, 97)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that in terms of resources, there were negligible costs or savings for scalp vein insertion of PIVCs and PICCs with no difference in material costs, and that cost-effectiveness therefore probably does not favour either the use of scalp veins or non-scalp veins for insertion. There is probably no impact on equity using a scalp vein, but scalp vein sites are probably less acceptable to a neonate's parents than non-scalp vein sites. The feasibility of using a scalp vein or non-scalp vein site for catheter insertion, including the number of required insertion attempts, is considered to vary according to the clinical context. It is recognized that inserting a catheter into scalp veins requires special skills and that this might vary by setting, depending on clinical experience.

#### Implementation considerations

- A peripheral, non-scalp vein site is preferred for the initial insertion of PIVCs and PICCs in neonates.
- Scalp veins should be considered for catheter insertion when other sites are not readily available and there is clinical expertise with placement in the scalp veins.

#### **Research needs**

• Further research on the clinical situations (including neonatal age and birth weight) in which scalp veins are used for catheter insertion would be helpful to better define the population at risk and help focus education efforts for clinicians required to insert catheters in neonates.

# 3.3 Maintenance

- 3.3.1 Catheter maintenance using formal sterile dressing protocols
- WHO recommends that for all PIVCs, PICCs and PACS the insertion site should be maintained using a formal sterile dressing protocol in adults, adolescents-children and neonates.

(Good practice statement)

The procedure for the aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC maintenance and dressing change is detailed in the Glossary.

# 3.3.2 Catheter management with continuous iv fluid infusions

 WHO suggests that catheter management of PICCs and PIVCs be with either a schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion or no schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion (intermittent or no infusion) in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Conditional recommendation; low certainty evidence)

The procedure for the aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC maintenance and dressing change is detailed in the Glossary.

#### Remarks

- The choice of continuous versus intermittent (or no) infusion will often depend on the requirements of the treatment regimen being administered.
- While neither continuous infusion nor a schedule of intermittent (or no) infusion have been associated with the prevention of PICC or PIVC infection, continuous infusion may have an impact on reducing the risk of non-infection-related PIVC phlebitis, depending on the drugs being administered via the catheter. This factor may be considered in the choice of the intervention.
- PICCs in neonates generally require continuous infusion to maintain catheter function due to the small size of catheters used.
- PACs are always managed with a schedule of continuous fluid infusion; thus, the GDG decided not to discuss PACs in the context of this recommendation.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that the use of continuous IV fluid infusion for PICC and PIVC maintenance is associated with trivial desirable and small undesirable effects, there is no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and the balance of effects does not favour the use of continuous IV fluid infusion over no schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion (intermittent or no infusion) for catheter maintenance.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified eight studies (two RCTs and nine NRSIs) assessing the impact of catheter management with continuous IV fluid infusion compared to catheter management without a schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion in adolescents-children and neonates (88, 145-151). No studies were identified evaluating adults. Seven studies focused on PIVC (88, 145-149, 151) and one on PAC (150). Overall, the studies reported findings on 1434 patients from Belgium, Brazil, Canada, and other countries and areas. Both RCTs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (146, 150). Two NRSIs were rated with a high risk of bias (88, 145), three as having some concerns (148, 149, 151), and one with a low risk of bias (147).

#### **PIVC: adults**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in adults requiring a PIVC.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter management with continuous IV fluid infusion compared to catheter management without a schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one cohort study, 172 patients; 2.3% versus 3.4%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.68 [0.12-3.98]; very low COE) (151). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The evidence indicated that continuous infusion may result in a reduction in sepsis compared with noncontinuous infusion (one before–after study, 53 patients; 40.0% versus 67.9%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.59 [0.34-1.02]; very low COE (*147*)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter management with continuous IV fluid infusion compared to catheter management without a schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one cohort study, 98 patients; 8.3% versus 0%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 9.37 [0.52-168.57]; very low COE (148)). Two before–after studies reported similar results between groups (*145, 147*). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PICC: adults**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in adults requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PICC.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that the resources required for continuous IV fluid infusion maintenance for PIVCs and PICCs are associated with moderate costs, with cost-effectiveness considerations not favouring either continuous infusion or no schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion (intermittent or no infusion) for catheter maintenance. Continuous infusion often requires an electric pump and additional IV fluid, both potentially resulting in added costs. Although there is probably no impact on equity, patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility considerations do not favour continuous infusion maintenance for PICCs and PIVCs. Continuous infusion may limit patient mobility and hence they are likely to prefer intermittent infusion.

Continuous infusion may be associated with an increased risk of patient falls and injury due to entanglement in IV tubing associated with continuous infusion. Continuous infusion may also result in

increased nursing time, including annoyance from beeping of IV pumps commonly used for continuous infusion.

#### **Implementation considerations**

- Continuous infusion will generally prompt a more frequent review of IV catheters about whether they continue to be needed and whether they are safe to use.
- If the catheter is to be maintained using a continuous infusion, it should be administered according to a clearly defined protocol.
- Use caution when using a protocol of continuous fluid infusion for catheter maintenance to avoid excessive fluid being administered and resulting in potential volume overloading of the patient.

#### **Research needs**

• Further research to identify the optimal means of catheter maintenance using intermittent infusion and the ideal type of infusion fluid would be useful.

3.3.3 Systematic sterile flushing after product administration

 WHO recommends that after product administration via a PIVC or PICC, the catheter should be flushed with a compatible sterile fluid (saline or other) in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Good practice statement)

# 3.3.4 Saline compared to anticoagulant solutions in "lock-off" flushing of PIVC and PICC

 WHO suggests 'lock-off" flushing using sterile saline over "lock-off" flushing using heparinised saline for PIVCs and PICCs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Conditional recommendation; very low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

• A key concern regarding the use of heparinised saline for "lock-off" flushing is the potential risk of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that the use of sterile saline for "lock-off" flushing of PIVCs and PICCs is associated with moderate desirable effects (especially avoidance of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia) and only trivial undesirable effects, there is probably no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and the balance of effects probably favours the use of sterile saline over heparinised saline for "lock-off" flushing of catheters.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified 32 studies (23 RCTs and nine NRSIs) comparing saline to heparin flushing/locking after product administration in adults, adolescents-children and neonates (*152-183*). Overall, the studies reported findings on 18 977 patients and/or catheters from Brazil, Canada, China, Hong Kong SAR, Greece, India, Italy, Japan, Lebanon, Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Spain and the USA. Six RCTs were rated as having a high risk of bias (*152, 160, 162, 165, 167, 176*), 14 as having some risk of bias concerns (*154, 155, 159, 169-171, 173-175, 177, 179, 181-183*), and two with a low risk of bias (*153, 164*). Six NRSIs were rated as having a high risk of bias (*158, 161, 163, 166, 172, 180*), two with some concerns (*168, 178*), and one with a low risk of bias (*157*).

#### **PIVC: adults**

Based on a meta-analysis of eight studies (Web Annex), saline flushing/locking likely results in little to no difference in phlebitis/thrombophlebitis in adults compared to heparin flushing/locking (2219 patients; 14.8% versus 13.0%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.14 [0.78-1.66]; moderate COE (*154, 159, 169, 173, 175, 176, 181, 183*)). The evidence potentially suggested also that saline flushing/locking may result in an increase in all-cause mortality compared to heparin flushing/locking (two RCTs, 354 patients; 7.7% versus 2.9%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 2.68 [0.98-7.27]; low COE (*175, 181*)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of saline flushing/locking compared to heparin flushing/ locking on CABSI/CRBSI (two RCTs, 354 patients; 0.6% versus 0.0%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 2.87 [0.12-69.93]; very low COE (*154, 175*)). Another RCT reported no BSI events in both groups, without a clear outcome definition (*181*). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis and local infections.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter flushing/locking with saline solution compared to catheter flushing/locking with heparin solution on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis in children and adolescents (two RCTs, 150 patients; 0.5% versus 1.3%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.36 [0.01-8.60]; very low COE (*160, 165*)). A prospective, blinded cohort study rated as having a high risk of bias reported a higher incidence of phlebitis/thrombophlebitis with heparin flushing/locking, but results did not reach statistical significance (21% vs 33%, respectively) (*166*). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

Based on a meta-analysis of three studies (Web Annex), saline flushing/locking may result in little to no difference in phlebitis/thrombophlebitis in neonates compared to heparin flushing/locking (525 patients; 8.0% versus 9.2%, respectively, RR [95% CI]: 0.88 [0.52-1.49]; low COE (*153, 156, 179*)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of saline flushing/locking compared to heparin flushing/ locking on local infections (one RCT, 331 patients; 0.0% versus 0.0%; RR [95% CI]: not estimable; very low COE (*156*)) and all-cause mortality (one RCT, 88 patients; 0.0% versus 2.4%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.30 [0.01-7.28]; very low COE (*153*)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality and sepsis.

#### **PICC: adults**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on critical outcomes in adults requiring a PIVC. However, two RCTs were identified (192 patients) (*155, 167*), one retrospective cohort study (13 408 patients) (*178*), and one before-after study (number of patients not reported) (*163*) reporting on non-critical outcomes (occlusion/obstruction). Evidence indicated a similar incidence of occlusion/ obstruction (6% vs 0%, RR [95% CI] 7.27 [0.39 to 137.29]) between groups.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of saline flushing/locking compared to heparin flushing/locking on CABSI/CRBSI (one RCT, 133 patients; 1.4% versus 0.0%, RR [95% CI] 2.75 [0.11 to 66.21]; very low COE (*152*)), and sepsis (one RCT, 133 patients; 24.6% versus 17.2%, RR [95% CI] 1.43 [0.73 to 2.82]; very low COE (*152*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, local infections, all-cause mortality, and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that in terms of resources, there were moderate savings associated with using sterile saline for "lock off" flushing of PIVCs and PICCs and that cost-effectiveness considerations probably favour its use over heparinised saline. Equity and acceptability are probably increased with

saline use and feasibility is also increased given that sterile saline is generally more readily available and likely to be cheaper than heparinised saline.

The GDG noted that the systematic literature review did not assess for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia as an outcome, yet it may be associated with important clinical morbidity if heparinised saline is used for "lock-off" flushing. It is also noted that among the published studies, there was significant heterogeneity regarding the concentration of heparin used in heparinised saline used for "lock-off" flushing.

#### Implementation considerations

• Use of multi-use vials of sterile saline and heparinised saline should be avoided due to the risk of potential contamination.

#### **Research needs**

- Further research on the rate of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia linked to heparinised saline use in "lock-off" flushing would help to quantify the clinical risk of using this product more accurately.
- Further research may be needed to investigate the comparative impact on mortality between saline and anticoagulant solutions, considering all potential adverse effects, including heparin-induced thrombocytopenia

**3.3.5 Catheter management with a schedule of regular changing of administration** (tubing/giving) set)

# WHO suggests having a regular schedule of changing of administration (tubing/ giving) sets for PIVC and PICC maintenance in adults, adolescents-children and neonates.

(Conditional recommendation; low certainty of evidence)

#### Remarks

• Sterile technique should be ensured when changing the administration (tubing/giving) set for a PIVC or PICC.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that the use of a schedule of regular changing of administration (tubing/giving) sets for PICC maintenance is associated with moderate desirable and trivial undesirable effects, with no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and that the balance of effects probably favours a schedule of regular changing of an administration (tubing/giving) set over catheter maintenance with no specified schedule of regular changes of administration (tubing/giving) sets for PICC maintenance.

For PIVC, the GDG noted that maintaining the use of a schedule of regular changing of administration (tubing/giving) sets is associated with small desirable and undesirable effects, there is no important uncertainty or variability in values associated with a regular schedule of changing of administration sets, and the balance of effects probably favours a schedule of regular changing of administration (tubing/giving) sets over catheter maintenance with no specified schedule of regular changes of administration (tubing/giving) sets for PIVC maintenance.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review did not identify any eligible study comparing catheter management with a schedule of regular administration (tubing/giving) set changes to catheter maintenance with no specified schedule of regular administration (tubing/giving) set changes in adults, adolescents, children or neonates requiring a PIVC or PICC. Similarly, a review of contextual factors/issues identified no relevant studies.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG judged that the use of a schedule of regular changing of administration (tubing/giving) sets for PICCs and PIVC is associated with moderate costs (both material costs and increased nursing time), but cost effectiveness considerations probably favour a schedule of regular changing of administration (tubing/giving) sets. Although there is probably no impact on equity, patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility considerations probably favour a schedule of regular changing of administration (tubing/ giving) sets for PICCs and PIVCs. A review of contextual factors/issues identified no relevant studies.

#### **Implementation considerations**

- If the PICC or PIVC is being used to administer blood products, lipids or lipid-containing drugs such as propofol, the catheter set should be changed after product administration.
- For PICCs, the administration (tubing/giving) set should be replaced after 96 hours to 7 days' use and at the time of changing a PICC.
- For PIVCs, the administration (tubing/giving) set should be replaced at the time of changing a PIVC, but this should be no longer than after 7 days' use.

#### **Research needs**

• Further research to identify the optimal time of regular changing of administration (tubing/giving) sets when using a PIVC would be useful.

# 3.4 Access

- 3.4.1 Catheter access using a formal sterile or aseptic protocol
- WHO recommends using a formal sterile or aseptic protocol to access PIVCs, PICCs and PACs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Good practice statement)

## 3.4.2 Catheter access using a closed-access hub system

 WHO suggests using either a closed-access hub system or an open-access hub system to access PIVCs and PICCs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Conditional recommendation; low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

- *"Closed-access hub systems"* are those that allow intravascular access using a needleless device and are designed to prevent blood leakage and air entry and to reduce the risk of pathogen entry into the device access site.
- *"Open-access hub systems"* are those that are directly accessible using a routine syringe. When accessed, the device is potentially open to the environment and may be associated with blood leakage or an increased risk of pathogen entry if aseptic access protocols are not strictly followed.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that the use of a closed-access hub system for PICC and PIVC access is associated with small desirable and trivial undesirable effects, there is no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and the balance of effects probably favours the use of a closed-access hub system for catheter access. Closed-access hub systems may provide greater safety for HCWs when accessing PICCs and PIVCs as they often use needleless access systems and therefore are less associated with needlestick injuries.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified eight studies (five RCTs and three NRSIs) assessing the impact of catheter access using a closed-access device system compared to an open-access system in adults and neonates (184-191). No studies were identified evaluating children and adolescents. Five studies focused on PIVC and three on PICC. Overall, the studies reported findings on 4550 patients and/or catheters from Australia, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Spain and the USA. Three RCTs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (184, 185, 189) and one with a high risk of bias (190). One RCT was rated as having some risk of bias concerns for the subjective outcomes and a low risk for the objective outcomes (188). Two NRSIs were rated as having a high risk of bias (186, 191) and one with some risk of bias concerns (187).

#### **PIVC: adults**

The evidence indicated that closed-access device systems non-significantly reduced local infections in adults compared to open-access device systems (two RCTs, 2909 patients; RR [95% CI]: 0.80 [0.35-1.81]; moderate COE (*185*, *188*)). Based on a Bayesian meta-analysis of four studies (Web Annex), closed-access device systems probably slightly reduce phlebitis/thrombophlebitis in adults compared to open-access device systems (four RCTs, 3586 patients; 12.3% versus 14.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.84 [0.74-1.43]; moderate COE (*184*, *185*, *188*, *190*)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of closed-access device systems compared to open-access device systems (one RCT, *1710 patients*; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (*188*)) and all-cause mortality (one RCT, *1710 patients*; 0.2% versus

0.4%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.66 [0.11-3.92]; very low COE (188)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis and all-cause mortality.

# **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PIVC.

## **PIVC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PIVC.

#### **PICC: adults**

The evidence indicated that closed-access device systems may reduce CABSI/CRBSI compared to openaccess device systems (one cohort study, 793 patients; 0.3% versus 2.9%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.11 [0.02-0.7]; very low COE (*191*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, allcause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence indicated that closed-access device systems may reduce sepsis compared to open-access device systems (one RCT, 60 patients; 3.5% versus 26.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.13 [0.02-0.94]; very low COE (*189*)). One cohort study reported a similar incidence of sepsis between groups (300 patients; 0.7% versus 0.8%, respectively) (*187*). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of closed-access device systems compared to open-access device systems on CABSI/CRBSI (one cohort study, 300 patients; 3.5% versus 26.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.21 [0.83-1.26]; very low COE (*187*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that the resources required for the use of a closed-access hub device system for PICC and PIVC access are associated with moderate costs and cost effectiveness considerations and do not favour the use of a closed-access hub device system over an open-access hub device system. Although the cost of closed-access systems is higher than open-access systems, open-access systems require more frequent replacement.

The GDG noted that although equity is probably reduced with the use of a closed-access hub device system, patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility considerations probably favour the use of a closed-access hub device system for PICCs and PIVCs.

#### **Implementation considerations**

- Open-access systems require the access caps to be replaced reliably and in an aseptic manner.
- The procedure for the aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC access is detailed in the Glossary.

#### **Research needs**

- Further research to identify the most cost-effective design of closed-access hub systems would assist with reducing the purchase and usage costs, especially in LMICs.
- Research on the potential for low-cost, self-disinfecting closed-access systems could be useful.

# 3.5 Removal

#### 3.5.1 Catheter removal based on defined schedules

 WHO suggests either the scheduled removal or clinically-indicated removal of PIVCs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates.

(Conditional recommendation; moderate certainty evidence)

 WHO recommends inspecting PIVCs in adults, adolescents-children and neonates at least daily to assess for signs of inflammation and infection at the insertion site and vein to guide whether the catheter should be removed. (Good practice statement)

#### Remarks

- The most commonly recommended PIVC removal schedule is to change the PIVC after being in situ for no longer than 72 to 96 hours.
- An assessment for the possible increased risk of PIVC-related complications should be undertaken in all patients (for example, immunocompromised patients and those with conditions known to be associated with an increased risk of staphylococcal colonization and bacteraemia). The GDG suggested that in such patients, scheduled PIVC removal is preferred.
- Signs of inflammation and infection at the catheter insertion site include cutaneous redness, swelling, tenderness and discharge (purulent or non-purulent).

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that the scheduled removal of PIVCs is associated with small desirable and small undesirable effects, there is no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and the balance of effects does not favour a scheduled removal over a clinically-indicated removal.

While the GDG noted that the available evidence was rated overall as "moderate" using the GRADE criteria, it was concerned that for the key outcome of catheter-associated bacteraemia, some of the studies were statistically underpowered to adequately measure this important outcome, and any potential bias could not be resolved by undertaking a meta-analysis. Although PIVC-associated bacteraemia is uncommon, the large number of patients worldwide who receive a PIVC as part of their medical care means that the total crude risk of PIVC-associated bacteraemia due to prolonged catheter placement may in fact be high. Thus, the GDG was concerned that many of the published studies on scheduled PIVC removal versus clinically-indicated removal may be statistically unable to accurately assess the infection risk of PIVCs that are in situ for longer than 72 to 96 hours. Some GDG members reported that PIVCs that are in situ for longer than 72-96 hours are more commonly associated with infection (especially Staphylococcus aureus), including PIVC-associated bacteraemia and, for this reason, they strongly favoured the scheduled removal of PIVCs after being in situ for no longer than 72 to 96 hours.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified 17 studies (13 RCTs and four NRSIs) assessing the effect of catheter removal based on a defined schedule compared to catheter removal based only on a clinical indication due to a suspected or confirmed complication in adults, adolescents-children and neonates (*192-208*). Overall, the studies reported findings on 176 542 patients from Australia, Brazil, China, India, Sweden, Switzerland, and other countries and areas. Eight RCTs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (*192, 194-196, 201, 204, 207, 208*) and one with a high risk of bias (*197*). Three RCTs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (*203, 205, 206*). One RCT was rated as having a high risk of bias for the subjective outcomes and with some concerns for the objective outcomes (*202*). Three NRSIs were rated as having a high risk of bias (*198-200*), and one with low risk (*193*).

#### **PIVC: adults**

Based on Bayesian meta-analyses (Web Annex), catheter removal based on a defined schedule likely results in little to no difference in CABSI/CRBSI (six RCTs, 9683 patients; 0% versus 0%; RR [95% CI]: 1.08 [0.31-3.75]; moderate COE (*195, 202, 203, 205, 207, 208*)), local infections (six RCTs, 5804 patients; 0.1% versus 0.1%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.85 [0.28-2.61]; moderate COE (*195, 202, 203, 206-208*)), and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (10 RCTs, 10 862 patients; 7.9% versus 10.7% respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.74 [0.49-1.01]; high COE (*192, 195, 197, 201-203, 205-208*)) compared to catheter removal based only on a clinical indication due to a suspected or confirmed complication. Another open-label RCT reported a higher incidence of phlebitis and/or occlusion (combined outcome) for scheduled removal (*204*). The evidence also indicated that catheter removal based on a defined schedule likely results in little to no difference in all-cause mortality compared to catheter removal based only on clinical relevance (one RCT, 3283 patients; 0.2% versus 0.3%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.94 [0.243.76]; moderate COE (*203*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality and sepsis.

#### **PIVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter removal based on a defined schedule compared to catheter removal based only on a clinical indication due to a suspected or confirmed complication on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 280 patients; 1.4% versus 5.7%, respectively; OR [95% CI]: 0.23 [0.05-1.21]; very low COE (*196*)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PIVC: neonates**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of catheter removal based on a defined schedule compared to catheter removal based only on a clinical indication due to a suspected or confirmed complication on phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 113 patients; hazard ratio [HR] [95% CI]: 1.93 [0.83-4.51]; very low COE (194)). No study reported on CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections and all-cause mortality.

#### **PICC: adults**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in adults requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The literature review did not identify any study reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PICC.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG discussed that resources required for scheduled PIVC removal are associated with moderate costs and cost effectiveness considerations and probably favour clinically-indicated PIVC removal over scheduled removal. The GDG also noted that scheduled PIVC removal may be associated with an increase in the number of PIVCs used and an increase in HCW time and stress to change each PIVC. Furthermore, in some LMICs, patients may be required to pay for each additional PIVC. Both scheduled PIVC removal and clinically-indicated PIVC removal require additional nursing time to monitor each PIVC regularly and carefully for signs of inflammation and infection.

Scheduled PIVC removal may theoretically result in more veins being cannulated and therefore at risk of damage (although the GDG noted that a number of large studies did not support this concern). This may be particularly important for patients with chronic diseases who may require multiple treatments and hence many PIVCs inserted. Scheduled PIVC removal prior to insertion of a new PIVC poses risks for patients temporarily being without venous access.

The GDG judged that equity is probably reduced with scheduled PIVC removal, but patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility probably favour scheduled PIVC removal. Potential acceptability issues associated with scheduled PIVC removal include the fact that patients may experience pain with each PIVC re-insertion. However, this is balanced by their likely reduced risk of infection compared with prolonged PIVC placement. Patient acceptability might therefore depend on the availability of a PIVC insertion team as PIVC re-insertion is likely to be more efficient with such teams. Potential feasibility issues include the fact that in some situations it may be difficult to obtain a new PIVC for insertion (especially in LMICs) and that in children and neonates, PIVC re-insertion may be more difficult. Some patients may require multiple PIVCs simultaneously (for example, for phlebotomy, medication administration, etc.) and hence a scheduled removal may require multiple PIVC changes in some patients, which may not be clinically feasible.

#### Implementation considerations

- Daily (at least) inspection of all PIVCs is required (regardless of the planned removal schedule) and patients should be involved in any decision about PIVC removal.
- The decision to use a system of scheduled removal versus clinically-indicated PIVC removal may depend on the clinical context and resources available.
- Clinically-indicated PIVC removal is more commonly utilised in children and neonates due to potentially greater difficulty in catheter insertion.
- Schedule-based PIVC removal is more commonly utilised in intensive care unit patients, especially if they are comatose and less likely to feel insertion-related pain.

• Schedule-based PIVC removal is more likely to result in a more regular HCW assessment of whether IV access is still required and whether oral drug administration could be an appropriate alternative (so-called "IV-to-oral switch").

#### **Research needs**

- Further well-designed research trials (including cluster RCTs or large multicentre cohorts) that are statistically powered to accurately detect serious outcomes such as PIVC-related infection (including bacteraemia) that may be linked to prolonged PIVC placement would be helpful to define the optimal time to consider scheduled PIVC removal or to determine in which situations clinically-indicated removal is safe. These studies should be undertaken in various settings, including LMICs where the availability of PIVCs may be limited.
- Investigating the impact of scheduled PIVC change versus clinically-indicated PIVC change in terms of PIVC infections in LMICs would be helpful, particularly in settings where PIVCs are routinely used as the primary means of IV access.

# **3.5.2 Catheter removal/replacement within 24 hours if inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions**

 WHO suggests the removal/replacement of PIVCs inserted in uncontrolled/emergency conditions as soon as possible in adults, adolescents-children and neonates. (Conditional recommendation; low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

• PIVCs should be removed/replaced within 24 hours of uncontrolled/emergency insertion.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that prompt removal of PIVCs inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions is associated with moderate desirable effects, including a potential reduction in the risk of PIVC- associated bacteraemia. There are only small undesirable effects, including potential patient pain associated with PIVC re-insertion. However, there is no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, and the balance of effects probably favours early removal/replacement of PIVCs inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions.

Since PICCs are always inserted under controlled conditions, this issue is not relevant to PICCs.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review did not identify any eligible study comparing catheter removal within 24 hours if inserted under emergency conditions to no catheter removal within 24 hours if inserted under emergency conditions in adults, adolescents-children or neonates requiring a PIVC. Similarly, no studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that resources required for the prompt removal/replacement of PIVCs inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions are associated with moderate costs, including an increased number of PIVCs used and increased clinician time to change the PIVC. However, the GDG judged that cost-effectiveness considerations probably favour prompt removal/replacement. Equity is probably increased with early removal/replacement and patient and HCW acceptability and feasibility is probably in favour of prompt removal/replacement of PIVCs inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions.

#### Implementation considerations

- When removing/replacing a PIVC inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions, consider whether a PIVC is still required for intravenous access.
- If a PIVC is still required, ensure that the new PIVC is inserted prior to removal of the PIVC that was inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions to ensure that intravascular access is maintained.
- Regularly assess all PIVCs for signs of inflammation and infection at the insertion site.

#### **Research needs**

- Further research on the optimal time for removal/replacement of PIVCs inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions (for example, within 8, 12, 24 hours) would assist with the development of clear universal PIVC management protocols.
- Further research is needed to better define "uncontrolled/emergency conditions" (for instance, is the risk associated with a PIVC inserted in the emergency department the same as with a PIVC inserted by an ambulance officer at the site of an accident?).

# **3.6 Catheter selection**

#### 3.6.1 Use of single-lumen PICCS compared to multi-lumen PICCS

# WHO suggests using single-lumen PICCs over using multi-lumen PICCs (unless there is a specific reason that requires multiple lumens) in adults, adolescents-children and neonates.

(Conditional recommendation; low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

 Single-lumen PICCs appear to be safer in terms of catheter-associated infections and risk of lumen thrombosis; hence, the decision about whether to use a multi-lumen PICC over a singlelumen PICC should be made solely on the clinical need for multiple catheter lumens.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that the use of a single-lumen PICC is associated with small desirable and trivial undesirable effects, there is no important uncertainty or variability in the values associated with the outcome of interest and the balance of effects probably favours the use of a single-lumen PICC over a multi-lumen PICC.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified nine NRSIs assessing the impact of catheter access using a singlelumen catheter compared to a multi-lumen catheter in adults and neonates (28, 79, 209-214). One study did not report the age group (209). We did not identify any study evaluating children and adolescents. Overall, we report findings on 15 930 patients from Brazil, Canada, China, Japan and the USA. Six studies were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (28, 79, 209, 210, 212, 214) and two with a high risk of bias (211, 213).

#### **PICC: adults**

The evidence indicated that single-lumen catheters may reduce CABSI/CRBSI (one cohort study, 12 725 patients; 3% versus 7%, respectively; OR [95% CI]: 2.08 [1.62-2.67]; very low COE (214)) and local infections (one cohort study, 187 patients; 5.0% versus 14.7%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.34 [0.14-0.95]; very low COE (212)) compared to multi-lumen catheters. One cohort study reported no events in both groups (79). Another case-control study (646 patients) reported a higher incidence of CABSI/CRBSI with single-lumen catheters (209). One cohort study reported a higher incidence of CABSI/CRBSI with single-lumen catheters, but did not mention the participants' age group (209). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

#### **PICC: children and adolescents**

No studies reporting on the outcomes of interest in children and adolescents requiring a PICC was identified.

#### **PICC: neonates**

The evidence indicated that single-lumen catheters may reduce CABSI/CRBSI compared to multilumen catheters (one cohort study, 2383 patients; adjusted HR [aHR; 95% CI]: 0.39 [0.13-1.16]; very low COE (28)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that the resources required for the use of a single-lumen PICC over a multilumen PICC are associated with moderate savings and cost effectiveness considerations and probably favour the use of single-lumen PICCs. Equity is probably increased with the use of single-lumen PICCs, patient and HCW acceptability is probably increased, and feasibility is likely to be increased with the use of single-lumen PICCs over multi-lumen PICCs.

#### **Implementation considerations**

• If a multi-lumen PICC is required, HCWs should have received training in the appropriate sterile/ aseptic protocols to maintain and access a multi-lumen intravascular catheter, given their higher risk of thrombosis due to the small diameter of the lumen.

#### **Research needs**

- Further research on the situations in which multi-lumen PICCs are clinically required would assist in resource planning and the development of clinical PICC usage protocols.
- Further research on both the infectious and non-infectious complications associated with the vein, notably, the catheter diameter ratio (rather than the number of PICC lumens) would be worthwhile.
- Research on the respective advantages of multi-lumen PICCs versus multi-lumen CVCs would be helpful.

# 3.6.2 PICC versus MVC

## WHO suggests the use of either a PICC or midline vascular catheter (MVC) in adults, adolescents and children requiring longer term intravenous access. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty evidence)

#### Remarks

- The choice of a PICC versus MVC will depend on how prolonged the expected duration of IV therapy is likely to be, with MVCs usually used for periods of <14 days, whereas PICCs generally can remain in situ for much longer durations.
- The nature of the intended therapy (for example, antibiotics, chemotherapy, total parenteral nutrition), especially its likely venous toxicity/irritation, may influence the catheter choice as more vein-damaging agents generally require a PICC to allow for more central drug delivery.
- Availability of appropriately staff trained to insert the respective catheters will influence the choice, including in some cases, the availability of radiology resources for PICC insertion or the assessment of accurate catheter tip placement.

#### **Rationale for the recommendation**

The GDG considered that both the desirable and undesirable effects of using a PICC versus a MVC vary depending on what specific agent is being administered (antibiotic type, chemotherapy) and the duration of administration. There is probably no important variability in what patients consider the most important outcomes, but the balance of effects also therefore varies according to the context of the PICC versus MVC use.

#### Summary of the evidence

The literature review identified 11 studies (two RCTs and nine NRSIs) comparing PICCs to MVCs in adults, children and adolescents. We did not identify any study evaluating neonates (*215-225*). Overall, we report findings on 12 424 patients and/or catheters from Australia, China, Italy, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the USA. Both RCTs were rated as having some risk of bias concerns (*217, 219*). Four NRSIs were rated with a high risk of bias (*218, 220, 224, 225*) and five as having some concerns (*215, 216, 221-223*).

#### **PICC versus MVC: adults**

The evidence indicated that PICCs may increase the risk of complications related to intravascular catheter insertion compared to MVCs (three cohort studies, 3971 patients; incidence ranged between 7% and 27% for PICC and between 4% and 20% for MVC; very low COE (*221, 223-225*)). The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of PICCs compared to MVCs on CABSI/CRBSI (five cohort studies, 7253 patients; incidence ranged between 0% and 3% for PICC and between 0% and 1% for MVC; very low COE (*220*)), local infections (one cohort study, 900 patients; 2.9%% versus 2.4%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 1.23 [0.55-2.74]; very low COE (*220, 225*)), all-cause mortality (two cohort studies, 1255 patients; incidence ranged between 5% and 9% for PICC and between 9% and 13% for MVC; very low COE (*222, 224, 225*)), and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (three cohort studies, 1331 patients; incidence ranged

between 0% and 2% for PICC and between 0.7% and 4% for MVC; very low COE (217)). In addition, one open-label RCT (58 patients) reported no CABSI/CRBSI events (215). One observational study (691 patients) reported similar results for a composite outcome of suspected local and BSI in adults (219). No study reported on BSI-related mortality and sepsis.

#### **PICC versus MVC: children and adolescents**

The evidence was very uncertain about the effect of PICCs compared to MVCs on CABSI/CRBSI (one RCT, 91 patients; 0% versus 0%; very low COE (*219*)) and phlebitis/thrombophlebitis (one RCT, 91; 0% versus 2.4%, respectively; RR [95% CI]: 0.29 [0.01-6.85]; very low COE (*219*)). No study reported on BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality and complications related to insertion.

#### **PICC versus MVC: neonates**

No studies reporting on the outcomes of interest in neonates requiring a PICC compared to an MVC were identified.

No studies on contextual factors were identified following a formal literature review.

#### **Evidence to recommendations: considerations**

The GDG considered that in terms of resources there may be moderate costs associated with the use of a PICC versus a MVC depending on the catheter's intended use and likely duration of use. Consequently, cost-effectiveness is likely to vary depending on the clinical context. Equity is probably reduced with PICC use, but acceptability among patients is probably greater for PICCs. Feasibility is likely to vary depending on the clinical context.

The GDG noted that the availability of PICCs versus MVCs is likely to vary and that this may impact on local costs. The insertion of PICCs is considered to potentially require more clinical training than for MVCs and this may impact on equity and feasibility in some settings. However, as PICCs generally allow for a longer duration of IV access than MVCs, this may be a clinical advantage, depending on the intended catheter use. Neither catheter type is readily available in many LMICs.

#### Implementation considerations

• In regions where MVCs are readily available, they are more commonly chosen over PICCs when the expected duration of required IVs access is likely not to be prolonged (typically less than 14 days), but for situations where greater than 14 days access is required, a PICC is generally used.

#### **Research needs**

- Further research on the optimal situations in which an MVC is preferred over a PICC would assist with the development of clear universal MVC and PICC management protocols.
- Research into those circumstances where MVCs may be preferred to PIVCs may be useful.
- In situations in which both catheters could be used, further evidence to determine whether MVCs vs, PICCs may reduce infectious and non-infectious complications could be worthwhile.

Precious, 10, is treated for malaria and symptoms of what appears to be yellow fever at the central hospital in Owa-Alero [Nigeria]. © WHO / NOOR / Benedicte Kurzen

Implementation through care bundles and the WHO multimodal improvement strategy

# Implementation through care bundles and the who multimodal improvement strategy

# 4.1 Introduction

According to a range of WHO guidance documents (19, 226-228), the use of care bundles and multimodal improvement strategies (MMIS) are effective approaches to implement IPC interventions. However, these are not synonymous and the following clear definitions have been adopted or created by WHO.

*Care bundles* are a set of evidence-based, patient-focused practices or interventions (generally three to five) that aim to improve patient outcomes when done collectively and reliably. They can also be a tool to guide the delivery of a specific aspect of a patient's care where the aim is to improve the care process and patient outcomes in a structured manner or sequence, with the expectation that the impact will be greater than single interventions alone (*226*).

MMIS are a means of improving the implementation of interventions to achieve the required system, institutional climate and behavioural changes for measurable outcome improvement from the intervention(s). In general, MMIS include tools, such as bundles and checklists, developed by multidisciplinary teams that consider local conditions. Multimodal thinking means that practitioners do not focus only on single strategies to change practices (for example, training and education), but consider a range of strategies that target different influencers of human behaviour. MMIS typically contains five key components: system change ("*Build it*"); training and education (*"Teach it*"); monitoring and feedback (*"Check it*"); reminders and communication (*"Sell it*"); and culture change ("*Live it*") (*226, 228*). All five elements are considered important and should be based on the local health context and situation, informed by periodic assessments.

# 4.2 Evidence on care bundles and MMIS for PIVCS and PICCS

The literature review performed for these guidelines identified 41 studies including a bundle as part of the intervention to reduce BSIs and other infections associated with PIVCs (27, 229-268) and 25 related to PICCs (35, 269-292). These were reviewed in detail by expert members of the GDG and the WHO Secretariat for relevance and appropriateness. Based on this review, 11 PIVC studies (27, 237, 238, 240, 251, 252, 256, 258, 260, 261, 267) and five PICC studies (273, 278, 284, 285, 287) were excluded due to lack of relevance, resulting in the analyses of 30 PIVC and 20 PICC studies for specific components of the bundles and whether a MMIS was used for implementation.

The GDG reviewed these studies and noted the following overall issues:

- 1. there was marked heterogeneity among the various studies, including major differences in trial design, patient populations assessed, and the interventions included (and excluded);
- 2. this heterogeneity meant that no specific intervention bundle could be formally recommended;
- 3. overall, most bundle studies supported the concept that bundle interventions were worthwhile, effective and a practical means of implementing several interventions together;
- 4. no conclusion could be made about whether bundle interventions were certain to be superior to individual interventions, but the GDG considered this to be likely.

For the 30 PIVC studies (229-236, 239, 241-250, 253-255, 257, 259, 263-266, 268), 18 involved adults (229, 232-234, 236, 243-247, 249, 250, 253, 254, 257, 259, 266, 268), five involved children (235, 242, 248, 255, 265), and four involved neonates (230, 231, 262, 264); in three studies, the population was not mentioned (239, 241, 263). Sixteen (53%) studies (229, 231, 233, 234, 243, 244, 246, 253, 257, 259, 262-266, 268) reported a statistically significant benefit from using a bundle approach compared to "routine practice", while no studies suggested that a bundle intervention was inferior to single intervention implementation. All 16 studies appeared to use a multimodal strategy for implementation (see Table 4.2.1 for a summary).

For the 20 PICC studies (*35, 269-272, 274-277, 279-283, 286, 288-292*), seven involved adults (*275, 277, 280, 281, 289, 290, 293*), one involved adults and children (*291*), and 10 involved neonates (*270-272, 274, 279, 282, 286, 288, 292, 294*); in two studies, the population was not stated (*276, 295*). Fourteen (70%) studies reported that the bundle was effective (*269, 270, 272, 274, 275, 277, 281-283, 286, 288, 290, 292, 293*), three were probably supportive (but some key details were lacking) (*276, 280, 291*), and the remaining three reported no difference between the bundle intervention and the comparator (although all three studies were statistically underpowered) (*271, 279, 289*). Almost all studies were complicated by multiple potential confounders. Of the 20 studies, 14 appeared to use a multimodal strategy for implementation, although frequently this was not clearly stated (*269, 270, 272, 274, 275, 277, 281-283, 286, 288, 290, 292, 293*). Table 4.2.2 provides a summary of PICC bundle studies that included a sterile insertion technique as a key intervention element together with a range of other elements as an example of the significant heterogeneity in study design.



Summary of 25 PIVC bundle studies which included some form of aseptic technique for either insertion, access or maintenance of PIVCs, and assessed multiple interventions.



Abbreviations: PIVC, peripheral intravenous catheter; Y, yes.

Note: The table summarizes which interventions (other than the aseptic technique) were assessed in each study and whether the findings were supportive of the proposed WHO guideline recommendations for the bundle of interventions cited.

80

# Table 4.2.2. Summary of PICC bundle studies that included a sterile insertion technique as a key intervention element, together with a range of other elements



Abbreviations: PICC, peripherally-inserted central catheter; Y, yes; C versus I, continuous versus intermittent.

# **4.3 WHO recommendations on MMIS**

WHO considers the use of MMIS as the most effective way to implement IPC interventions. This is based on the initial development of the WHO hand hygiene MMIS, which was shown to be highly effective in various studies (26, 226, 296-299).

This concept was extended to any intervention aimed at improving IPC practices when WHO developed the guidelines on core components for IPC programmes (19), among which MMIS is core component 5 (227). Within these evidence-based guidelines, two strong recommendations are included (Table 4.3.1), for which the evidence represented the highest number of studies of the entire guideline.

#### Table 4.3.1. WHO evidence-based recommendations on MMIS for IPC interventions



CORE COMPONENT RECOMMENDATION The panel recommends that national IPC programmes should coordinate and facilitate the implementation of IPC activities through multimodal strategies on a nationwide or subnational level.

The panel recommends that IPC activities using multimodal strategies should be implemented to improve practices and reduce HAI and AMR.

Core Component 5: Both at national and facility levels, IPC activities should be implemented using multimodal strategies. Abbreviations: IPC, infection prevention and control; HAI, health care-associated infection; AMR, antimicrobial resistance. *Source:* Minimum requirements for infection prevention and control programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https:// iris.who.int/handle/10665/330080, accessed 27 December 2023).

As an example, the application of the concept of MMIS was extended by WHO to the implementation of the global guidelines for the prevention of surgical site infection (300), based on evidence appraised and discussed in the document entitled "Preventing surgical site infections: implementation approaches for evidence-based recommendations" (301). The "Implementation manual to support the prevention of surgical site infections at the facility level: turning recommendations into practice" (302) includes the application of the WHO MMIS to all WHO recommendations for surgical site infection prevention.

In 2019, WHO further issued guidance on the minimum requirements for IPC programmes at the national and facility level (*303*), which were derived from the core components' recommendations, including the minimum requirements for core component 5 (Table 4.3.2).

Implementation of the IPC interventions should always be tackled using a stepwise approach, including a careful assessment of the status of the IPC practices and local activities related to the intervention to be improved. To undertake this process, WHO proposes a five-step cycle of implementation to support the management and planning of any IPC improvement intervention or programme, based on implementation and quality improvement science *(226, 228)*. Each step is relevant to the process of improvement and the cycle should be continuously used and refreshed for several years for each IPC intervention in order to ensure maximum impact and sustainability.

The GDG advises that the MMIS approach and five-step cycle could be used also for the implementation of this guideline. In particular, a country or a health care facility should evaluate local guidelines and/ or standard operating procedures for the prevention of BSI and other infections associated with peripheral catheters and determine whether any update is needed by exploring their alignment with this WHO guideline. Furthermore, local practices should be assessed to identify the most common gaps and thus enable development of improvement plans including interventions, based upon the relevant recommendations and/or good practice statements of this guideline.

Level	Minimum requirement
National	<ul> <li>Use of multimodal strategies to implement IPC interventions under the coordination of the national IPC team.</li> </ul>
Primary care facilities	<ul> <li>Use of multimodal strategies – at the very least to implement interventions to improve hand hygiene, safe injection practices, decontamination of medical instruments and devices and environmental cleaning.</li> </ul>
Secondary care facilities	<ul> <li>Use of multimodal strategies – at the very least to implement interventions to improve standard and transmission-based precautions and triage.</li> </ul>
Tertiary care facilities	<ul> <li>Use of multimodal strategies to implement interventions to improve standard and transmission-based precautions, triage, and those targeted at the reduction of specific infections in high-risk areas/patient groups, in line with local priorities.</li> </ul>

# Table 4.3.2. Minimum requirements for IPC programmes at the national and facility level related to the implementation of multimodal improvement strategies

Abbreviation: IPC, infection prevention and control.

Source: Minimum requirements for infection prevention and control programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/330080, accessed 27 December 2023).
Trecia Simone Stewart, 41, a certified emergency nurse assists Dr Nashoni Mitchell with a patient who is in distress at the Spanish Town Hospital [Jamaica]. © WHO / Jayme Gershen

## **Research needs**

### 5. Research needs

While PIVCs are one of the most commonly used devices in health care worldwide, there remain many issues regarding their safe use that require clarification and research. Similarly, the availability of PICCs and MVCs where they are inserted peripherally, but the tip of the catheter is located more centrally than a PIVC, has major potential advantages in terms of delivering some therapies. However, they may also be associated with a potential increased risk of bacteraemia if catheter-associated infection occurs. Thus, further research into how to insert, maintain, access and remove these intravascular catheters safely in a variety of health care settings is crucial. Following extensive discussion regarding these issues, GDG members suggested several key research areas that should be pursued to improve the practicality and safety of using PIVCs, PICCs and MCVs in health care worldwide. Table 5.1 provides a summary of gaps in the scientific evidence on the prevention of BSIs and other infections associated with peripheral catheters, which could guide future research.

Domain	Research gaps
Insertion	
Sterile and <i>aseptic "no-touch" insertion</i> technique	<ul> <li>Research on lower cost alternatives to using <i>sterile barrier precautions</i> for PICC and PAC insertion in LMICs could be helpful.</li> <li>Research on the adherence to an <i>aseptic "no-touch" technique</i> for PIVC insertion in various clinical settings would be worthwhile as it could identify situations in which the risk of PIVC infection may be greater and require special considerations when inserting a PIVC under these circumstances.</li> <li>Research to better define the size of the drape needed and whether clinicians need to wear a mask during PIVC insertion would be useful.</li> <li>Research on the use of an aseptic "no-touch" technique for PIVC insertion, including both desirable and undesirable effects.</li> </ul>
Chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection preparations	<ul> <li>Several of the studies of chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products had different comparator non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products and the actual benefit (or not) of chlorhexidine- containing skin disinfection products was difficult to assess accurately. Therefore, standardization of the comparator disinfection product in future research on chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection products would be worthwhile.</li> </ul>
Formal training on catheter insertion	<ul> <li>Research into the optimal, most time-efficient method of catheter insertion training (including skill retention), particularly for low-resource settings where HCW numbers may be limited.</li> <li>Further research on the most effective methods to maintain catheter insertion competency would be useful.</li> </ul>
Catheter insertion by a clinician wearing single-use gloves	<ul> <li>Research on the optimal cost-effective material from which to make single-use gloves to maximize tactile agility and reduce a potential allergy risk for HCWs would be beneficial.</li> </ul>
Catheter insertion by an individual wearing single-use sterile gloves	<ul> <li>Research aiming to increase the development and availability of affordable single-use sterile gloves with good tactile agility features would be of major benefit as many of the cost concerns of currently available sterile gloves could be lessened, such that equity, acceptability and feasibility concerns, especially in LMICs, would be alleviated.</li> <li>Research regarding the frequency of accurate adherence to an <i>aseptic "no-touch" technique</i> for PIVC insertion in various clinical settings would be worthwhile as it could identify situations in which the risk of PIVC infection using non-sterile, single-use gloves may be greater and the use of sterile gloves prioritized.</li> </ul>

Table 5.1. Summary of research gaps on the prevention of BSIs and other infections associated with peripheral catheters

#### 5. Research needs

Domain	Research gaps
Insertion	
	<ul> <li>Research on the impact of glove-wearing on the number of catheter insertion attempts and any subsequent impact on both infection risk and potential patient suffering should be undertaken in various types of health care settings.</li> </ul>
Catheter insertion using a standardized insertion pack/kit	<ul> <li>Research on the optimal, standardized PIVC insertion pack/kit that is suitable for use by clinicians in a wide variety of health settings could have major benefits in streamlining mass production and therefore improving availability and cost-effectiveness in many health settings, especially in LMICs.</li> </ul>
Catheter insertion using ultrasound-guided assistance	<ul> <li>Research on the optimal teaching methods for ultrasound use (including standardized cleaning methods) would be useful.</li> </ul>
Catheter insertion in the distal section of the upper limb (below the cubital fossa) compared to insertion in the proximal section of the upper limb (cubital fossa or above)	• Research on the optimal distal arm site for PIVC insertion considering key patient factors would be useful, such as the insertion risk (for example, insertion under emergency conditions) and pain, mobility and ease of self-care, need for PIVC stabilization, and the drug-related phlebitis risk.
Catheter insertion in the upper limb compared to insertion in the lower limb	<ul> <li>Research on the clinical situations in which lower limb PIVC insertion is more commonly required may help inform the development of new venous access devices that avoid the need for lower limb use.</li> </ul>
Use of occlusive catheter dressing	<ul> <li>Research on the optimal occlusive semi-permeable dressing for use in all climates would be beneficial, especially for LMICs.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Research into a standard occlusive semi-permeable dressing product that can be mass produced at low cost would likely provide greater equity, especially for LMICs.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Research into whether a sterile dressing for PIVCs is routinely required, especially in LMICs</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Research on the benefits and harms on the use of chlorhexidine- containing dressings for both PICCs and PIVCs.</li> </ul>
PIVC insertion by an insertion team	<ul> <li>Further research regarding the potential cost-benefit of using a formal PIVC insertion team would be worthwhile since outcome data such as complication rates (including infection), number of PIVC insertion attempts and patient suffering associated with multiple PIVC insertion attempts are lacking.</li> </ul>
Use of local anaesthetic for the insertion of PIVCs and PICCs	<ul> <li>Further research to identify the optimal topical local anaesthetics in terms of absorption and drying time would be important to facilitate greater usage feasibility in emergency situations.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Research regarding patient-related issues (for example, discomfort, pain) related to the use of local anaesthetic would be useful.</li> </ul>
Maintenance	
Catheter management with continuous IV fluid infusion	<ul> <li>Further research to identify the optimal means of catheter maintenance using intermittent infusion and the ideal type of infusion fluid would be useful.</li> </ul>
Saline compared to anticoagulant solutions in "lock-off" flushing of PIVC and PICC	<ul> <li>Further research on the rate of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia linked to heparinised saline use in "lock off" flushing would help to quantify the clinical risk of using this product more accurately.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Further research may be needed to investigate the comparative impact on mortality between saline and anticoagulant solutions, considering all potential adverse effects, including heparin-induced thrombocytopenia.</li> </ul>
Catheter management with a schedule of regular changing of administration (tubing/ giving) set	<ul> <li>Further research to identify the optimal time of regular changing of administration (tubing/giving) sets when using a PIVC would be useful.</li> </ul>

#### Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associa sted with the use of intravascular catheters

Domain	Research gaps	
Access		
Catheter access using a closed-access hub system	<ul> <li>Further research to identify the most cost-effective design of closed-access hub systems would assist with reducing the purchase and usage costs, especially in LMICs.</li> <li>Research on the potential for low-cost, self-disinfecting closed-access systems could be useful.</li> </ul>	
Removal		
Catheter removal based on defined schedules	<ul> <li>Further well-designed research trials (including cluster RCTs or large multicentre cohorts) that are statistically powered to accurately detect serious outcomes such as PIVC-related infection (including bacteraemia) that may be linked to prolonged PIVC placement would be helpful to define the optimal time to consider scheduled PIVC removal, or which situations clinically-indicated removal is safe. These studies should be undertaken in various settings, including LMICs where the availability of PIVCs may be limited.</li> <li>Investigate the impact of scheduled PIVC change versus clinically-indicated PIVC change in terms of PIVC share PIVCs are routinely used as the primary means of IV access.</li> </ul>	
Catheter removal/replacement within 24 hours if inserted under uncontrolled/ emergency conditions	<ul> <li>Further research on the optimal time for removal/replacement of PIVCs inserted under uncontrolled/emergency conditions (for example, within, 8, 12, 24 hours) would assist with the development of clear universal PIVC management protocols.</li> <li>Further research needs to better define "uncontrolled/emergency" conditions (for example, does a PIVC placed in a hospital emergency department carry the same risk as one placed in the field by an ambulance staff member?).</li> </ul>	
Catheter selection		
Use of single lumen PICCS compared to multi-lumen PICCS	<ul> <li>Further research on the situations in which multi-lumen PICCs are clinically required would assist in resource planning and the development of clinical PICC usage protocols.</li> <li>Further research on both the infectious and non-infectious complications associated with the vein:catheter diameter ratio (rather than the number of PICC lumens) would be worthwhile.</li> <li>Research on the respective advantages of multi-lumen PICCS versus multi-lumen central venous catheters would be helpful.</li> </ul>	
PICC versus MCV and drug administration	<ul> <li>Further research on the optimal situations in which an MCV is preferred over a PICC would assist with the development of clear universal MCV and PICC management protocols.</li> <li>Research into those circumstances where MCVs may be preferred to PIVCs may be useful.</li> <li>In situations in which both catheters could be used, further evidence to determine whether MCVs versus PICCs may reduce infectious and non-infectious complications could be worthwhile.</li> </ul>	

Abbreviations: PICC, peripherally-inserted central catheter; PAC, peripheral arterial catheter; LMIC, low- and middle-income countries; PIVC, peripheral intravenous catheter; HCW, health and care worker, IV, intravenous; RCT, randomized controlled trial; MCV, midline vascular catheter.

Epidemiologist B. Gnoevoi cleans his hands using alcohol-based handrub in the Diagnostic Laboratory at "Dnipropetrovsk Regional Clinical Hospital Named After I.I. Mechnikov."

Gnoevoi underwent WHO training on antimicrobial resistance in late 2022. After the training he helped implement changes and organize an infection control department at Mechnikov Hospital [Ukraine]. © WHO / Christopher Black THOEBON

## Monitoring and evaluating the impact of the guideline

# 6. Monitoring and evaluating the impact of the guideline

Since peripherally inserted intravascular catheters are one of the frequent invasive health care devices used worldwide, any complications potentially linked to their use should ideally be routinely monitored, recorded and the results fed back to clinicians to improve the safety of their use. Monitoring, evaluation and feedback is a key element for the success of the WHO MMIS (see chapter 4). Furthermore, WHO recommends using a stepwise cycle to implement any IPC intervention or project as assessment steps at the baseline are critical for evaluating impact and planning sustainability. Therefore, interventions aimed at improving practices related to the use of peripherally- inserted intravascular catheters should include steps focusing on this critical element (*301*).

Monitoring of the impact of these guidelines should be considered using the following approaches.

- 1. Measure clinician education, training and competencies in PIVC, PICC, and PAC management (insertion, maintenance, access and removal) using an ongoing system of regular assessment.
- 2. Monitor clinician adherence to the practices recommended in the guidelines' good practice statements and recommendations.
- 3. Assess any complications associated with PIVCs and PICCs and correlate these data with adherence to the guidelines in clinical practices.
- 4. Investigate all health care-associated BSI to determine the source of these infections and whether they are associated with intravascular catheters or another health care intervention(s). Such an approach should allow clinicians to determine the proportion of BSIs that are catheter-associated and thereby provide an indicator for the impact of these guidelines. Ideally, such data should then be correlated with a valid measure of clinical activity (for example, infections per 1000 catheter days or per 1000 inpatient bed days).

Nurse Akhter on duty in an inpatient area crowded with dengue patients at Suhrawardy Hospital in Sher-E-Bangla-Nagar, Dhaka, on 3 October 2023 [Bangladesh]. © WHO / Fabeha Monir

## Updating and dissemination of the guidelines

# 7. Updating and dissemination of the guidelines

These guidelines are made available as a printed document and a web-based product for dissemination and they include all evidence as presented to the GDG (within the text and in Annex 2, Annex 3, and the Web Annex).

The recommendations issued in the guidelines will remain valid for five years. The WHO Secretariat will monitor scientific evidence as they become available, as well as users' needs, to decide on the need to update the recommendations during that period. The Steering Group will continue to follow research developments in the prevention of BSI and other infections associated with PIVCs, particularly for the questions in which the systematic reviews showed that: 1) no evidence was found; 2) low-certainty evidence was identified; or 3) where additional new recommendations or further changes in published recommendations would be needed.

Following publication and dissemination of the guidelines, any concern about the validity of any recommendation will be promptly communicated to the guidelines' implementers and revisions will be made to the guidelines.

We plan to translate the guidelines in Arabic, Chinese, French, Russian and Spanish and to disseminate them on the WHO website, specifically on the IPC webpage, through the regional offices' focal points, dissemination lists, and through the Global Infection Prevention and Control Network (GIPCN), a collaborative mechanism between more than 20 organizations in the field of IPC and WHO.

The Steering Group will invite relevant WHO departments to contribute to a wider dissemination plan, as appropriate. Technical meetings will be held within WHO departments to share the products with the teams responsible for policy and programme implementation. We will also liaise with the WHO Press close to the time of publication of the guideline to agree on a publication plan. We will publish notification of the GDG process on the WHO IPC website together with the biographies of the GDG as soon as the GDG process commences. We will also publish the full report, summary report, including full details of the methodology and results of the evidence appraisal on the website as soon as the GDG process has been completed.

### 7.1 Derivative products

Evidence briefs will be produced to target policy-makers and programme managers. This is important to enhance interpretation and uptake of the guideline, particularly in areas where the technical expertise to fully understand the current guideline format may be limited. The evidence briefs will highlight the recommendations and related contextual issues for implementation. In addition, to increase awareness of the guideline, the recommendations will be published as a commentary in peer-reviewed scientific journals.

Finally, implementation tools to reflect the WHO multimodal strategies for the implementation of IPC interventions will be developed in collaboration with regional office, key stakeholders and field implementers.

### 7.2 Essential medicines list (EML)

The recommendations issued in the guidelines will not affect a priori modifications in the EML. In case changes are required, the EML Secretariat will be contacted to discuss the inclusion of new products.

### 7.3 Adaptation

All WHO regional offices have been invited to be observers at the GDG meetings. Immediately after the GDG meetings, we will meet with the regional offices to make detailed plans for local adaptation and implementation guidance. WHO departments and other partners will support national and subnational groups to adapt the guideline. This process may include the development or revision of existing national guidelines or protocols based on the WHO guideline.

### 7.4 Implementation

Implementation guidance will be developed in partnership with the regional offices. WHO departments and other partners will support national and subnational groups to implement the recommendations. In addition, in collaboration with other WHO departments, the WHO IPC team will develop a plan for research on effective implementation strategies.

A nurse attends to a patient at a primary health centre in Mutanpal village in Bastar district, Chhasttisgarh [India]. © WHO / Atul Loke / Panos Pictures ind.

William .

MM

## References

### 8. References

- Global report on infection prevention and control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/354489</u>).
- Adrie C, Garrouste-Orgeas M, Ibn Essaied W, Schwebel C, Darmon M, Mourvillier B et al. Attributable mortality of ICU-acquired bloodstream infections: impact of the source, causative micro-organism, resistance profile and antimicrobial therapy. J Infect. 2017;74:131-41. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2016.11.001.
- Stewardson AJ, Marimuthu K, Sengupta S, Allignol A, El-Bouseary M, Carvalho MJ et al. Effect of carbapenem resistance on outcomes of bloodstream infection caused by Enterobacteriaceae in low-income and middle-income countries (PANORAMA): a multinational prospective cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19:601-10. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(18)30792-8.
- Stemming the superbug tide: just a few dollars more. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2018 (<u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/content/</u> <u>publication/9789264307599-en</u>).
- Murray CJL, Ikuta KS, Sharara F, Swetschinski L, Robles Aguilar G, Gray A et al. Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. Lancet. 2022;399:629-55. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02724-0.
- Cassini A, Plachouras D, Eckmanns T, Abu Sin M, Blank HP, Ducomble T et al. Burden of six healthcare-associated infections on European population health: estimating incidence-based disability-adjusted life years through a population prevalence-based modelling study. PLoS Med. 2016;13:e1002150. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002150.
- Rosenthal VD, Maki DG, Jamulitrat S, Medeiros EA, Todi SK, Gomez DY et al. International Nosocomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC) report, data summary for 2003-2008, issued June 2009. Am J Infect Control. 2010;38:95-104.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2009.12.004.
- 8. Timsit JF, Ruppé E, Barbier F, Tabah A, Bassetti M. Bloodstream infections in critically ill patients: an expert statement. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46:266-84. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-05950-6.
- Global report on the epidemiology and burden of sepsis: current evidence, identifying gaps and future directions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/334216</u>).
- **10.** Zingg W, Pittet D. Peripheral venous catheters: an under-evaluated problem. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2009;34 (Suppl 4):S38-42. doi: 10.1016/s0924-8579(09)70565-5.
- **11.** Rupp ME, Karnatak R. Intravascular catheter-related bloodstream infections. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2018;32:765-87. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2018.06.002.
- O'Grady NP, Alexander M, Burns LA, Dellinger EP, Garland J, Heard SO et al. Guidelines for the prevention of intravascular catheter-related infections. Am J Infect Control. 2011;39:S1-34. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2011.01.003.

- Improving the prevention, diagnosis and management of sepsis. In: 140th Session of the World Health Organization Executive Board, Geneva, 23-31 January 2017 (EB140/2017/REC/1; https:// apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA70/A70\_2-en.pdf).
- Global strategy on infection prevention and control. In: Seventy-fifth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 22-28 May 2022. Agenda item 14.6 (<u>https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA75/A75\_ACONF5-en.pdf</u>).
- Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development. New York: United Nations, 2015 (<u>https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda</u>).
- Sustainable Development Goals indicators metadata repository. New York: United Nations, 2022 (<u>https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/metadata/?Text=&Goal=3&Target</u>).
- Global patient safety action plan 2021–2030: towards eliminating avoidable harm in health care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/343477</u>).
- WHO handbook for guideline development. 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/145714).
- Guidelines on core components of infection prevention and control programmes at the national and acute health care facility level. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/251730</u>).
- Andrews J, Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Alderson P, Dahm P, Falck-Ytter Y et al. GRADE guidelines: 14. Going from evidence to recommendations: the significance and presentation of recommendations. J Clin Epidemiol. 2013;66:719-25. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.03.013.
- 21. Guyatt GH, Alonso-Coello P, Schünemann HJ, Djulbegovic B, Nothacker M, Lange S et al. Guideline panels should seldom make good practice statements: guidance from the GRADE Working Group. J Clin Epidemiol. 2016;80:3-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.07.006.
- 22. O'Grady NP, Alexander M, Burns LA, Dellinger EP, Garland J, Heard SO et al. Summary of recommendations: guidelines for the prevention of intravascular catheter-related infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;52:1087-99. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir138.
- Abdollahi F, Arbabisarjou A. Comparing the effect of disinfectant solution of 2% chlorhexidine gluconate and 70% alcohol on prevention of phlebitis. Der Pharmacia Lettre. 2016;8:129-34. (https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01166855/full).
- 24. Danchaivijitr S, Theeratharathorn R. Comparison of effects of alcohol, chlorhexidine cream, and iodophore cream on venous catheter-associated infections. J Med Assoc Thailand. 1989;72 (Suppl 2):39-43.
- 25. Garland JS, Buck RK, Maloney P, Durkin DM, Toth-Lloyd S, Duffy M et al. Comparison of 10% povidone-iodine and 0.5% chlorhexidine gluconate for the prevention of peripheral intravenous catheter colonization in neonates: a prospective trial. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1995;14:510-6. doi: 10.1097/00006454-199506000-00008
- Garland JS, Alex CP, Uhing MR, Peterside IE, Rentz A, Harris MC. Pilot trial to compare tolerance of chlorhexidine gluconate to povidone-iodine antisepsis for central venous catheter placement in neonates. J Perinatol. 2009;29:808-13. doi: 10.1038/jp.2009.161.

- 27. Guenezan J, Marjanovic N, Drugeon B, Neill RO, Liuu E, Roblot F et al. Chlorhexidine plus alcohol versus povidone iodine plus alcohol, combined or not with innovative devices, for prevention of short-term peripheral venous catheter infection and failure (CLEAN 3 study): an investigator-initiated, open-label, single centre, randomised-controlled, two-by-two factorial trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021;21:1038-48. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30738-6.
- 28. Kinoshita D, Hada S, Fujita R, Matsunaga N, Sakaki H, Ohki Y. Maximal sterile barrier precautions independently contribute to decreased central line-associated bloodstream infection in very low birth weight infants: A prospective multicenter observational study. Am J Infect Control. 2019;47:1365-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2019.05.006.
- 29. LeBlanc A, Cobbett S. Traditional practice versus evidence-based practice for IV skin preparation. Can J Infect Control. 2000;15:9-14.
- Myaneh ZT, Abdollahi F, Taher Harikandeie SS, Kamipoor Z. Chlorhexidine or povidone-iodine and alcohol: A pilot study for evaluating the incidence of phlebitis in neonates. J Neonatal Nurs. 2023;29:105-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jnn.2022.03.003.
- **31.** Hamed S, Nezarali M, Ebrahim Ebrahimi T, Enayatollah S, Somayeh J. Comparison of the effects of alcohol, chlorhexidine and alcohol-chlorhexidine on local catheter-related infections rate: a double-blind clinical trial study. Med Surgic Nurs J. 2018;7:1-6. doi: 10.5812/msnj.85962.
- Maunoury F, Farinetto C, Ruckly S, Guenezan J, Lucet JC, Lepape A et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of chlorhexidine-alcohol versus povidone iodine-alcohol solution in the prevention of intravascular-catheter-related bloodstream infections in France. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0197747. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197747.
- 33. Casanova-Vivas S, Micó-Esparza JL, García-Abad I, Hevilla-Cucarella EB, Ballestar-Tarin ML, Blasco JM et al. Training, management, and quality of nursing care of vascular access in adult patients: The INCATIV project. J Vasc Access. 2023;24:948-56. doi: 10.1177/11297298211059322.
- 34. Balachander B, Rajesh D, Pinto BV, Stevens S, Rao Pn S. Simulation training to improve aseptic non-touch technique and success during intravenous cannulation-effect on hospital-acquired blood stream infection and knowledge retention after 6 months: The snowball effect theory. J Vasc Access. 2021;22:353-8. doi: 10.1177/1129729820938202.
- **35.** Bozaan D, Skicki D, Brancaccio A, Snyder A, Friebe S, Tupps M et al. Less lumens-less risk: a pilot intervention to increase the use of single-lumen peripherally inserted central catheters. J Hosp Med. 2019;14:42-6. doi: 10.12788/jhm.3097.
- **36.** Kun C, Yan J, Suwen X, Yan L, Li X, Min S et al. Effect of specialty training on nursing staff's KAP on PICC and catheter maintenance. Biomed Res (India). 2017;28:9144-7
- Larson E, Hargiss C. A decentralized approach to maintenance of intravenous therapy. Am J Infect Control. 1984;12:177-86
- Purran A, Weller G, Kerr C. Evaluation of a PICC care training programme. Nurs Standard. 2016;30:45-50. doi: 10.7748/ns.30.20.45.s47.
- Romeo M, Sulochana B, Nayak MG. Effectiveness of a comprehensive nurse-patient strategy in care of patients with PIVC and its clinical outcomes. Ind J Public Health Res Develop. 2020;11:532-7. doi: 10.37506/v11/i2/2020/ijphrd/194859.

- **40.** Walters B, Price C. Quality Improvement initiative reduces the occurrence of complications in peripherally inserted central catheters. J Infus Nurs. 2019;42:29-36. doi: 10.1097/NAN.00000000000310.
- **41.** Zhang J, Tang S, He L, Chen W, Jiang P, Hu Y et al. [Effect of standardized PICC training and management on the clinical effect and complication of catheterization]. Zhong Nan da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban [J Centr South Univ Med Sci]. 2014;39:638-43. doi: 10.11817/j.issn.1672-7347.2014.06.015.
- **42.** Schults JA, Calleja P, Slaughter E, Paterson R, Rickard CM, Booker C et al. Peripheral intravenous catheter insertion and use of ultrasound in patients with difficult intravenous access: Australian patient and practitioner perspectives to inform future implementation strategies. PLoS One. 2022;17:e0269788. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0269788.
- **43.** Marsh N, Webster J, Larsen E, Genzel J, Cooke M, Mihala G et al. Expert versus generalist inserters for peripheral intravenous catheter insertion: a pilot randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2018;19:564. doi: 10.1186/s13063-018-2946-3.
- 44. Cooke M, Ullman AJ, Ray-Barruel G, Wallis M, Corley A, Rickard CM. Not "just" an intravenous line: Consumer perspectives on peripheral intravenous cannulation (PIVC). An international cross-sectional survey of 25 countries. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0193436. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0193436.
- **45.** Hirschmann H, Fux L, Podusel J, Schindler K, Kundi M, Rotter M et al. The influence of hand hygiene prior to insertion of peripheral venous catheters on the frequency of complications. J Hosp Infect. 2001;49:199-203. doi: 10.1053/jhin.2001.1077.
- Kaufman DA, Blackman A, Conaway MR, Sinkin RA. Nonsterile glove use in addition to hand hygiene to prevent late-onset infection in preterm infants: randomized clinical trial. JAMA Pediatr. 2014;168:909-16. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.953.
- **47.** Penney-Timmons E. Decreased costs/improved outcomes with standardized intravenous equipment. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2005;10:20-3.
- **48.** Adhikari S, Blaivas M, Morrison D, Lander L. Comparison of infection rates among ultrasoundguided versus traditionally placed peripheral intravenous lines. J Ultrasound Med. 2010;29:741-7. doi: 10.7863/jum.2010.29.5.741.
- **49.** Avelar AF, Peterlini MA, da Luz Goncalves Pedreira M. Ultrasonography-guided peripheral intravenous access in children: a randomized controlled trial. J Infus Nurs. 2015;38:320-7. doi: 10.1097/NAN.00000000000126.
- **50.** Barber JM, Booth DM, King JA, Chakraverty S. A nurse led peripherally inserted central catheter line insertion service is effective with radiological support. Clin Radiol. 2002;57:352-4. doi: 10.1053/crad.2001.0843.
- **51.** Bauman M, Braude D, Crandall C. Ultrasound-guidance vs. standard technique in difficult vascular access patients by ED technicians. Am J Emerg Med. 2009;27:135-40. doi: 10.1016/j. ajem.2008.02.005.
- **52.** Bridey C, Thilly N, Lefevre T, Maire-Richard A, Morel M, Levy B et al. Ultrasound-guided versus landmark approach for peripheral intravenous access by critical care nurses: a randomised controlled study. BMJ Open. 2018;8:e020220. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020220.

- 53. Chen MH, Hwang WL, Chang KH, Chiang LCJ, Teng CLJ. Application of peripherally inserted central catheter in acute myeloid leukaemia patients undergoing induction chemotherapy. Europ J Cancer Care. 2017;26. doi: 10.1111/ecc.12627.
- 54. Desai K, Vinograd AM, Abbadessa MKF, Chen AE. Longevity and complication rates of ultrasound guided versus traditional peripheral intravenous catheters in a pediatric emergency department. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2018;23:149-54. doi: 10.1016/j.java.2018.06.002.
- 55. Gong P, Huang XE, Chen CY, Liu JH, Meng AF, Feng JF. Comparison of complications of peripherally inserted central catheters with ultrasound guidance or conventional methods in cancer patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Preven. 2012;13:1873-5. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2012.13.5.1873.
- **56.** Hanada S, Van Winkle MT, Subramani S, Ueda K. Dynamic ultrasound-guided short-axis needle tip navigation technique vs. landmark technique for difficult saphenous vein access in children: a randomised study. Anaesthesia. 2017;72:1508-15. doi: 10.1111/anae.14082.
- 57. Li J, Fan YY, Xin MZ, Yan J, Hu W, Huang WH et al. A randomised, controlled trial comparing the long-term effects of peripherally inserted central catheter placement in chemotherapy patients using B-mode ultrasound with modified Seldinger technique versus blind puncture. Europ J Oncol Nurs. 2014;18:94-103. doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2013.08.003.
- McCarthy ML, Shokoohi H, Boniface KS, Eggelton R, Lowey A, Lim K et al. Ultrasonography versus landmark for peripheral intravenous cannulation: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Emerg Med. 2016;68:10-8. doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2015.09.009.
- 59. Qi YZ, Guo Y, Xu XX, Zhang H, Li L. Comparison of placement of peripherally inserted central catheters using vascular ultrasound guidance system and traditional method in 938 tumor patients. Chin J Clin Nutr. 2012;20:253-5. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1674-635X.2012.04.014.
- **60.** Rodriguez-Herrera A, Solaz-Garcia A, Molla-Olmos E, Ferrer-Puchol D, Esteve-Claramunt F, Trujillo-Barbera S et al. Use of the ultrasound technique as compared to the standard technique for the improvement of venous cannulation in patients with difficult access. Healthcare. 2022;10:29. doi: 10.3390/healthcare10020261.
- **61.** Sengul T, Acaroğlu R. Effectiveness of using ultrasonography in peripheral intravenous catheter application. J Educ Res Nurs. 2022;19:167-73 (<u>https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-02415435/full</u>).
- Stokowski G, Steele D, Wilson D. The use of ultrasound to improve practice and reduce complication rates in peripherally inserted central catheter insertions: final report of investigation. J Infus Nurs. 2009;32:145-55. doi: 10.1097/NAN.0b013e3181a1a98f.
- Tan J, Liu L, Xie J, Hu L, Yang Q, Wang H. Cost-effectiveness analysis of ultrasound-guided Seldinger peripherally inserted central catheters (PICC). Springerplus. 2016;5:2051. doi: 10.1186/ s40064-016-3698-8.
- **64.** Tang H, Xiang QF, Yu CH, Fu Y, Li JY. Vascular ultrasound combined with Seldinger technology improves the success rate of peripherally inserted central catheter and reduces potential complications. Chin J Clin Nutr. 2012;20:178-81. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1674-635X.2012.03.011.
- 65. Wang Q, Wang N, Sun Y. Clinical effect of peripherally inserted central catheters based on modified seldinger technique under guidance of vascular ultrasound. Pak J Med Sci. 2016;32:1179-83. doi: 10.12669/pjms.325.10384.

- Yin T, Huo Y, Zhao Y, Li W, Gao H. Retrospective study of the application value analysis of ultrasound-guided technology in peripheral deep venous catheterization of neonates. Dis Markers. 2022;2022:1726906. doi: 10.1155/2022/1726906.
- **67.** Yuan L, Fu R, Li RM, Guo MM, Chen XY. The effects of 3 peripherally inserted central catheter insertion techniques in Chinese patients with different vascular status. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2013;18:225-30. doi: 10.1016/j.java.2013.09.001.
- Zhang L, Zhang X, Kang Y, Teng Y, Yang Y. Application of PICC catheterization with modified Seldinger technique under the guidance of B-mode ultrasound in chemotherapy patients. Anti-Tumor Pharm. 2019;9:779-82. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.2095-1264.2019.05.16.
- **69.** Weiner SG, Sarff AR, Esener DE, Shroff SD, Budhram GR, Switkowski KM et al. Single-operator ultrasound-guided intravenous line placement by emergency nurses reduces the need for physician intervention in patients with difficult-to-establish intravenous access. J Emerg Med. 2013;44:653-60. doi: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2012.08.021.
- **70.** Stein J, George B, River G, Hebig A, McDermott D. Ultrasonographically guided peripheral intravenous cannulation in emergency department patients with difficult intravenous access: a randomized trial. Ann Emerg Med. 2009;54:33-40. doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2008.07.048.
- **71.** Costantino TG, Parikh AK, Satz WA, Fojtik JP. Ultrasonography-guided peripheral intravenous access versus traditional approaches in patients with difficult intravenous access. Ann Emerg Med. 2005;46:456-61. doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2004.12.026.
- 72. Ni Chroinin D, Ray-Barruel G, Carr PJ, Frost SA, Rickard CM, Mifflin N et al. The burden of peripheral intravenous catheters in older hospital inpatients: A national cross-sectional study part of the ONE MILLION GLOBAL PERIPHERAL INTRAVENOUS CATHETERS COLLABORATION. Australas J Ageing. 2023;42:98-107. doi: 10.1111/ajag.13068.
- **73.** de Paula Magerote N, de Melo Lima MH, Bastoni Silva J, Lopes Correia MD, Secoli SR. Associaeco entre flebite e retirada de cateteres intravenosos periforicos. Texto Contexto Enfermagem. 2011;20:286-92. doi: 10.1590/S0104-07072011000300009.
- 74. DeVries M, Strimbu K. Short peripheral catheter performance following adoption of clinical indication removal. J Infus Nurs. 2019;42:81-90. doi: 10.1097/NAN.00000000000318.
- **75.** Kagel EM, Rayan GM. Intravenous catheter complications in the hand and forearm. J Trauma. 2004;56:123-7. doi: 10.1097/01.TA.0000058126.72962.74.
- **76.** Kishihara Y, Yasuda H, Moriya T, Kashiura M, Koike M, Kotani Y et al. A study of the risk factors for phlebitis in patients stratified using the acute physiology and chronic health evaluation II score and admitted to the intensive care unit: A post hoc analysis of the AMOR-VENUS study. Front Med. 2022;9:965706. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.965706.
- 77. Malyon L, Ullman AJ, Phillips N, Young J, Kleidon T, Murfield J et al. Peripheral intravenous catheter duration and failure in paediatric acute care: A prospective cohort study. Emerg Med Australas. 2014;26:602-8. doi: 10.1111/1742-6723.12305.
- **78.** Murayama R, Takahashi T, Tanabe H, Yabunaka K, Oe M, Komiyama C et al. Exploring the causes of peripheral intravenous catheter failure based on shape of catheters removed from various insertion sites. Drug Discov Ther. 2018;12:170-7. doi: 10.5582/ddt.2018.01024.

- **79.** Pongruangporn M, Ajenjo MC, Russo AJ, McMullen KM, Robinson C, Williams RC et al. Patient- and device-specific risk factors for peripherally inserted central venous catheter-related bloodstream infections. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2013;34:184-9. doi: 10.1086/669083.
- **80.** Wallis MC, McGrail M, Webster J, Marsh N, Gowardman J, Playford EG et al. Risk factors for peripheral intravenous catheter failure: a multivariate analysis of data from a randomized controlled trial. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2014;35:63-8. doi: 10.1086/674398.
- Polak JF, Anderson D, Hagspiel K, Mungovan J. Peripherally inserted central venous catheters: factors affecting patient satisfaction. Am J Roentgenol. 1998;170:1609-11. doi: 10.2214/ ajr.170.6.9609182.
- Larsen E, Keogh S, Marsh N, Rickard C. Experiences of peripheral IV insertion in hospital: a qualitative study. Brit J Nurs. 2017;26:S18-S25. doi: 10.12968/bjon.2017.26.19.S18.
- Aggarwal R, Downe L. Use of percutaneous silastic central venous catheters in the management of newborn infants. Ind Pediatr. 2001;38:889-92.
- 84. Bashir RA, Swarnam K, Vayalthrikkovil S, Yee W, Soraisham AS. Association between peripherally inserted central venous catheter insertion site and complication rates in preterm infants. Am J Perinatol. 2016;33:945-50. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1582127.
- **85.** Benaya A, Schwartz Y, Kory R, Yinnon AM, Ben-Chetrit E. Relative incidence of phlebitis associated with peripheral intravenous catheters in the lower versus upper extremities. Europ J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2015;34:913-6. doi: 10.1007/s10096-014-2304-7.
- Bulbul A, Okan F, Nuhoglu A. Percutaneously inserted central catheters in the newborns: a center's experience in Turkey. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2010;23:529-35. doi: 10.3109/14767050903214582.
- 87. Callejas A, Osiovich H, Ting JY. Use of peripherally inserted central catheters (PICC) via scalp veins in neonates. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;29:3434-8. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2016.1139567.
- 88. Danski MT, Mingorance P, Johann DA, Vayego SA, Lind J. Incidencia de complicacoes locais e fatores de risco associados ao cateter intravenoso periferico em neonates [Incidence of local complications and risk factors associated with peripheral intravenous catheter in neonates]. Rev Esc Enferm Usp. 2016;50:22-8. doi: 10.1590/S0080-623420160000100003.
- Elmekkawi A, Maulidi H, Mak W, Aziz A, Lee KS. Outcomes of upper extremity versus lower extremity placed peripherally inserted central catheters in a medical-surgical neonatal intensive care unit. J Neonatal Perinatal Med. 2019;12:57-63. doi: 10.3233/NPM-1817.
- **90.** Gai M, Wang Y, Chen J, Tang W, Jiang W, Li W et al. Effect of femoral PICC line insertion in neonates with digestive tract disease. Am J Transl Res. 2022;14:7487-93.
- **91.** Hoang V, Sills J, Chandler M, Busalani E, Clifton-Koeppel R, Modanlou HD. Percutaneously inserted central catheter for total parenteral nutrition in neonates: complications rates related to upper versus lower extremity insertion. Pediatrics. 2008;121:e1152-9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1962.
- **92.** Hu Y, Ling Y, Ye Y, Zhang L, Xia X, Jiang Q et al. Analysis of risk factors of PICC-related bloodstream infection in newborns: implications for nursing care. Europ J Med Res. 2021;26. doi: 10.1186/ s40001-021-00546-2.

- **93.** Kisa P, Ting J, Callejas A, Osiovich H, Butterworth SA. Major thrombotic complications with lower limb PICCs in surgical neonates. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50:786-9. doi: 10.1016/j. jpedsurg.2015.02.043.
- **94.** López Sastre JB, Fernández Colomer B, Coto Cotallo GD, Ramos Aparicio A. Prospective evolution of percutaneous central venous silastic catherters in newborn infants. "castrillo" hospital group. An Esp Pediatr. 2000;53:138-47.
- **95.** Ma M, Garingo A, Jensen AR, Bliss D, Friedlich P. Complication risks associated with lower versus upper extremity peripherally inserted central venous catheters in neonates with gastroschisis. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50:556-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2014.08.026.
- 96. Malinoski D, Ewing T, Bhakta A, Schutz R, Imayanagita B, Casas T et al. Which central venous catheters have the highest rate of catheter-associated deep venous thrombosis: a prospective analysis of 2,128 catheter days in the surgical intensive care unit. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2013;74:454-60; discussion 61-2. doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e31827a0b2f.
- 97. Padilla-Sanchez C, Montejano-Lozoya R, Benavent-Taengua L, Monedero-Valero A, Borras-Vano MJ, Angel-Selfa MJ et al. Factores de riesgo asociados a eventos adversos en recien nacidos portadores de cateteres centrales de insercion periferica Risk factors associated with adverse events in neonates with peripherally inserted central catheter. Enferm Intensiva (Engl. Ed.). S2019;30:170-80. doi: 10.1016/j.enfi.2018.10.006.
- **98.** Pet GC, Eickhoff JC, McNevin KE, Do J, McAdams RM. Risk factors for peripherally inserted central catheter complications in neonates. J Perinatol. 2020;40:581-8. doi: 10.1038/s41372-019-0575-7.
- **99.** Salgueiro-Oliveira A, Parreira P. Incidence of phlebitis in patients with peripheral intravenous catheters: the influence of some risk factors. Austr J Adv Nurs. 2012;30:32-9.
- 100. Tsai MH, Lien R, Wang JW, Huang HR, Chiang CC, Chu SM et al. Complication rates with central venous catheters inserted at femoral and non-femoral sites in very low birth weight infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2009;28:966-70. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e3181aa3a29.
- 101. Wrightson DD. Peripherally inserted central catheter complications in neonates with upper versus lower extremity insertion sites. Adv Neonatal Care. 2013;13:198-204. doi: 10.1097/ ANC.0b013e31827e1d01.
- 102. Tseng JH, Elaine Chen YF, Chang SP, Wang HC, Kuo YT. Factors affecting the patency and complications of peripheral intravenous catheters in newborns. Pediatr Neonatol. 2023;64:239-46. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2022.07.011.
- 103. Lee WL, Chen HL, Tsai TY, Lai IC, Chang WC, Huang CH et al. Risk factors for peripheral intravenous catheter infection in hospitalized patients: a prospective study of 3165 patients. Am J Infect Control. 2009;37:683-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2009.02.009.
- **104.** Almonte R, Patole S, Muller R, Whitehall J. Comparison of two methods of taping peripheral intravenous cannulas. Ind Pediatr. 1999;36:494-8.
- 105. Callaghan S, Copnell B, Johnston L. Comparison of two methods of peripheral intravenous cannula securement in the pediatric setting. J Infus Nurs. 2002;25:256-64. doi: 10.1097/00129804-200207000-00009.

- 106. Chico-Padron RM, Carrion-Garcia L, Delle-Vedove-Rosales L, Gonzalez-Vargas CS, Marrero-Perera M, Medina-Chico S et al. Comparative safety and costs of transparent versus gauze wound dressings in intravenous catheterization. J Nurs Care Qual. 2011;26:371-6. doi: 10.1097/ NCQ.0b013e318210741b.
- 107. Craven DE, Lichtenberg DA, Kunches LM, McDonough AT, Gonzalez MI, Heeren TC et al. A randomized study comparing a transparent polyurethane dressing to a dry gauze dressing for peripheral intravenous catheter sites. Infect Control. 1985;6:361-6. doi: 10.1017/s0195941700063323.
- **108.** Downing JW, Charles KK. Intravenous cannula fixing and dressing--comparison between the use of transparent polyurethane dressing and conventional technique. S Afr Med J. 1987;72:191-2.
- 109. Hoffmann KK, Western SA, Kaiser DL, Wenzel RP, Groschel DH. Bacterial colonization and phlebitisassociated risk with transparent polyurethane film for peripheral intravenous site dressings. Am J Infect Control. 1988;16:101-6. doi: 10.1016/0196-6553(88)90046-6.
- Kelsey MC, Gosling M. A comparison of the morbidity associated with occlusive and nonocclusive dressings applied to peripheral intravenous devices. J Hosp Infect. 1984;5:313-21. doi: 10.1016/0195-6701(84)90081-1.
- Littenberg B, Thompson L. Gauze vs. plastic for peripheral intravenous dressings: testing a new technology. J Gen Inter Med. 1987;2:411-4. doi: 10.1007/BF02596369.
- **112.** Machado AF, Pedreira Mda L, Chaud MN. Adverse events related to the use of peripheral intravenous catheters in children according to dressing regimens. Rev Lat Am Enfermagen. 2008;16:362-7. doi: 10.1590/s0104-11692008000300005.
- **113.** Madeo M, Martin C, Nobbs A. A randomized study comparing IV 3000 (transparent polyurethane dressing) to a dry gauze dressing for peripheral intravenous catheter sites. J Intraven Nurs. 1997;20:253-6.
- **114.** Maki DG, Ringer M. Evaluation of dressing regimens for prevention of infection with peripheral intravenous catheters. Gauze, a transparent polyurethane dressing, and an iodophor-transparent dressing. JAMA. 1987;258:2396-403.
- 115. Meylan PR. Risque accru de colonisation bacterienne des catheters intraveineux recouverts de pansements transparents adhesifs en polyurethane, compare aux pansements classiques en gaze [Increased risk of bacterial colonization of intravenous catheters covered with transparent adhesive polyurethane bandages, compared to classical gauze bandages]. Schweiz Med Wochenschr. 1987;117:2013-6.
- **116.** Peterson PJ, Freeman PT. Use of a transparent polyurethane dressing for peripheral intravenous catheter care. NITA. 1982;5:387-90.
- Popovsky MA, Ilstrup DM. Randomized clinical trial of transparent polyurethane I.V. dressings. NITA. 1986;9:107-10.
- 118. San Martin Rodriguez L, Henriquez Azcona A, Tina Majuelo P. Comparacion de un aposito transparente y otro de gasa [Comparison of a transparent dressing with gauze. Venous blood vessel maintenance]. Rev Enferm. 2002;25:12-6.

- **119.** Tripepi-Bova KA, Woods KD, Loach MC. A comparison of transparent polyurethane and dry gauze dressings for peripheral i.v. catheter sites: rates of phlebitis, infiltration, and dislodgment by patients. Am J Crit Care. 1997;6:377-81.
- 120. VandenBosch TM, Cooch J, Treston-Aurand J. Research utilization: adhesive bandage dressing regimen for peripheral venous catheters. Am J Infect Control. 1997;25:513-9. doi: 10.1016/s0196-6553(97)90073-0.
- 121. Arredondo N, Humston M, Spooner McCraven S, Shields J, Palacios L, Pavelka J et al. A WIN for safety and efficacy: evaluation of developmental WINguide and hybrid guide for wire-in-needle peripherally inserted central line catheter (PICC) cannulation. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2021;26:24-31. doi: 10.2309/java-d-20-00014.
- **122.** Salles FT, Santos VL, Secoli SR, Aron S, Debbio CB, Baptista CC et al. A comparison and costeffectiveness analysis of peripheral catheter dressings. Ostomy Wound Manage. 2007;53:26-33.
- 123. Ni Chroinin D, Ray-Barruel G, Carr PJ, Frost SA, Rickard CM, Mifflin N et al. The burden of peripheral intravenous catheters in older hospital inpatients: A national cross-sectional study part of the ONE MILLION GLOBAL PERIPHERAL INTRAVENOUS CATHETERS COLLABORATION. Australas J Ageing. 2022;05:05. doi: 10.1111/ajag.13068.
- 124. da Silva GA, Priebe S, Dias FN. Benefits of establishing an intravenous team and the standardization of peripheral intravenous catheters. J Infus Nurs. 2010;33:156-60. doi: 10.1097/ NAN.0b013e3181d9c942.
- 125. Levit O, Shabanova V, Bizzarro M. Impact of a dedicated nursing team on central line-related complications in neonatal intensive care unit. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2020;33:2618-22. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2018.1555814.
- 126. Meier PA, Fredrickson M, Catney M, Nettleman MD. Impact of a dedicated intravenous therapy team on nosocomial bloodstream infection rates. Am J Infect Control. 1998;26:388-92. doi: 10.1016/s0196-6553(98)70033-1
- 127. Pitts S. Retrospective analysis of a pediatric vascular access program and clinical outcomes. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2013;18:114-20. doi: 10.1016/j.java.2013.04.001.
- **128.** Scalley RD, Van CS, Cochran RS. The impact of an I.V. team on the occurrence of intravenous-related phlebitis: a 30-month study. J Intraven Nurs. 1992;15:100-9.
- 129. Soifer NE, Borzak S, Edlin BR, Weinstein RA. Prevention of peripheral venous catheter complications with an intravenous therapy team: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Int Med. 1998;158:473-7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.158.5.473.
- **130.** Tomford JW, Hershey CO, McLaren CE, Porter DK, Cohen DI. Intravenous therapy team and peripheral venous catheter-associated complications. A prospective controlled study. Arch Int Med. 1984;144:1191-4.
- Trent BA. The effects of utilization of an I.V. therapy team upon the incidence of I.V. peripheralassociated phlebitis. NITA. 1984;7:295-306.

- 132. Yongshu LIU, Ting S, Lan S, Min Y, Zhifang FAN, Yuelan MA et al. Evaluation of PICC team in prevention of peripherally inserted central catheter-related mechanical phlebitis among verylow-birth-weight premature infants. Nurs Integr Trad Chin West Med. 2019;5:5-8. doi: 10.11997/ nitcwm.201906002.
- **133.** Martínez ML, Plata-Menchaca EP, Ruiz-Rodríguez JC, Ferrer R. An approach to antibiotic treatment in patients with sepsis. J Thorac Dis. 2020;12:1007-21. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2020.01.47.
- 134. Fujioka G, Newcomb P, Hunchusky C, Myers H, Behan D. Pain perception of a structured vascular access team approach to short peripheral catheter (SPC) placement compared to SPC placement by bedside nurses. J Infus Nurs. 2020;43:33-8. doi: 10.1097/NAN.00000000000352.
- **135.** Ballantyne M, McNair C, Ung E, Gibbins S, Stevens B. A randomized controlled trial evaluating the efficacy of tetracaine gel for pain relief from peripherally inserted central catheters in infants. Adv Neonatal Care. 2003;3:297-307. doi: 10.1016/j.adnc.2003.09.006.
- 136. Fein JA, Boardman CR, Stevenson S, Selbst SM. Saline with benzyl alcohol as intradermal anesthesia for intravenous line placement in children. Pediatr Emerg Care. 1998;14:119-22. doi: 10.1097/00006565-199804000-00008.
- 137. Lemyre B, Sherlock R, Hogan D, Gaboury I, Blanchard C, Moher D. How effective is tetracaine 4% gel, before a peripherally inserted central catheter, in reducing procedural pain in infants: a randomized double-blind placebo controlled trial [ISRCTN75884221]. BMC Med. 2006;4:11. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-4-11.
- 138. Schreiber S, Ronfani L, Chiaffoni GP, Matarazzo L, Minute M, Panontin E et al. Does EMLA cream application interfere with the success of venipuncture or venous cannulation? A prospective multicenter observational study. Europ J Pediatr. 2013;172:265-8. doi: 10.1007/s00431-012-1866-6.
- 139. Taddio A, Soin HK, Schuh S, Koren G, Scolnik D. Liposomal lidocaine to improve procedural success rates and reduce procedural pain among children: a randomized controlled trial. Can Med Assoc J. 2005;172:1691-5. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.045316.
- **140.** Teillol-Foo WL, Kassab JY. Topical glyceryl trinitrate and eutectic mixture of local anaesthetics in children. A randomised controlled trial on choice of site and ease of venous cannulation. Anaesthesia. 1991;46:881-4. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.1991.tb09610.x.
- 141. Zempsky WT, Bean-Lijewski J, Kauffman RE, Koh JL, Malviya SV, Rose JB et al. Needle-free powder lidocaine delivery system provides rapid effective analgesia for venipuncture or cannulation pain in children: randomized, double-blind comparison of venipuncture and venous cannulation pain after fast-onset needle-free powder lidocaine or placebo treatment trial. Pediatrics. 2008;121:979-87. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-0814.
- 142. Zhang M, Lee M, Knott S. Is clinical performance adversely affected by wearing gloves during paediatric peripheral intravenous cannulation? Emerg Med Australas. 2014;26:455-60. doi: 10.1111/1742-6723.12277.
- 143. Papa A, Zempsky W. Nurse Perceptions of the impact of pediatric peripheral venous access pain on nurse and patient satisfaction: results of a national durvey. Adv Emerg Nurs J. 2010;32:226-33. doi: 10.1097/TME.0b013e3181e96888.

- 144. Webb AA. Methods of intravenous therapy in preterm infants to compare the scalp vein needle to the teflon catheter. Issues Comprehen Pediatr Nurs. 1987;10:215-21. doi: 10.3109/01460868709094378.
- 145. Hoff R, Vervisch K, De Coen K, Smets K. Continuous infusion vs. intermittent flushing of peripheral cannulas in neonates using a needleless connector: a prospective cohort study. J Perinatal Med. 2019;47:464-9. doi: 10.1515/jpm-2018-0285.
- **146.** Kalyn A, Blatz S, Pinelli J. A comparison of continuous infusion and intermittent flushing methods in peripheral intravenous catheters in neonates. J Intraven Nurs. 2000;23:146-53.
- 147. Perez A, Feuz I, Brotschi B, Bernet V. Intermittent flushing improves cannula patency compared to continuous infusion for peripherally inserted venous catheters in newborns: results from a prospective observational study. J Perinat Med. 2012;40:311-4. doi: 10.1515/jpm-2011-1000.
- **148.** Stok D, Wieringa JW. Continuous infusion versus intermittent flushing: maintaining peripheral intravenous access in newborn infants. J Perinatol. 2016;36:870-3. doi: 10.1038/jp.2016.94.
- 149. Tseng JH, Elaine Chen YF, Chang SP, Wang HC, Kuo YT. Factors affecting the patency and complications of peripheral intravenous catheters in newborns. Pediatr Neonatol. 2022;30:30. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2022.07.011.
- 150. Witkowski MC, Moraes MA, Firpo CM. Lack of difference between continuous versus intermittent heparin infusion on maintenance of intra-arterial catheter in postoperative pediatric surgery: a randomized controlled study. Rev Paul Pediatr. 2013;31:516-22. doi: 10.1590/S0103-05822013000400015.
- 151. Yeung F, Miller MR, Ojha R, McKelvie B, Poonai N, Bock DE et al. Saline-lock versus continuous infusion: maintaining peripheral intravenous catheter access in children. Hosp Pediatr. 2020;10:1038-43. doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2020-0137.
- 152. Araujo OR, Araujo MC, Silva JS, Barros MM. Heparina intermitente nao e eficaz em impedir a retirada por obstrucao de cateteres centrais inseridos perifericamente em recem-nascidos de termo e prematuros Intermittent heparin is not effective at preventing the occlusion of peripherally inserted central venous catheters in preterm and term neonates. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva. 2011;23:335-40.
- 153. Arnts IJ, Heijnen JA, Wilbers HT, van der Wilt GJ, Groenewoud JM, Liem KD. Effectiveness of heparin solution versus normal saline in maintaining patency of intravenous locks in neonates: a double blind randomized controlled study. J Adv Nurs. 2011;67:2677-85. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05718.x.
- 154. Bertolino G, Pitassi A, Tinelli C, Staniscia A, Guglielmana B, Scudeller L et al. Intermittent flushing with heparin versus saline for maintenance of peripheral intravenous catheters in a medical department: a pragmatic cluster-randomized controlled study. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs. 2012;9:221-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6787.2012.00244.x.
- 155. Bowers L, Speroni KG, Jones L, Atherton M. Comparison of occlusion rates by flushing solutions for peripherally inserted central catheters with positive pressure Luer-activated devices. J Infus Nurs. 2008;31:22-7. doi: 10.1097/01.NAN.0000308542.90615.c2.
- **156.** Brown K, Tay-Uyboco JS, McMillan DD. Heparin is not required for peripheral intravenous locks in neonates. Paediatr Child Health. 1999;4:39-42. doi: 10.1093/pch/4.1.39.

- 157. Cook L, Bellini S, Cusson RM. Heparinized saline vs normal saline for maintenance of intravenous access in neonates: an evidence-based practice change. Adv Neonatal Care. 2011;11:208-15. doi: 10.1097/ANC.0b013e31821bab61.
- **158.** Fujita T, Namiki T, Suzuki T, Yamamoto E. Normal saline flushing for maintenance of peripheral intravenous sites. J Clin Nurs. 2006;15:103-4. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2005.01238.x.
- **159.** Geritz MA. Saline versus heparin in intermittent infuser patency maintenance. West J Nurs Res. 1992;14:131-7; discussion 7-41. doi: 10.1177/019394599201400202.
- 160. Gyr P, Burroughs T, Smith K, Mahl C, Pontious S, Swerczek L. Double blind comparison of heparin and saline flush solutions in maintenance of peripheral infusion devices. Pediatr Nurs. 1995;21:383-9, 66.
- **161.** Hanrahan KS, Kleiber C, Berends S. Saline for peripheral intravenous locks in neonates: evaluating a change in practice. Neonatal Netw. 2000;19:19-24. doi: 10.1891/0730-0832.19.2.19.
- 162. Heilskov J, Kleiber C, Johnson K, Miller J. A randomized trial of heparin and saline for maintaining intravenous locks in neonates. J Soc Pediatr Nurses. 1998;3:111-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6155.1998. tb00216.x.
- 163. Jonker MA, Osterby KR, Vermeulen LC, Kleppin SM, Kudsk KA. Does low-dose heparin maintain central venous access device patency?: a comparison of heparin versus saline during a period of heparin shortage. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2010;34:444-9. doi: 10.1177/0148607110362082.
- 164. Kleiber C, Hanrahan K, Fagan CL, Zittergruen MA. Heparin vs. saline for peripheral i.v. locks in children. Pediatr Nurs. 1993;19:405-9, 376.
- 165. LeDuc K. Efficacy of normal saline solution versus heparin solution for maintaining patency of peripheral intravenous catheters in children. J Emerg Nurs. 1997;23:306-9. doi: 10.1016/s0099-1767(97)90216-6.
- 166. Lombardi TP, Gundersen B, Zammett LO, Walters JK, Morris BA. Efficacy of 0.9% sodium chloride injection with or without heparin sodium for maintaining patency of intravenous catheters in children. Clin Pharm. 1988;7:832-6.
- 167. Lyons MG, Phalen AG. A randomized controlled comparison of flushing protocols in home care patients with peripherally inserted central catheters. J Infus Nurs. 2014;37:270-81. doi: 10.1097/ NAN.0000000000000050.
- 168. McMullen A, Fioravanti ID, Pollack V, Rideout K, Sciera M. Heparinized saline or normal saline as a flush solution in intermittent intravenous lines in infants and children. Am J Mater Child Nurs. 1993;18:78-85.
- **169.** Mendarte L, Aguas M, Pons M, Torres MD. Use of sodix heparin vs physiological serum in permeability of peripheral vias. Farm Hosp. 1997;21:222-6.
- 170. Meyer BA, Little CJ, Thorp JA, Cohen GR, Yeast JD. Heparin versus normal saline as a peripheral line flush in maintenance of intermittent intravenous lines in obstetric patients. Obstetr Gynecol. 1995;85:433-6. doi: 10.1016/0029-7844(94)00409-7.
- **171.** Mok E, Kwong TK, Chan MF. A randomized controlled trial for maintaining peripheral intravenous lock in children. Int J Nurs Pract. 2007;13:33-45. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-172X.2006.00607.x.

- **172.** Mudge B, Forcier D, Slattery MJ. Patency of 24-gauge peripheral intermittent infusion devices: a comparison of heparin and saline flush solutions. Pediatr Nurs. 1998;24:142-5,9.
- 173. Myrianthefs P, Sifaki M, Samara I, Baltopoulos G. The epidemiology of peripheral vein complications: evaluation of the efficiency of differing methods for the maintenance of catheter patency and thrombophlebitis prevention. J Eval Clin Pract. 2005;11:85-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2753.2004.00494.x.
- 174. Niesen KM, Harris DY, Parkin LS, Henn LT. The effects of heparin versus normal saline for maintenance of peripheral intravenous locks in pregnant women. J Obstetr Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2003;32:503-8. doi: 10.1177/0884217503255203.
- **175.** Perez-Granda MJ, Bouza E, Pinilla B, Cruces R, Gonzalez A, Millan J et al. Randomized clinical trial analyzing maintenance of peripheral venous catheters in an internal medicine unit: Heparin vs. saline. PLoS One. 2020;15:e0226251. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226251.
- 176. Phulara U. Effectiveness of normal saline flush versus heparin saline flush in maintaining the patency of peripheral intravenous cannula and on occurrence of intravenous focal vascular complications in patients receiving intermittent intravenous medications. Nurs J India. 2018;109:51-5. doi: 10.48029/nji.2018.cix201.
- 177. Schultz AA, Drew D, Hewitt H. Comparison of normal saline and heparinized saline for patency of IV locks in neonates. Appl Nurs Res. 2002;15:28-34. doi: 10.1053/apnr.2002.29520.
- 178. Smith SN, Moureau N, Vaughn VM, Boldenow T, Kaatz S, Grant PJ et al. Patterns and predictors of peripherally inserted central catheter occlusion: the 3P-O study. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2017;28:749-56.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jvir.2017.02.005.
- 179. Upadhyay A, Verma KK, Lal P, Chawla D, Sreenivas V. Heparin for prolonging peripheral intravenous catheter use in neonates: a randomized controlled trial. J Perinatol. 2015;35:274-7. doi: 10.1038/jp.2014.203.
- 180. Wang R, Luo O, He L, Li JX, Zhang MG. Preservative-free 0.9% sodium chloride for flushing and locking peripheral intravenous access device: a prospective controlled trial. J Evid Based Med. 2012;5:205-8. doi: 10.1111/jebm.12004.
- 181. Wang R, Zhang MG, Luo O, He L, Li JX, Tang YJ et al. Heparin saline versus normal saline for flushing and locking peripheral venous catheters in decompensated liver cirrhosis patients: a randomized controlled trial. Medicine. 2015;94:e1292. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000001292.
- 182. White ML, Crawley J, Rennie EA, Lewandowski LA. Examining the effectiveness of 2 solutions used to flush capped pediatric peripheral intravenous catheters. J Infus Nurs. 2011;34:260-70. doi: 10.1097/NAN.0b013e31821da29a.
- 183. Xu L, Hu Y, Huang X, Fu J, Zhang J. Heparinized saline versus normal saline for maintaining peripheral venous catheter patency in China: An open-label, randomized controlled study. J Int Med Res. 2017;45:471-80. doi: 10.1177/0300060516685203.
- 184. Galang H, Hubbard-Wright C, Hahn DS, Yost G, Yoder L, Maduro RS et al. A randomized trial comparing outcomes of 3 types of peripheral intravenous catheters. J Nurs Care Qual. 2020;35:6-12. doi: 10.1097/NCQ.00000000000421.

- 185. Gonzalez Lopez JL, Arribi Vilela A, Fernandez del Palacio E, Olivares Corral J, Benedicto Marti C, Herrera Portal P. Indwell times, complications and costs of open vs closed safety peripheral intravenous catheters: a randomized study. J Hosp Infect. 2014;86:117-26. doi: 10.1016/j. jhin.2013.10.008.
- 186. Penoyer D, Fowler S, Bennett M. Evaluation of the use of open versus closed short peripheral catheters on catheter dwell time. J Infus Nurs. 2019;42:276-82. doi: 10.1097/ NAN.00000000000345.
- 187. Reiter PD, Novak K, Valuck RJ, Rosenberg AA, Fish D. Effect of a closed drug-delivery system on the incidence of nosocomial and catheter-related bloodstream infections in infants. Epidemiol Infect. 2006;134:285-91. doi: 10.1017/S0950268805004851.
- 188. Rickard CM, Larsen E, Walker RM, Mihala G, Byrnes J, Saiyed M et al. Integrated versus nonintegrated peripheral intravenous catheter in hospitalized adults (OPTIMUM): A randomized controlled trial. J Hosp Med. 2023;18:21-32. doi: 10.1002/jhm.12995.
- 189. Rundjan L, Rohsiswatmo R, Paramita TN, Oeswadi CA. Closed catheter access system implementation in reducing the bloodstream infection rate in low birth weight preterm infants. Front Pediatr. 2015;3:20. doi: 10.3389/fped.2015.00020.
- 190. Tamura N, Abe S, Hagimoto K, Kondo A, Matsuo A, Ozawa Y et al. Unfavorable peripheral intravenous catheter replacements can be reduced using an integrated closed intravenous catheter system. J Vasc Access. 2014;15:257-63. doi: 10.5301/jva.5000245.
- 191. Zerla PA, Canelli A, Caravella G, Gilardini A, De Luca G, Parini R et al. Open- vs closed-tip valved peripherally inserted central catheters and midlines: findings from a vascular access database. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2015;20:169-76. doi: 10.1016/j.java.2015.06.001.
- **192.** Barker P, Anderson AD, MacFie J. Randomised clinical trial of elective re-siting of intravenous cannulae. Ann Royal Coll Surg Engl. 2004;86:281-3. doi: 10.1308/147870804317.
- 193. Buetti N, Abbas M, Pittet D, de Kraker MEA, Teixeira D, Chraiti MN et al. Comparison of routine replacement with clinically indicated replacement of peripheral intravenous catheters. JAMA Int Med. 2021;181:1471-8. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.5345.
- 194. Chin LY, Walsh TA, Van Haltren K, Hayden L, Davies-Tuck M, Malhotra A. Elective replacement of intravenous cannula in neonates-a randomised trial. Europ J Pediatr. 2018;177:1719-26. doi: 10.1007/s00431-018-3234-7.
- 195. Li J, Ding Y, Lu Q, Jin S, Zhang P, Jiang Z et al. Routine replacement versus replacement as clinical indicated of peripheral intravenous catheters: A multisite randomised controlled trial. J Clin Nurs. 2022;31:2959-70. doi: 10.1111/jocn.16129.
- 196. Lin SW, Chen SC, Huang FY, Lee MY, Chang CC. Effects of a clinically indicated peripheral intravenous replacement on indwelling time and complications of peripheral intravenous catheters in pediatric patients: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18:05. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18073795.
- 197. Lu H, Yang Q, Nor HM, Lv Y, Zheng X, Xin X et al. The safety of clinically indicated replacement or routine replacement of peripheral intravenous catheters: A randomized controlled study. J Vasc Access. 2022;23:436-42. doi: 10.1177/1129729821998528.

- **198.** Lundgren A, Wahren LK, Ek AC. Peripheral intravenous lines: time in situ related to complications. J Intraven Nurs. 1996;19:229-38.
- **199.** Maier D. To replace or not to replace? Replacing dhort peripheral catheters based on clinical indication. J Infus Nurs. 2019;42:143-8. doi: 10.1097/NAN.00000000000322.
- **200.** McGuire R, Coronado A. Evaluation of clinically indicated removal versus routine replacement of peripheral vascular catheters. Br J Nurs. 2020;29:S10-S6. doi: 10.12968/bjon.2020.29.2.S10.
- 201. Nishanth S, Sivaram G, Kalayarasan R, Kate V, Ananthakrishnan N. Does elective re-siting of intravenous cannulae decrease peripheral thrombophlebitis? A randomized controlled study. Nat Med J India. 2009;22:60-2.
- 202. Rickard CM, McCann D, Munnings J, McGrail MR. Routine resite of peripheral intravenous devices every 3 days did not reduce complications compared with clinically indicated resite: a randomised controlled trial. BMC Med. 2010;8:53. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-8-53.
- 203. Rickard CM, Webster J, Wallis MC, Marsh N, McGrail MR, French V et al. Routine versus clinically indicated replacement of peripheral intravenous catheters: a randomised controlled equivalence trial. Lancet. 2012;380:1066-74. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61082-4.
- **204.** Van Donk P, Rickard CM, McGrail MR, Doolan G. Routine replacement versus clinical monitoring of peripheral intravenous catheters in a regional hospital in the home program: A randomized controlled trial. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2009;30:915-7. doi: 10.1086/599776.
- 205. Vendramim P, Avelar AFM, Rickard CM, Pedreira MdLG. The RESPECT trial-Replacement of peripheral intravenous catheters according to clinical reasons or every 96 hours: a randomized, controlled, non-inferiority trial. Int J Nurs Studd. 2020;107:103504. doi: 10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2019.103504.
- **206.** Webster J, Clarke S, Paterson D, Hutton A, van Dyk S, Gale C et al. Routine care of peripheral intravenous catheters versus clinically indicated replacement: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2008;337:a339. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a339.
- 207. Webster J, Lloyd S, Hopkins T, Osborne S, Yaxley M. Developing a Research base for Intravenous Peripheral cannula re-sites (DRIP trial). A randomised controlled trial of hospital in-patients. Int J Nurs Stud. 2007;44:664-71. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2006.02.003.
- **208.** Xu L, Hu Y, Huang X, Fu J, Zhang J. Clinically indicated replacement versus routine replacement of peripheral venous catheters in adults: A nonblinded, cluster-randomized trial in China. Int J Nurs Pract. 2017;23. doi: 10.1111/ijn.12595.
- 209. Al Raiy B, Fakih MG, Bryan-Nomides N, Hopfner D, Riegel E, Nenninger T et al. Peripherally inserted central venous catheters in the acute care setting: A safe alternative to high-risk short-term central venous catheters. Am J Infect Control. 2010;38:149-53. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2009.06.008.
- 210. Coyle D, Bloomgarden D, Beres R, Patel S, Sane S, Hurst E. Power injection of contrast media via peripherally inserted central catheters for CT. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2004;15:809-14. doi: 10.1097/01. RVI.0000128812.20864.EC.
- 211. Li F, Shen H, Wang M, Wang Y. Peripheral insertion of reverse-tapered and non-tapered central catheters (PICC) in patients receiving tumor chemotherapy. J Cancer Res Ther. 2021;17:1651-5. doi: 10.4103/jcrt.JCRT\_1353\_21.

- **212.** Liscynesky C, Johnston J, Haydocy KE, Stevenson KB. Prospective evaluation of peripherally inserted central catheter complications in both inpatient and outpatient settings. Am J Infect Control. 2017;45:1046-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2017.02.006.
- 213. McDiarmid S, Scrivens N, Carrier M, Sabri E, Toye B, Huebsch L et al. Outcomes in a nurseled peripherally inserted central catheter program: a retrospective cohort study. CMAJ Open. 2017;5:E535-E9. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20170010.
- 214. Rejane Rabelo-Silva E, Lourenco SA, Maestri RN, Candido da Luz C, Carlos Pupin V, Bauer Cechinel R et al. Patterns, appropriateness and outcomes of peripherally inserted central catheter use in Brazil: a multicentre study of 12 725 catheters. BMJ Qual Saf. 2022;31:652-61. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2021-013869.
- **215.** Barr DA, Semple L, Seaton RA. Self-administration of outpatient parenteral antibiotic therapy and risk of catheter-related adverse events: a retrospective cohort study. Europ J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012;31:2611-9. doi: 10.1007/s10096-012-1604-z.
- **216.** Bing S, Smotherman C, Rodriguez RG, Skarupa DJ, Ra JH, Crandall ML. PICC versus midlines: Comparison of peripherally inserted central catheters and midline catheters with respect to incidence of thromboembolic and infectious complications. Am J Surg. 2022;223:983-7. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2021.09.029.
- **217.** Caparas JV, Hu JP. Safe administration of vancomycin through a novel midline catheter: a randomized, prospective clinical trial. J Vasc Access. 2014;15:251-6. doi: 10.5301/jva.5000220.
- 218. Dickson HG, Flynn O, West D, Alexandrou E, Mifflin N, Malone M. A Cluster of failures of midline catheters in a hospital in the home program: a retrospective analysis. J Infus Nurs. 2019;42:203-8. doi: 10.1097/NAN.00000000000330.
- 219. Kleidon TM, Schults JA, Wainwright C, Mihala G, Gibson V, Saiyed M et al. Comparison of midline catheters and peripherally inserted central catheters to reduce the need for general anesthesia in children with respiratory disease: a feasibility randomized controlled trial. Paediatr Anaesth. 2021;31:985-95. doi: 10.1111/pan.14229.
- 220. Kostner R, Mairvongrasspeinten H, De Martin Polo A, Vittadello F, Ausserhofer D, Mantovan F. Arten und Haufigkeiten von Komplikationen bei Midline-Kathetern und PICCs in einem Sudtiroler Bezirkskrankenhaus eine retrospektive Kohortenstudie [Types and frequencies of complications associated with midline catheters and PICCs in a South Tyrolean district hospital: a retrospective cohort study]. Pflege. 2019;32:1-8. doi: 10.1024/1012-5302/a000654.
- 221. Seo H, Altshuler D, Dubrovskaya Y, Nunnally ME, Nunn C, Ello N et al. The safety of midline catheters for intravenous therapy at a large academic medical center. Ann Pharmacother. 2020;54:232-8. doi: 10.1177/1060028019878794.
- 222. Sharp R, Esterman A, McCutcheon H, Hearse N, Cummings M. The safety and efficacy of midlines compared to peripherally inserted central catheters for adult cystic fibrosis patients: a retrospective, observational study. Int J Nurs Stud 2014;51:694-702. doi: 10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2013.09.002.

- 223. Swaminathan L, Flanders S, Horowitz J, Zhang Q, O'Malley M, Chopra V. Safety and outcomes of midline catheters vs peripherally inserted central catheters for patients with short-term indications: a multicenter study. JAMA Int Med. 2022;182:50-8. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.6844.
- **224.** Tao F, Wang X, Liu J, Li J, Sui F. Perioperative application of midline catheter and PICC in Patients with gastrointestinal tumors. J BUON. 2019;24:2546-52.
- 225. Xu T, Kingsley L, DiNucci S, Messer G, Jeong JH, Morgan B et al. Safety and utilization of peripherally inserted central catheters versus midline catheters at a large academic medical center. Am J Infect Control. 2016;44:1458-61. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2016.09.010.
- **226.** A guide to the implementation of the WHO multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/70030</u>).
- **227.** WHO multimodal improvement strategy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (<u>https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/who-multimodal-improvement-strategy</u>).
- 228. Improving infection prevention and control at the health facility: interim practical manual supporting implementation of the WHO guidelines on core components of infection prevention and control programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/279788</u>).
- 229. Ahlqvist M, Bogren A, Hagman S, Nazar I, Nilsson K, Nordin K et al. Handling of peripheral intravenous cannulae: effects of evidence-based clinical guidelines. J Clin Nurs. 2006;15:1354-61. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2006.01403.x.
- 230. Alcock G, Liley HG, Cooke L, Gray PH. Prevention of neonatal late-onset sepsis: a randomised controlled trial. BMC Pediatr. 2017;17:98. doi: 10.1186/s12887-017-0855-3.
- 231. Andersen C, Hart J, Vemgal P, Harrison C. Prospective evaluation of a multi-factorial prevention strategy on the impact of nosocomial infection in very-low-birthweight infants. J Hosp Infect. 2005;61:162-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2005.02.002.
- 232. Bhatt CR, Meek R, Martin C, Stuart RL, Lim Z, Bumpstead S et al. Effect of multimodal interventions on peripheral intravenous catheter-associated Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia and insertion rates: An interrupted time-series analysis. Acad Emerg Med. 2021;28:909-12. doi: 10.1111/ acem.14225.
- 233. Blanco-Mavillard I, de Pedro-Gomez JE, Rodriguez-Calero MA, Bennasar-Veny M, Parra-Garcia G, Fernandez-Fernandez I et al. Multimodal intervention for preventing peripheral intravenous catheter failure in adults (PREBACP): a multicentre, cluster-randomised, controlled trial. Lancet Haematol. 2021;8:e637-e47. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(21)00206-4.
- **234.** Chiu PC, Lee YH, Hsu HT, Feng YT, Lu IC, Chiu SL et al. Establish a perioperative check forum for peripheral intravenous access to prevent the occurrence of phlebitis. Kaohsiung J Med Sci. 2015;31:215-21. doi: 10.1016/j.kjms.2015.01.007.
- **235.** Cho YH, Yen LL, Yu KL, Chang CC, Chen HL. [Reducing the incidence of phlebitis related to intravenous injection in pediatric patients]. Hu Li Za Zhi. 2015;62:49-57. doi: 10.6224/JN.62.3S.49.

- 236. Cobo-Sánchez JL, Moya-Mier S, González-Menéndez F, Renedo-González C, Lázaro-Otero M, Pelayo-Alonso R. Formación en una estrategia multimodal sobre el cuidado de los catéteres venosos periféricos: impacto en la preservación del árbol vascular de pacientes de una unidad de nefrología. Enferm Nefrol. 2019;22:421-6. doi: 10.4321/S2254-28842019000400009.
- 237. Corley A, Ullman AJ, Marsh N, Genzel J, Larsen EN, Young E et al. A pilot randomized controlled trial of securement bundles to reduce peripheral intravenous catheter failure. Heart Lung. 2023;57:45-53. doi: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2022.07.015.
- **238.** Dachepally R, Garcia AD, Liu W, Flechler C, Hanna WJ. Assessing the utility of ultrasound-guided vascular access placement with longer catheters in critically ill pediatric patients. Paediatr Anaesth. 2023;33:460-5. doi: 10.1111/pan.14645.
- 239. de Rosenroll A. Peripheral intravenous catheters: improving outcomes through change in products, clinical practice and education. Vasc Access. 2017;11:7-12. doi: 10.1097/NAN.000000000000304.
- 240. Delp J, Hadaway L. New product decisions the process and outcome for a community health system. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2011;16:74-84. doi: 10.2309/java.16-2-4.
- 241. DeVries M, Valentine M, Mancos P. Protected clinical indication of peripheral intravenous lines: successful implementation. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2016;21:89-92. doi: 10.1016/j.java.2016.03.001.
- 242. Diwakar K, Kumar S, Srivastava P, Uddin MW, Mishra S. Reduction in the incidence of infusionrelated phlebitis in a pediatric critical care unit of Eastern India: A quality improvement initiative. Med J Armed Forces India. 2024;80:46-51. doi: 10.1016/j.mjafi.2021.07.010.
- 243. Duncan M, Warden P, Bernatchez SF, Morse D. A bundled approach to decrease the rate of primary bloodstream infections related to peripheral intravenous catheters. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2018;23:15-22. doi: 10.1016/j.java.2017.07.004.
- 244. Fakih MG, Jones K, Rey JE, Berriel-Cass D, Kalinicheva T, Szpunar S et al. Sustained improvements in peripheral venous catheter care in non-intensive care units: a quasi-experimental controlled study of education and feedback. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2012;33:449-55. doi: 10.1086/665322.
- 245. Fakih MG, Jones K, Rey JE, Takla R, Szpunar S, Brown K et al. Peripheral venous catheter care in the emergency department: education and feedback lead to marked improvements. Am J Infect Control. 2013;41:531-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2012.07.010.
- 246. Couzigou C, Lamory J, Salmon-Ceron D, Figard J, Vidal-Trecan GM. Short peripheral venous catheters: effect of evidence-based guidelines on insertion, maintenance and outcomes in a university hospital. J Hosp Infect. 2005;59:197-204. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2004.09.013.
- 247. Ferraz-Torres M, Corcuera Martinez MI, Sancho Sena E, Aldonza-Torres M, Maali Centeno S, Martinez-Ortega MC et al. [Randomized experimental study to evaluate the effectiveness of the Flebitis Zero project in Navarre]. An Sist Sanit Navar. 2021;44:417-26. doi: 10.23938/ASSN.0975.
- 248. Forberg U, Unbeck M, Wallin L, Johansson E, Petzold M, Ygge BM et al. Effects of computer reminders on complications of peripheral venous catheters and nurses' adherence to a guideline in paediatric care--a cluster randomised study. Implement Sci. 2016;11:10. doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0375-9.

- 249. Freixas N, Bella F, Limon E, Pujol M, Almirante B, Gudiol F. Impact of a multimodal intervention to reduce bloodstream infections related to vascular catheters in non-ICU wards: a multicentre study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2013;19:838-44. doi: 10.1111/1469-0691.12049.
- 250. Garcia-Gasalla M, Arrizabalaga-Asenjo M, Collado-Giner C, Ventayol-Aguiló L, Socias-Mir A, Rodríguez-Rodríguez A et al. Results of a multi-faceted educational intervention to prevent peripheral venous catheter-associated bloodstream infections. J Hosp Infect. 2019;102:449-53. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2019.02.004.
- **251.** Gunasegaran N, See MTA, Leong ST, Yuan LX, Ang SY. A randomized controlled study to evaluate the effectiveness of 2 treatment methods in reducing incidence of short peripheral catheter-related phlebitis. J Infus Nurs. 2018;41:131-7. doi: 10.1097/NAN.00000000000271.
- **252.** Gupta A, Nair R, Singh S, Khanna H, Bal A, Patrikar S. Compare the efficacy of recommended peripheral intravascular cannula insertion practices with a standard protocol: A randomized control trial. Med J Armed Forces India. 2022;78:S111-S5. doi: 10.1016/j.mjafi.2022.01.004.
- **253.** Hontoria-Alcoceba R, López-López C, Hontoria-Alcoceba V, Sánchez-Morgado AI. Implementation of evidence-based practice in peripheral intravenous catheter care. J Nurs Care Qual. 2023. doi: 10.1097/NCQ.00000000000688.
- 254. Jong Hee O, Shelly M, Nersinger S, Xueya C, Olsan T. Implementing clinical practice guidelines for replacing peripheral intravenous catheters. J Nurs Care Qual. 2020;35:108-14. doi: 10.1097/ NCQ.000000000000429.
- **255.** Kleidon TM, Cattanach P, Mihala G, Ullman AJ. Implementation of a paediatric peripheral intravenous catheter care bundle: a quality improvement initiative. J Paediatr Child Health. 2019;55:1214-23. doi: 10.1111/jpc.14384.
- **256.** Kollar C. Optimizing the effectiveness of short peripheral catheters. J Infus Nurs. 2021;44:163-75. doi: 10.1097/NAN.00000000000426.
- **257.** Krempser P, Arreguy-Sena C, Parreira P, Salgueiro-Oliveira AS. Nursing protocol in vascular trauma prevention: peripheral catheterization bundle in urgency. Rev Bras Enfermagem. 2019;72:1512-8. doi: 10.1590/0034-7167-2018-0457.
- **258.** Lolom I, Deblangy C, Capelle A, Guerinot W, Bouvet E, Barry B et al. Impact d'un programme prolonge d'amelioration continue de la qualite sur le risque infectieux lie aux catheters veineux peripheriques [Effect of a long-term quality improvement program on the risk of infection related to peripheral venous catheters]. Presse Med. 2009;38:34-42. doi: 10.1016/j.lpm.2008.03.017.
- **259.** Lundgren A, Wahren LK. Effect of education on evidence-based care and handling of peripheral intravenous lines. J Clin Nurs. 1999;8:577-85. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2702.1999.00299.x.
- 260. Murayama R, Abe-Doi M, Masamoto Y, Kashiwabara K, Komiyama C, Sanada H et al. Verification study on the catheterization of an upper arm vein using the new long peripheral intravenous catheter to reduce catheter failure incidence: A randomized controlled trial. Drug Discov Therap. 2023;17:52-9. doi: 10.5582/ddt.2022.01108.
- 261. Parreira P, Serambeque B, Costa PS, Monico LS, Oliveira V, Sousa LB et al. Impact of an Innovative securement dressing and tourniquet in peripheral intravenous catheter-related complications and contamination: an interventional study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16:08. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16183301.
- 262. Phan HT, Vo TH, Tran HTT, Huynh HTN, Nguyen HTT, Van Nguyen T. Enhanced infection control interventions reduced catheter-related bloodstream infections in the neonatal department of Hung Vuong Hospital, Vietnam, 2011-2012: a pre- and post-intervention study. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2020;9:9. doi: 10.1186/s13756-019-0669-1.
- 263. Rhodes D, Cheng AC, McLellan S, Guerra P, Karanfilovska D, Aitchison S et al. Reducing Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections associated with peripheral intravenous cannulae: successful implementation of a care bundle at a large Australian health service. J Hosp Infect. 2016;94:86-91. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2016.05.020.
- 264. Salm F, Schwab F, Geffers C, Gastmeier P, Piening B. The implementation of an evidence-based bundle for bloodstream infections in neonatal intensive care units in Germany: a controlled intervention study to improve patient safety. Infec Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2016;37:798-804. doi: 10.1017/ice.2016.72.
- 265. Sriupayo A, Inta N, Boonkongrat S, Kaphan K, Uttama J, Budsabongphiwan S et al. Effectiveness of peripheral vascular catheter care bundle in the Pediatric Nursing Service, Chiang Mai University Hospital, Thailand. Chiang Mai Med J. 2014;53:63-73 (<u>https://he01.tci-thaijo.org/index.php/CMMJ-MedCMJ/article/view/87396</u>).
- 266. Steere L, Ficara C, Davis M, Moureau N. Reaching one peripheral intravenous catheter (PIVC) per patient visit with lean multimodal strategy: the PIV5Rights<sup>™</sup> bundle. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2019;24:31-43. doi: 10.2309/j.java.2019.003.004.
- **267.** Takahashi T, Murayama R, Abe-Doi M, Miyahara-Kaneko M, Kanno C, Nakamura M et al. Preventing peripheral intravenous catheter failure by reducing mechanical irritation. Sci Rep. 2020;10:1550. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-56873-2.
- 268. Vergara T, Veliz E, Fica A, Leiva J. Flebitis infecciosa o no infecciosa: lecciones de un programa intervencional sobre flebitis asociada a cateter venoso periferico [Infectious or noninfectious phlebitis: lessons from a an interventional programm on phlebitis associated to peripheral venous catheter]. Rev Chilena Infect. 2017;34:319-25. doi: 10.4067/s0716-10182017000400319.
- 269. Aly H, Herson V, Duncan A, Herr J, Bender J, Patel K et al. Is bloodstream infection preventable among premature infants? A tale of two cities. Pediatrics. 2005;115:1513-8. doi: 10.1542/ peds.2004-1785.
- 270. Arnts IJ, Schrijvers NM, van der Flier M, Groenewoud JM, Antonius T, Liem KD. Central line bloodstream infections can be reduced in newborn infants using the modified Seldinger technique and care bundles of preventative measures. Acta Paediatr. 2015;104:e152-7. doi: 10.1111/apa.12915.
- 271. Bayoumi MAA, Van Rens MFP, Chandra P, Francia ALV, D'Souza S, George M et al. Effect of implementing an epicutaneo-caval catheter team in a neonatal intensive care unit. J Vasc Access. 2021;22:243-53. doi: 10.1177/1129729820928182.
- 272. Costa P, Paiva ED, Fumiko Kimura A, de Castro TE. Risk factors for bloodstream infection associated with peripherally inserted central catheters in neonates. Acta Paul Enfermagem. 2016;29:161-8. doi: 10.1590/1982-0194201600023.

- 273. Eturajulu RC, Ng KH, Tan MP, Zakaria MI, Chinna K, Ponnampalavanar S et al. Quality improvement report: safety program for prevention of central line-associated bloodstream infections. Radiographics. 2022;42:E216-E23. doi: 10.1148/rg.220035.
- 274. Golombek SG, Rohan AJ, Parvez B, Salice AL, LaGamma EF. "Proactive" management of percutaneously inserted central catheters results in decreased incidence of infection in the ELBW population. J Perinatol. 2002;22:209-13. doi: 10.1038/sj.jp.7210660.
- 275. Harlan MDDNPA-BC, Kennell JSOCN, Lucas WCCCB, Ren D, Tuite PKC. A clinical nurse specialistled quality improvement initiative to identify barriers to adherence to a bundle for central line maintenance. Clin Nurse Specialist: J Adv Nurs Pract. 2022;36:99-108. doi: 10.1097/ NUR.00000000000657.
- **276.** Harnage SA. Achieving zero catheter related blood stream Infections: 15 months success in a community based medical center. J Assoc Vasc Access. 2007;12:218-24. doi: 10.2309/java.12-4-8.
- 277. He B, Zhang A, He S. Therapeutic effect of ultrasound-guided peripherally inserted central catheter combined with predictive nursing in patients with large-area severe burns. Comput Math Methods Med. 2022;2022:1019829. doi: 10.1155/2022/1019829.
- **278.** Jia L. Influence of clustered nursing interventionon on the complications of peripherally inserted central catheter. Chinese J Clin Nutr. 2017;25:191-4. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1674-635X.2017.03.012.
- 279. Kaplan HC, Lannon C, Walsh MC, Donovan EF. Ohio statewide quality-improvement collaborative to reduce late-onset sepsis in preterm infants. Pediatrics. 2011;127:427-35. doi: 10.1542/ peds.2010-2141.
- 280. Ma L, Lin L, Zhu W, Chen L. The application of risk prevention management system in cervical cancer patients undergoing PICC catheterization for chemotherapy. Chinese Nurs Res. 2020;34:2515-9. doi: 10.12102/j.issn.1009-6493.2020.14.016.
- 281. Liu XY, Shen YY, Xu XH, Tang XH. Application of evidence-based nursing in the prevention of postoperative complications with PICC insertion. Chinese J Clin Nutr. 2013;21:309-12. doi: 10.3760/ cma.j.issn.1674-635X.2013.05.009.
- 282. Dorea Paiva E, Fumiko Kimura Al, Costa P, Elci de Castro Magalhaes T, Toma E, Aparecida Alves AM. Complications related to the type of epicutaneous catheter in a cohort of neonates. Online Brazil J Nurs. 2013;12:942-52. doi: 10.5935/1676-4285.20134071.
- **283.** Royer T. Implementing a better bundle to achieve and sustain a zero central line-associated bloodstream infection rate. J Infus Nurs. 2010;33:398-406. doi: 10.1097/NAN.0b013e3181f8586b.
- 284. Schelonka RL, Scruggs S, Nichols K, Dimmitt RA, Carlo WA. Sustained reductions in neonatal nosocomial infection rates following a comprehensive infection control intervention. J Perinatol. 2006;26:176-9. doi: 10.1038/sj.jp.7211411.
- **285.** Sherrod J, Warner B, Altimier L. Designing and monitoring an RN-based PICC team. Neonatal Inten Care. 2004;17:19-21. doi: 10.1053/j.nainr.2006.09.002.

- 286. Steiner M, Langgartner M, Cardona F, Waldhor T, Schwindt J, Haiden N et al. Significant reduction of catheter-associated blood stream infections in preterm neonates after implementation of a care bundle focusing on simulation training of central line insertion. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2015;34:1193-6. doi: 10.1097/INF.00000000000841.
- 287. Swaminathan L, Flanders S, Rogers M, Calleja Y, Snyder A, Thyagarajan R et al. Improving PICC use and outcomes in hospitalised patients: an interrupted time series study using MAGIC criteria. BMJ Qual Saf. 2018;27:271-8. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007342.
- **288.** Taylor T, Massaro A, Williams L, Doering J, McCarter R, He J et al. Effect of a dedicated percutaneously inserted central catheter team on neonatal catheter-related bloodstream infection. Adv Neonatal Care. 2011;11:122-8. doi: 10.1097/ANC.0b013e318210d059.
- **289.** Thibodeau S, Riley J, Rouse KB. Effectiveness of a new flushing and maintenance policy using peripherally inserted central catheters for adults. J Infus Nurs. 2007;30:287-92. doi: 10.1097/01. nan.0000292571.62763.76.
- **290.** Tian G, Zhu Y, Qi L, Guo F, Xu H. Efficacy of multifaceted interventions in reducing complications of peripherally inserted central catheter in adult oncology patients. Supportive Care Cancer. 2010;18:1293-8. doi: 10.1007/s00520-009-0747-7.
- **291.** Tong L, Zhong Y, Feng BL, Yu ZY. Preventing peripheral central venous catheter-related bloodstream infections through process management. Chinese J Clin Nutr. 2011;19:56-8. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1674-635X.2011.01.014.
- 292. Wang W, Zhao C, Ji Q, Liu Y, Shen G, Wei L. Prevention of peripherally inserted central lineassociated blood stream infections in very low-birth-weight infants by using a central line bundle guideline with a standard checklist: a case control study. BMC Pediatr. 2015;15:69. doi: 10.1186/ s12887-015-0383-y.
- 293. Silva JT, Lagares-Velasco A, Fernandez-Ruiz M, Gonzalez-Monterrubio G, Perez-Cardenas MD, Aguado JM et al. Peripherally inserted central venous catheter placed and maintained by a dedicated nursing team for the administration of antimicrobial therapy vs. another type of catheter: a retrospective case-control study. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin. 2020;38:425-30. doi: 10.1016/j.eimc.2020.01.005.
- 294. Yuan C, Sun HQ, Meng F. Prevention of peripherally inserted central catheter-related infections in very low-birth-weight infants by using a central line bundle guideline with a standard checklist. Int J Nurs Sci. 2016;3:50-3. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnss.2016.02.013.
- **295.** Hoyer R, Means R, Robertson J, Rappaport D, Schmier C, Jones T et al. Ultrasound-guided procedures in medical education: a fresh look at cadavers. Int Emerg Med. 2016;11:431-6. doi: 10.1007/s11739-015-1292-7.
- 296. Grayson ML, Stewardson AJ, Russo PL, Ryan KE, Olsen KL, Havers SM, et al. Effects of the Australian National Hand Hygiene Initiative after 8 years on infection control practices, health-care worker education, and clinical outcomes: a longitudinal study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2018;18:1269-1277. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30491-2.
- **297.** Hand hygiene for all initiative: improving access and behaviour in health care facilities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/336023).

- 298. Allegranzi B, Gayet-Ageron A, Damani N, Bengaly L, McLaws ML, Moro ML et al. Global implementation of WHO's multimodal strategy for improvement of hand hygiene: a quasi-experimental study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13:843-51. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(13)70163-4.
- 299. Luangasanatip N, Hongsuwan M, Limmathurotsakul D, Lubell Y, Lee AS, Harbarth S et al. Comparative efficacy of interventions to promote hand hygiene in hospital: systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ. 2015;351:h3728. doi: 10.1136/bmj.h3728.
- **300.** Global guidelines for the prevention of surgical site infection. 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/277399</u>).
- 301. Preventing surgical site infections: implementation approaches for evidence-based recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/273154</u>).
- **302.** Implementation manual to support the prevention of surgical site infections at the facility level: turning recommendations into practice: interim version. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/330071).
- **303.** Minimum requirements for infection prevention and control programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/330080</u>).

Trecia Simone Stewart, 41, a certified emergency nurse assists Dr Nashoni Mitchell with a patient who is in distress at the Spanish Town Hospital [Jamaica]. © WHO / Jayme Gershen

7900

n Hands Often

# Annexes

9

# Annex 1: Guideline development group contributors and participants, with their declarations of interests

Table A1. Declarations of interest\* for the Guideline Development Group

Name	<ol> <li>Consulting and technical advisory boards</li> </ol>	2. Research support	3. Investments and business interests	4. Intellectual property	5. Public statements and positions	6. Additional information	7. Tobacco products	Conflicts management plan
<b>Ghada Abdelwahed Ismail</b> , Supreme High Council of University Hospitals, Egypt	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
Muna Abu Sin, Robert Koch Institute, Germany	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
<b>Alex Adusei</b> , Women's Hope Foundation and Patient for Patients Safety Network, Ghana	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
<b>Faisal Alsheddi,</b> Ministry of Health of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Saudi Arabia	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
<b>Paul Anantharajah Tambyah</b> , Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore,	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
Hiba Azrag, Federal Ministry of Health, Sudan	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
<b>Bin Gao</b> , Tianjin 4th Central Hospital, Tianjin Medical University, China	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
<b>Denise Brandão de Assis,</b> Center of Disease Control, São Paulo State Health Department, Brazil	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
Niccolò Buetti, Geneva University Hospitals and Faculty of Medicine, WHO Collaborating Centre, Switzerland	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
André Bulabula, Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, Ethiopia	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
Abigail Carlson, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
Marilyn Cruickshank, Faculty of Health, University of Technology Sydney, Australia	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
Aleksander Deptula, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Poland	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	Full participation
<b>Anita Desai</b> , National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences, India	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation

\* Based on the Declaration of interests (WHO Experts) form, retrieved from <u>http://intranet.who.int/homes/cre/ethics/doiexperts/</u>, accessed 27 December 2023.

#### 9. Annexes

Name Susan Hopkins, United Kingdom Health	1. Consulting and technical advisory boards	2. Research support	3. Investments and business interests	4. Intellectual property	5. Public statements and positions	6. Additional information	7. Tobacco products	Conflicts management plan
Britain and Northern Ireland	2a) She amoun	e declares t of £4.8 r	that she	received ver 5 years	research s from the	grants or e Nationa	n HAI, BSI Il Institute	s and IPC to the for Health and
	Care Re	esearch, l	Inited Kir	ngdom. C	urrent inf	erest act	ive.	
<b>Shevin Jacob</b> , Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, Uganda	N	Y	Ν	N	Y	N	N	Full participation
	<ul> <li>2a) He declares that his research unit at the Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine received a grant award of approximately £2.5 million from the National Institute for Health and Care Research, United Kingdom. The current interest ended in September 2022.</li> <li>5b) He declares that he is a member of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee for the Global Sepsis Alliance and the co-Founder, Secretary General and an Executive Committee Member for the African Sepsis Alliance.</li> </ul>							
Kushlani Jayatilleke, Sri Jayewardenepura General Hospital, Sri Lanka	Y	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
	<b>1a)</b> She declares that she is employed as the consultant microbiologist and IPC activities of the hospital are under her responsibility as head of the IPC unit. In this capacity, she has prepared and implemented guidelines for the prevention of line- associated BSIs and currently receives approximately Rs 400,000 (Sri Lankan rupees).							
<b>Kalisvar Marimuthu</b> , National Centre for Infectious Diseases and Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
Leonard Mermel, Brown University, USA	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	Ν	Full participation
<b>Sally Roberts</b> , Health New Zealand, Te Whatu Ora, Te Toka Tumai Auckland, New Zealand	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation
<b>Jean-François Timsit,</b> Bichat Hospital and Université Paris Cité, France	Y	Y	Ν	N	N	N	N	Full participation
	<ul> <li>1b) He declares consulting, including service as a technical or other advisor and financial support for giving a speech for BD<sup>®</sup>, participation to an advisory board in France, and one lecture in 2022 to the amount of US\$ 2000.00. For BD<sup>®</sup>, he gave a lecture at the French national emergency congress in 2022 entitled "Catheter-related infection prevention in the emergency unit: what's new" (no mention of drugs or devices from the industry) (fees &lt; €1000). For BD<sup>®</sup>: participation to a one-day advisory board meeting on " BD<sup>®</sup>'s national positioning on the prevention of catheter-related infections" (&lt; €2000).</li> <li>2b) He declares consulting, including service as a technical or other advisor and financial support for giving a speech for BD<sup>®</sup>, participation to an advisory board in France, and one lecture in 2022, to the amount of US\$ 2000.00.</li> </ul>							

#### Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associa sted with the use of intravascular catheters

Name	<ol> <li>Consulting and technical advisory boards</li> </ol>	2. Research support	3. Investments and business interests	4. Intellectual property	5. Public statements and positions	6. Additional information	7. Tobacco products	Conflicts management plan
Walter Zingg, Zurich University Hospital, Switzerland	Y					Y		Full participation
	<ul> <li>1b) He declares previous consulting services to 3M<sup>®</sup> related to a webinar on t proper use of peripheral venous catheters to the amount of €5000.00. In add to that, he declares that he was not an advisor for a product. All work was do as part of an education strategy by 3M<sup>®</sup> (review and webinar). There were no restrictions and no product of the sponsor was addressed.</li> <li>6d) He declares honoraria received for a webinar on the proper use of periph venous catheters.</li> </ul>					o a webinar on the 5000.00. In addition All work was done There were no er use of peripheral		

Abbreviations: HAI, health care-associated infection; BSI, bloodstream infection; IPC, infection prevention and control; N, no declaration; Y, declaration.

#### Guideline Development Group Observer

Name	<ol> <li>Consulting and technical advisory boards</li> </ol>	2. Research support	3. Investments and business interests	4. Intellectual property	5. Public statements and positions	6. Additional information	7. Tobacco products	Conflicts management plan
<b>Madonna Matar</b> , Notre Dame de Secours University Hospital, Lebanon	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Full participation

N, no declaration; Y, declaration.

# **Annex 2: Pico questions**

All PICO questions (PQ) are listed below. As not all investigated preventive methods are relevant to all types of catheters and all age groups, each PQ explicitly specifies this.

#### Insertion

**PQ 1:** In participants requiring a PIVC, PICC or PAC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of a sterile insertion technique compared to routine practice (technique without the specific requirement for sterility) on the rates of peripheral-inserted IV catheter-associated infection complications (BSI-PIVCAIC) and mortality?

**PQ 2:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection used before catheter insertion compared to non-chlorhexidine-containing skin disinfection used before catheter insertion on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 3:** In participants requiring a PIVC, PICC or PAC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of a catheter inserted only by an individual who has undergone catheter insertion training/certification compared to insertion by an individual with no requirement for formal training/ certification ("routine practice") on the rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality and complications related to insertion?

PQ 4: In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescent, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter insertion by an individual wearing gloves (either sterile or non-sterile) compared to insertion by an individual not specifically required to wear gloves ("routine practice") on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality and complications related to insertion?

**PQ 5:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescent, children, neonates), what is the impact of PIVC/PICC inserted by an individual wearing sterile gloves compared to insertion by an individual wearing non-sterile gloves on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, and mortality?

**PQ 6:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescent, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter insertion by an individual using a standardized insertion pack/kit compared to insertion by an individual not using a standardized PIVC insertion pack/kit ("routine practice") on the rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 7:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter insertion with ultrasound-guided assistance compared to insertion without ultrasound-guided assistance ("routine practice") on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 8:** In participants requiring a PIVC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter insertion in the distal section of the upper limb (below cubital fossa) compared to insertion in the proximal section of the upper limb (cubital fossa or above) on the rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 9:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter insertion in the upper limb (anywhere) compared to a PIVC/PICC inserted in the lower limb (anywhere) on the rate of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality and complications related to insertion?

PQ 9a: Does the impact vary by the position in the upper limb (above or below the cubital fossa)?

**PQ 10:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of a catheter (cannula section) made of silicon material compared to a catheter (cannula section) made of non-silicon material (for example, polyurethane) on the rate of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 11:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of a catheter secured with an occlusive dressing (for example, semi-permeable, transparent dressing) compared to a catheter secured with a non-occlusive dressing (for example, gauze, other) on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality and complications related to the catheter dressing?

**PQ 12:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of a catheter inserted by an insertion team compared to a catheter inserted by an individual not part of a specific insertion team on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality and complications related to insertion?

**PQ 13:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults), what is the impact of a catheter inserted by a clinician who has used soap and water compared to a catheter inserted by a clinician who has used alcohol-based hand rub on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 14**: In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of a catheter inserted using a local anaesthetic at the insertion site compared to a catheter inserted without using a local anaesthetic at the insertion site on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality and number of IV insertion attempts?

**PQ 15:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (neonates), what is the impact of a catheter inserted in the scalp compared to a catheter inserted anywhere other than the scalp on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

#### Maintenance

**PQ 16:** In participants requiring a PIVC, PICC or PAC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter maintenance using a formal sterile dressing protocol compared to catheter maintenance where there is no specified formalized sterile dressing protocol ("routine practice") on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality and complications related to the dressing?

**PQ 17:** In participants requiring a PIVC, PICC or PAC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter management with continuous IV fluid infusion compared to catheter management without a schedule of continuous IV fluid infusion (intermittent or no infusion) on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality and complications related to the infusion (including occlusions and dwell time)?

**PQ 18:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of systematic sterile flushing (saline or other) after product administration compared to non-systematic sterile flushing after product administration on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 18A/27:** Should saline compared to anticoagulant (that is, heparin) locking be used in patients requiring a PIVC/PICC?

**PQ 19:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter maintenance with a schedule of regular changing of administration (tubing) sets compared to catheter maintenance with no specified schedule of regular changes of administration

(tubing) sets on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality, and complications related to changing tubing and change in the longevity of the catheter?

#### Access

**PQ 20:** In participants requiring a PIVC, PICC or PAC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter access using a defined sterile/aseptic protocol compared to catheter access using no formal sterile or aseptic protocol on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 21:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter access using a closed-access device system compared to catheter access using an open-access device system on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 22:** In participants with a PICC (adults, adolescents, children -neonates), what is the impact of a single-lumen PICC compared to a multi-lumen PICC on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

#### Removal

**PQ 23:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter removal based on defined schedules compared to catheter removal based only on being clinically-indicated due to a suspected or confirmed complication on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

**PQ 23a:** Does the impact vary by the time of schedule (for example, at 72-96 hours post-insertion) or activity-based (for example, 2 days post-surgery)?

**PQ 24:** In participants requiring a PIVC or PICC (adults, adolescents, children, neonates), what is the impact of catheter removal/replacement within 24 hours if inserted under emergency conditions compared to a catheter not removed/replaced within 24 hours if inserted under emergency conditions on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC and mortality?

#### **PICC compared to PIVC**

**PQ 25:** In participants (adults, adolescents, children, neonates) requiring IV access for antibiotic or chemotherapy administration, what is the impact of using a PICC compared to a PIVC on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality, complications related to IV catheter insertion, complications related to IV catheter infusion, including IV catheter occlusions and dwell time?

#### **PICCs compared to MVCs**

**PQ 26:** In participants (adults, adolescents, children, neonates) requiring IV access for antibiotic or chemotherapy administration, what is the impact of a PICC compared to a MVC on rates of BSI-PIVCAIC, mortality, the number of IV insertion attempts, complications related to IV catheter insertion, complications related to IV catheter infusion, including IV catheter occlusions and dwell time

Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associa sted with the use of intravascular catheters

# **Annex 3: Methods**

The systematic review was conducted following the Cochrane methodology (1) and the Framework for Rating Evidence in Public Health (2). The reporting adheres to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) checklist (3). The review protocol is registered on the Open Science Framework website (https://osf.io/pr45x/).

# A3.1 Study eligibility criteria

Table A2.1 presents the inclusion and exclusion criteria based on the PICO elements and study designs. Studies published from 1980 onwards, irrespective of publication language, country of origin and setting were included.

#### Table A3.1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies

Criteria	
Population	
Inclusion	Exclusion
Adults (18 years or older), adolescents-children and neonates requiring a PIVC, PICC or PAC.	<ul><li>Patients of any age requiring another type</li><li>of catheter other than a PIVC, PICC or PAC.</li></ul>
Comparisons (intervention versus control) with specification	on of relevant catheter type and age group
Inclusion	Exclusion
Insertion	Any other comparison not listed as eligible.
<ul> <li>Sterile technique versus technique where the need for sterility is not mandated (PIVCs, PICCs and PACs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Chlorhexidine-containing antiseptic for skin preparation versus non-chlorhexidine-containing antiseptics. (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Inserted by a clinician who used soap and water versus inserted by a clinician who used alcohol-based hand rub for hand hygiene (PIVCs, PICCs; adults).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Ultrasound-guided insertion versus non-ultrasound- guided guided (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Silicon versus non-silicon (polyurethane) (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Non-occlusive (for example, gauze) versus occlusive dressings (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Insertion team versus no specific insertion team (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Inserted by an individual with formal PIVC/PICC/PAC training accreditation/certification versus no specified formal training accreditation/certification (PIVCs, PICCs and PACs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	
Gloves versus no gloves (PIVCs and PICCs; all age groups).	
<ul> <li>Sterile gloves versus non-sterile gloves (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Use of standard insertion set versus no specific requirement for a standard insertion pack/kit (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).</li> </ul>	

~	•		
		a 🕶	
· · · ·		_	

Co	comparisons (intervention versus control) with specification of relevant catheter type and age group						
Inc	lusion	Exclusion					
•	Upper limb (anywhere) versus lower limb (anywhere) (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).						
•	Lower arm (distal section of upper limb) versus upper arm (proximal section of the upper limb) (PIVCs; all age groups).						
•	Local anaesthetic at insertion site versus no local anaesthetic at insertion site (PIVCs, PICCs; adolescents, children, neonates).						
•	Scalp inserted versus anywhere other than the scalp (PIVCs only; neonates only).						
Ма	intenance						
•	Formal sterile dressing versus no formal sterile dressing protocol (PIVCs, PICCs and PACs; all age groups).						
•	Continuous-infusion versus no continuous (intermittent) infusion (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).						
•	Systematic sterile flushing (saline or other) after product administration vs no systematic sterile flushing after product administration (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).						
•	Regular change of tubing vs no (specified) regular change of tubing (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).						
Асс	ess						
•	Sterile/aseptic protocol versus no specified formal sterile/ aseptic protocol (PIVCs, PICCs, PACs; all age groups).						
•	Use of closed-access device system (for example, luer lock) versus open-access system (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).						
•	Single lumen versus multi-lumen (PICCs; adults, adolescents, children, neonates).						
Rer	noval						
•	Scheduled removal (defined time schedule) versus clinically-indicated (removed based on being clinically- indicated due to a suspected or confirmed complication) (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).						
•	Removal within 24 hours if inserted under emergency conditions versus not removed within 24 hours if inserted under emergency conditions (PIVCs and PICCs; all age groups)						
•	PICC versus MVC (antibiotic or chemotherapy administration) (PICCs adults, adolescents, children, neonates)						
•	Bundle/multimodal interventions for PIVCs, PICCs and PACs						

#### Guidelines for the prevention of bloodstream infections and other infections associa sted with the use of intravascular catheters

Cri	teria	
Ou	tcomes	
Inc	lusion	Exclusion
Foi	r all comparisons:	
•	catheter-associated or -related BSI	
•	local infections	
•	BSI-related mortality	
•	All-cause mortality	
•	phlebitis/thrombophlebitis	
•	sepsis	
•	oedema	
•	haematoma	
•	sepsis	
•	fluid/blood leaking	
•	infiltration	
•	accidental/wrenching removal	
•	obstruction/occlusion	
•	closed-system rupture.	
Foi	r selected PQs:	
•	number of IV insertion attempts (local anaesthetic versus	
	no local anaesthetic (PQ 14);	
•	complications related to IV catheter insertion (training versus no training (PQ 3), upper limb versus lower limb BSIs (PQ 9), gloves versus no gloves (PQ 4), insertion team versus individual comparisons (PQ 12), PICC versus PIVC (PQ 25), PICC versus MVC (PQ 26);	
•	complications related to IV catheter dressings (sterile dressing protocol versus no specified requirement (PQs 11, 16);	
•	complications related to IV catheter infusion, including IV catheter occlusions and dwell time (continuous infusion versus intermittent infusion (PQ 17), PICC versus PIVC (PQ 25), PICC versus MVC (PQ 26);	
•	Complications related to IV catheter flushing (regular flush versus none (PQ 18);	
•	complications related to changing IV catheter tubing (regular change versus no specified regular change of tubing set) (PQ 19);	
•	Change in longevity of PIVC (regular change versus no specified regular change of tubing set [PQ 19])	
Rei	moval	
•	Scheduled removal (defined time schedule) versus clinically-indicated (removed based on being clinically- indicated due to a suspected or confirmed complication) (PIVCs, PICCs; all age groups).	
•	Removal within 24 hours if inserted under emergency conditions versus not removed within 24 hours if inserted under emergency conditions (PIVCs and PICCs; all age groups)	
•	PICC versus MVC (antibiotic or chemotherapy administration) (PICCs adults, adolescents, children, neonates)	
•	Bundle/multimodal interventions for PIVCs, PICCs and PACs	

Criteria						
Publication dates						
Inclusion	Exclusion					
1980-2023	Pre-1980					
Geography						
Inclusion	Exclusion					
No limitations	NA					
Settings						
Inclusion	Exclusion					
Any setting	NA					
Publication language						
Inclusion	Exclusion					
Any languages	NA					
Publication type						
Inclusion	Exclusion					
Full publications	Comments, letters to editor, publications without an available full text.					
Study design						
Inclusion	Exclusion					
RCTs Non-RCTs Controlled observational studies Controlled before-after studies Interrupted time-series and repeated measures studies Before-after studies	Case series, case reports. Systematic or non-systematic reviews. Studies without a comparison (or incidence/prevalence studies and surveys). Pooled data analyses.					

Abbreviations: BSI, bloodstream infections; IV, intravenous; PQ, PICO question; MVC, midline vascular catheter; NA, not applicable; PIVC, peripheral intravenous catheter; PICC, peripherally-inserted central catheter; PAC, peripheral arterial catheter; RCT, randomized controlled study.

# A3.2 Outcomes ranking

To identify the critical or important outcomes for this review, we asked the WHO Guideline Development Group (GDG) to rate the relative importance of the outcomes using a modified Delphi approach. A survey including the list of relevant outcomes was sent to GDG members. Participants used a 9-point Likert scale to rate the outcomes into three categories: (1) critical for decision-making; (2) important, but not critical for decision-making; and (3) of low importance for decision-making. Twenty-three of 24 (95.8%) GDG members ranked the outcomes. For average ratings, 9 would indicate the greatest importance and 1 the least. Outcomes rated as 7 or higher were considered critical for decision-making (GRADE-relevant). In addition, the GDG agreed on two additional outcomes of interest.

Outcomes	Median
BSI	9
BSI-related mortality	9
Sepsis	9
Local infection	8
All-cause mortality	7
Thrombophlebitis	7
Complications related to IV catheter insertion	7
Phlebitis	6
Fluid/blood leaking	6
Infiltration	6
Obstruction/occlusion	6
Closed-system rupture	6
Change in catheter longevity	6
Complications related to IV catheter infusion	6
Oedema	5
Haematoma	5
Accidental/wrenching removal	5
Number of IV insertion attempts	5
Complications related to IV catheter dressings	5
Complications related to IV catheter flushing	5
Complications related to IV catheter tubing	5

#### **Table A3.2. Ratings of Importance of outcomes**

Abbreviations: BSI, bloodstream infections; IV, intravenous.

# A3.3 Bundle/multimodal studies

If studies assessed bundles/multimodal approaches, we included them during the study selection process, but we did not include them in the evidence synthesis as the causal pathways can be difficult to identify (which component contributed how much to an effect). However, we prepared a table including high-level information of all studies dealing with bundles/multimodal approaches in chapter 4 (Implementation through bundles and the WHO multimodal improvement strategy).

# A3.4 Systematic literature search

An experienced information specialist searched in several electronic databases, taking the following steps to perform the literature searches:

- First, a search of electronic databases was performed, such as Ovid MEDLINE, Embase.com (Elsevier), the Cochrane Library (Wiley), the WHO Global Index Medicus (<u>https://pesquisa. bvsalud.org/gim/</u>), and CINAHL (EBSCO) using a combination of free-text terms and subject headings (for example, Medical Subject Headings [MeSH]), limited to human-only studies. Searches covered the period from January 1, 1980, to March 16, 2023.
- 2. Second, to minimize retrieval bias, a manual search of the reference lists of selected systematic reviews on this topic were searched for relevant citations that electronic searches might have missed. Topic experts were also contacted for information about landmark studies.

The WHO team reviewed and approved the final search strategy.

# A3.5 Study selection

Trained research team members dually and independently reviewed all titles and abstracts identified through searches for eligibility against the inclusion/exclusion criteria using DistillerSR (4). To determine inclusion or exclusion for studies without adequate information at the title/abstract stage, the reviewers retrieved the full text and then made the determination. If both reviewers agreed that a study did not meet the eligibility criteria, the study was excluded. Conflicts were resolved by discussion and consensus or by consulting a third member of the review team. The reason for each excluded full-text publication that did not satisfy the eligibility criteria was recorded. If the information in the published articles was insufficient to permit the reviewers to determine inclusion or exclusion, the authors were contacted for further clarification. All results at both the title/abstract and full-text review stages were tracked in an EndNote® bibliographic database (Clarivate Analytics).

## A3.6 Data extraction

We designed, pilot-tested, and used a structured data extraction form in DistillerSR to ensure consistency in data extraction. Trained reviewers initially extracted data from each study. A second reviewer then read each extracted article and evaluated the completeness and accuracy of the data extraction. Discrepancies were resolved by consensus or by involving a third senior reviewer. The following data was extracted from the included trials: study design; eligibility criteria; intervention; additional medications allowed; study funder; outcome assessment methods; population characteristics (such as age, sex, race, ethnicity); sample size; attrition; and outcomes of interest. Intention-to-treat results (that is, all patients are analysed as randomized with missing values imputed) were recorded if available. For studies eligible for quantitative analyses, the authors were contacted if the reported data were incomplete or missing.

## A3.7 Classification of study designs and assessment of the risk of bias

We applied the United States Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, publication no. 11-EHC-007 criteria for the classification of study designs (5). To assess the risk of bias in the included studies, we used the Cochrane Risk of Bias tool (2.0) for randomized controlled trials (RCTs) (6), the Risk Of Bias In Nonrandomized Studies of Interventions (ROBINS-I) tool (7) for non-randomized controlled studies of interventions (NRSIs) with concurrent controls, and the Effective Public Health Practice Project (EHHP) (8) tool for before-after studies. Two reviewers independently assessed the risk of bias at the study level. The reviewers also assessed on an outcome level whether different methodological aspects might impose different risks of bias (for example, lack of blinding might affect subjective outcomes, but not objective outcomes such as mortality). Therefore, we categorized the outcomes as subjective (oedema, phlebitis/thrombophlebitis, haematoma, sepsis, fluid/blood leakage, infiltration, obstruction/occlusion, number of insertion attempts, complications related to insertion/dressing/infusion/flushing/changing of tubing, change in catheter longevity) and objective outcomes (BSI, local infections, all-cause mortality, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, accidental/wrenching removal, closed-system rupture). Using the three assessments from the Cochrane Risk of Bias 2.0 (6), we harmonized the ratings to three categories (low, some concerns, high) to make them comparable. For this purpose, NRSI studies rated as a "moderate" or "critical" risk of bias were listed as "some concerns" in the report. Before-after studies rated as "weak" were listed as "high" risk of bias, while "moderate" were listed as "some concerns," and "strong" as "low" risk of bias. We assigned a high risk of bias rating to studies that had a fatal flaw regarding all or individual outcomes. For publications reporting on the same study, but with different comparisons, we assessed the risk of bias separately for each publication.

## A3.8 Synthesis of the evidence

Throughout this review, we synthesized the literature qualitatively. When the data were sufficient, we augmented the findings with quantitative analyses. We structured the synthesis by PQ and within each PQ by catheter type (PIVC, PICC, PAC), age groups (adults, adolescents-children and neonates) and outcomes. In our synthesis, we focused on GRADE-relevant outcomes that were rated as critical for decision-making by the GDG (CABSI/CRBSI, BSI-related mortality, sepsis, local infections, all-cause mortality, phlebitis/thrombophlebitis, complications related to IV catheter insertion). In addition, we graded the number of insertion attempts for PQ14. This means that we considered only these outcomes for the meta-analyses, certainty of evidence (COE) ratings, and the summary of findings tables presented in the <u>Web Annex</u>.

## A3.9 Bayesian meta-analysis

When three or more RCTs were available for a critical outcome, we conducted a Bayesian meta-analysis

using restrictive priors:  $\mu$ -Normal(0,1) and  $\tau$ -Half Cauchy(0,0.5). Zero events were replaced with 0.5. All calculations were performed using R (v. 4.2.2). The Markov Chain Monte Carlo procedure was employed for the calculations, utilizing the brms package and rstan (8, 9). Each individual meta-analysis consisted of 16 000 iterations. Data wrangling and plot creation were executed using the tidyverse package (10).

# A3.10 Certainty of evidence assessment

We assessed the certainty of evidence (COE) based on the guidance established by the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) working group (11). The grades reflect the certainty of the body of evidence to answer PQs on the comparative effectiveness, efficacy, and harms of the interventions included in this review. We considered five key domains: risk of bias (includes study design and aggregate quality); inconsistency; indirectness; imprecision; and reporting bias. One reviewer assessed each domain for each selected outcome and a second reviewer verified these judgments. Conflicts were resolved by consensus discussion. We graded the COE for the seven outcomes deemed most important for decision-making. The GRADE system defines the overall certainty of a body of evidence for an outcome as high (raters are very confident that the estimate of the effect of the intervention on the outcome), low (raters have little confidence in the estimate of the effect of the intervention on the outcome), or very low (raters have no confidence in the estimate of the effect of the intervention on the outcome). RCTs and NRSIs (12) started at a high COE, while before–after studies started at low. We used the GRADEpro online tool (https://www.gradepro.org/) to develop the summary of findings' tables (Web Annex).

#### References

- Higgins J, Lasserson T, James T, Chandler J, Flemyng E, Churchill R. Methodological expectations of Cochrane Intervention Reviews. London, UK: Cochrane. Version August 2023 (<u>https://community.cochrane.org/mecir-manual</u>, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- Harder T, Takla A, Eckmanns T, Ellis S, Forland F, James R, et al. PRECEPT: an evidence assessment framework for infectious disease epidemiology, prevention and control. Euro Surveill. 2017;22:16-00620. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.40.16-00620.
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The Prisma 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ. 2021;372:n71. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.n71.
- 4. DistillerSR, Version 2.35 (https://www.distillersr.com/, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- Hartling L, Bond K, Harvey K, Santaguida PL, Viswanathan M, Dryden DM. Developing and Testing a Tool for the Classification of Study Designs in Systematic Reviews of Interventions and Exposures [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2010 Dec. (www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK52670/, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- 6. Sterne JAC, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ. 2019;366:l4898. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l4898.
- Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in nonrandomized studies of interventions. Bmj. 2016;355:i4919. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.i4919.
- Effective Public Healthcare Panacea Project: Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies (<u>https://www.ephpp.ca/quality-assessment-tool-for-quantitative-studies</u>, accessed 2nd May 2024).
- Bürkner PC. brms: An R Package for Bayesian Multilevel Models Using Stan. Journal of Statistical Software.2017;80(1):1–28. doi: 10.18637/jss.v080.i01.
- **10.** Wickham H, Averick M, Bryan J, Chang W, McGowan LDA, François R, et al. Welcome to the Tidyverse. Journal of open source software. 2019;4(43):1686. doi: 10.21105/joss.01686.
- Schünemann HJ, Brozek J, Guyatt G, Oxman A. GRADE handbook for grading quality (<u>https://gdt.gradepro.org/app/handbook/handbook.html</u>, accessed: 2nd May 2024).
- Schünemann HJ, Cuello C, Akl EA, Mustafa RA, Meerpohl JJ, Thayer K, et al. GRADE guidelines: 18. How ROBINS-I and other tools to assess risk of bias in nonrandomized studies should be used to rate the certainty of a body of evidence. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2019;111:105-14. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2018.01.012.

